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PROCEEDINGS RESUME ON 24 NOVEMBER 2020  

CHAIRPERSON:    Good a f te rnoon Mr  Kennedy,  good  

a f te rnoon everybody.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Good a f te rnoon Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   A re  we ready?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   We are  thank you Cha i r  and thank you  

fo r  accommodat ing  fu r ther  ev idence o f  the  Dene l  w i tness  

f rom whom you have heard .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Par ts  a  week or  so  ago Mr  Burger.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   May I  thank Mr  Burger  and h is  

a t to rney Mr  Crouse fo r  accommodat ing  us .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   A t  sho r t  no t ice  th is  morn ing .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  no  thank you Mr  Burger  and your  

a t to rney fo r  mak ing  yourse l ves  ava i lab le  a t  ve ry  shor t  

no t ice  to  ass is t  the  commiss ion  to  make use o f  the  t ime  

tha t  i t  has .   Thank you.  

MR BURGER:   Huge p leasure  Cha i r.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you.   Yes I  th ink  we w i l l  have to  do  

the  oa th  aga in .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Or  a f f i rmat ion .  

REGISTRAR:   P lease s ta te  your  fu l l  names fo r  the  record /  
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MR BURGER:   Ab raham Stephanus  Burger  

REGISTRAR:   Do you have any  ob jec t ion  to  tak ing  the  

prescr ibed a f f i rmat ion?  

MR BURGER:   No.  

REGISTRAR:   Do you t rue  –  do  you so lemnly  a f f i rm tha t  

the  ev idence you  w i l l  g ive  w i l l  be  the  t ru th ;  the  who le  t ru th  

and noth ing  e l se  bu t  the  t ru th ;  i f  so  p lease ra i se  your  r igh t  

hand and say,  I  t ru ly  a f f i rm? 

MR BURGER:   I  t ru ly  a f f i rm.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Thank you Mr  Burger ;  you  may be 10 

seated.   So you conf i rm Mr  Kennedy we w i l l  be  us ing  Dene l  

Bund le  10  is  tha t  r igh t?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   That  i s  cor rec t  and i t  i s  Exh ib i t  W25 

in  Bund le  10 .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes Exh ib i t  W25.1 .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   That  i s  cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Or  –  okay a l r i gh t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Cha i r  we w i l l  in  fac t  be  re fer r ing  to  

some o the r  exh ib i t s  as  we l l  fo r  purposes o f  c ross-

re ference.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   That  i s  f ine .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Par t i cu la r ly  … 

CHAIRPERSON:   That  i s  f ine .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Annexures  to  the  a f f idav i t s  o f  Ms 

Malah le la .  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And Mr  Mlambo.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay no tha t  i s  a l r igh t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Mr  Burger  you w i l l  reca l l  on  the  las t  

occas ion  tha t  we dea l t  a t  length  w i th  the  award  o f  the  Hu l l s  

cont rac t  –  the  P la t fo rm Hu l ls  Cont rac t  by  DLS to  VR Laser,  

do  you reca l l  tha t?  

MR BURGER:   Yes Cha i r  I  do .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And then we jus t  s ta r ted  w i th  ce r ta in  

aspects  re la t ing  to  the  next  award  to  VR Laser  by  DLS 10 

wh i le  you were  the  DLS CEO and tha t  was the  So le  

Supp l ie r  Cont rac t  o r  the  S ing le  Supp l ie r  Cont rac t  fo r  

var ious… 

MR BURGER:   I  reca l l  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   That  was fo r  var ious s tee l  fabr ica ted  

par t s ,  cor rec t?  

MR BURGER:   Cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .   And we dea l t  ma in ly  w i th  these  

top ics  Mr  Sa loo jee  g iv ing  you the  ins t ruc t ion  and o f  course  

h is  ve rs ion  is  tha t  the  in i t ia t i ve  came f rom you but  we have  20 

covered your  ev idence on tha t .   Why you accep ted the  

ins t ruc t ion  and you made the  acknowledgement  to  your  

c red i t  tha t  in  re t rospect  you rea l i sed tha t  the  cor rec t  

p rocedures were  no t  necessar i l y  fo l lowed in  the  award  o f  

tha t  cont rac t .  
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MR BURGER:   Cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .   Now I  jus t  want  to  go  in to 

some o f  the  background tha t  led  up  to  the  ac tua l  

f ina l i sa t ion  o f  the  –  o f  the  cont rac t .   May I  ask  you to  look  

a t  Bund le  1  –  Dene l  Bund le  1?   You have l i s tened to  the 

ev idence have you not  o f  Ms Malah le la  and you have a lso  

been p rov ided w i th  a  copy o f  her  a f f idav i t  fo r  you r  

comment ,  cor rec t?  

MR BURGER:   Yes I  have Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And you are  aware  tha t  a t  an  ear l y  10 

s tage accord ing  to  Ms Malah le la ’s  ev idence she ra ised a  

ser ious concern  about  the  award  o f  the  S ing le  Supp l ie r  

Cont rac t  to  VR Laser  par t i cu la r l y  because there  was no  

tender  o r  RFQ -   Compet i t i ve  Procurement  Process? 

MR BURGER:   I  learn t  tha t  f rom her  ev idence yes Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And were  you  not  aware  o f  tha t  a t  the  

t ime?  

MR BURGER:   As  I  –  as  I  s ta ted  in  my a f f idav i t  the  –  the  

f i rs t  t ime I  heard  about  no t  be ing  happy w i th  the  process 

fo l lowed was –  was in  –  i n  the  ear l y  par ts  o f  2016 when 20 

she f i rs t  ment ioned th is  to  me in  –  in  the  pass ing  and sa id  

we d id  no t  fo l low co r rec t  p rocedure .   I  was su rp r ised to  

hear  tha t .   Shor t ly  thereaf te r  there  was an EXCO meet ing  

and where  I  reca l l  i t  was ra ised aga in  and then th is  was in  

2016 and then she fo l lowed i t  up  w i th  an  emai l  to  me when  
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I  was overseas and I  know I  reacted  qu i te  sharp ly  on  he r  

emai l  because I  thought  the  way she put  i t  in  the  emai l  was 

–  was in  a  much more  ser ious tone than what  I  heard  i t  in  

the  pass ing  and a t  the  EXCO meet ing  and I  thought  tha t  

was ser ious enough to  be  d iscussed on a  one on one bas is  

o r  in  a  commi t tee  and not  wr i t ing  an  emai l  wh i le  I  was 

abroad.   So yes tha t  i s  when I  found out  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   So  you found tha t  ou t  on ly  2016?  You 

sure  you were  no t  aware  o f  tha t  in  2015 a t  a l l?  

MR BURGER:   I  –  I  cannot  reca l l  tha t .   I  rea l l y  cannot  10 

reca l l  tha t  –  i t  be ing  d iscussed.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Then how –  then how do you come to  

say tha t  you on ly  found out  about  i t  in  2016 i f  you say you  

cannot  reca l l  i f  you  found out  about  i t  dur ing  2015? 

MR BURGER:   I  cannot  reca l l  –  I  wou ld  no t  have reacted  in  

the  way I  d id  and s ta ted  a t  tha t  t ime – th is  i s  fou r  yea rs ’ 

ago th i s  i s  the  f i rs t  t ime apar t  f rom ra is ing  i t  in  the  pass ing  

is  the  f i rs t  t ime tha t  you now o f f i c ia l l y  ra ise  i t  w i th  me.   So 

tha t  i s  why I  say  a t  the  t ime in  2016 I  cou ld  no t  remember  

tha t  she d id .   I  can  less  so  now – so… 20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   So  you can?  

MR BURGER:   I  can  less  so  now reca l l  tha t  she – she 

ment ioned anyth ing  o f  the  l i kes  to  me.   I  saw –  I  heard  in  

the  a f f idav i t  tha t  i t  was d iscussed w i th  Mr  Teubes.   I  was – 

I  was –  I  cannot  reca l l  any  o f  tha t  cur ren t ly.  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:   Wel l  can I  take  you in  Bund le  1  to  

page 659?  Now th is  i s  an  emai l  f rom Ms Malah le la  da ted  

the  23  March 2015 so  i t  i s  ea r ly  in  2015 addressed  

exc lus ive ly  to  Mr  Teubes.   I t  i s  no t  cop ied  in to  you.   Can 

you reca l l  i f  you  saw th is  emai l?  

MR BURGER:   I  cannot  reca l l  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .   I s  i t  poss ib le  you may have?  

MR BURGER:   I  –  I  have not  even  read i t  Cha i r  so  I  –  I… 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Okay.  

MR BURGER:   I  cannot  reca l l  th is .  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   I  guess you wou ld  need to  read i t  to  see 

whethe r  you remember  hav ing  read  i t  a t  some s tage.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes perhaps I  can jus t  read the  

re levant  par ts  to  the  w i tness Cha i r?  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Th is  i s  what  Ms Malah le la  sa id  to  Mr  

Teubes.  

“H i  Reenen,  I  have g iven –  gone th rough  

the  document  and I  rea l i se  tha t  you have  

taken out  my recommendat ion  and  now the  20 

document  has the  name o f  the  supp l ie r  

spec i f ied .   I  do  no t  mean to  be labour  the  

po in t  bu t  I  am s t i l l  o f  the  op in ion  tha t  

shou ld  management  approve th is  request  

DLS must  go  ou t  on  tender  o r  RFQ for  the  
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appo in tment  o f  a  s ing le  source  fo r  th is  

scope o f  work .  Once we have ident i f ied  the  

supp l ie r  tha t  meets  DLS ’s  requ i rements  

th rough a  compet i t i ve  process then we can 

appo in t  such a  supp l ie r  fo r  a  m in imum of  

th ree  years  as  a  s ing le  source  spec i f i ca t ion  

and eva lua t ion  c r i te r ia  must  be  sent  to  a l l  

supp l ie rs  l i s ted  be fore  t ime e tce tera . ”  

 Now Ms Malah le la  gave ev idence … 

CHAIRPERSON:   Mr  Kennedy you d id  no t  say  m in imum hey  10 

you sa id  max imum? 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I  am sor ry?  

CHAIRPERSON:   You d id  no t  say  m in imum – i t  i s  wr i t ten  

max imum but  I  heard  you as  i f  you  were  say ing .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Oh I  am so r ry  –  d id  I  say?  

CHAIRPERSON:   As  i f  you  were  say ing  min imum.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I  am sor ry  d id  I  m isread  i t?   I  

apo log i se .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   From max imum of  th ree  years  as  20 

s ing le  source .   Thank you Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  reca l l  th is  f rom the  ev idence tha t  was  

g iven to  me.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And the  contex t  she gave to  th is  in  

her  a f f idav i t  and  in  her  o ra l  ev idence was th is .   She had 
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in i t ia l l y  p repared a  mot iva t ion  recommendat ion  and 

unfor tunate l y  i t  i s  re fe r red  to  in  her  a f f idav i t  bu t  no t  

a t tached –  jus t  the  recover ing  ema i l  and i t  appears  tha t  the  

memorandum i t se l f  has gone as t ray.   But  there  is  no 

d ispute  be tween here  and Teubes  tha t  she in i t ia l ly  when  

she put  ou t  the  recommendat ion  as  the  head o f  Supp ly  

Cha in  a t  DLS sa id  th is  needs to  go  ou t  to  tender.   And here 

she is  rep ly ing  to  Mr  Teubes.   Because i f  we look on  the  

next  page –  page 660 in  the  m idd le  o f  the  page –  in  fac t  

the  foo t  o f  the  page the  bo t tom emai l  i s  f rom her  da ted  the  10 

12 March 2015.  

“P lease f ind  the  a t tached document  as  

requested. ”  

 And her  ev idence  has been tha t  was the  –  tha t  was 

the  recommendat ion  in  wh ich  she had recommended tha t  i t  

th is  i s  to  go  ou t  on  a  S ing le  Source  Supp l ie r  Cont rac t  there  

wou ld  have to  be  a  compet i t i ve  process.   And he then 

rep l ies  the  m idd le  o f  page 660 on the  20  March and he 

says:  

“He l lo  Ce l ia ,  I  have changed the  ang le  tha t  20 

we ask fo r  approva l  f rom Riaz .   P lease see  

a t tached submiss ion  in  the  inputs . ”  

 And he r  response is  the  emai l  tha t  I  have jus t  

quoted f rom where  she spec i f i ca l l y  says:  

“ I  see you have  changed the  ang les  in  a  
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fundamenta l  way.   You no longer  a re  

inco rpora t ing  my recommendat ion .   As  head  

o f  Supp ly  Cha in  Management  whose job  i s  

to  adv ise  management  on  these th ings.   

That  you shou ld  be  go ing  out  to  tender  o r  a t  

leas t  RFQ to  ensure  tha t  i t  i s  compet i t i ve . ”  

 Now Mr  Teubes d id  he  no t  d iscuss  th is  w i th  you or  

can you not  remember?  

MR BURGER:   I  –  I  d id  no t  see th is  emai l .   I  canno t  reca l l .   

I  reca l l  th is  emai l  f rom the  ev idence tha t  was  g iven 10 

recent ly  –  I  cannot  reca l l  th is  emai l  –  hav ing  seen th i s  

emai l  then.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes bu t  my quest ion  ear l i e r  was 

whethe r  you saw th is  emai l  and you have a l ready answered 

tha t  be fore .  

MR BURGER:   Okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   My quest ion  now is  d id  he  d iscuss i t  

w i th  you –  Mr  Teubes whether  by  emai l  o r  person to  person  

or  however?  

MR BURGER:   Cha i r  th is  –  i t  i s  rea l l y  d i f f i cu l t  to  reca l l .   He 20 

might  have asked  my op in ion  on  –  do  –  what  i s  my op in ion?  

Shou ld  we go ou t  on  open tender  o r  on  c losed tender  fo r  

tha t  mat te r?   My op in ion  a t  the  t ime was I  s ta ted  i t  qu i te  a  

number  o f  t imes tha t  the  way to  go  ou t  on  open tender  w i th  

someth ing  l i ke  th is  o r  on  –  f i rs t l y  t o  go  ou t  on  open  tender  
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i s  –  i s  more  o r  less  imposs ib le .   The –  to  do  i t  on  a  c losed  

tender  –  mul t ip le  tender  i s  to  p repare  drawings;  i s  to  

supp ly  po ten t ia l  s ing le  source  supp l ie rs  w i th  these 

drawings fo r  them to  –  to  tender  a  pr ice ,  demonst ra te  the i r  

capab i l i t y,  demonst ra te  the i r  qua l i t y  and so  on ;  on  an  

ac tua l  example  and then… 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes I  th ink  we  unders tand what  a  RFQ 

process invo lved  we have been th rough th is  a  number  o f  

t imes befo re .  

MR BURGER:   Ja .  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   My in te res t  i s  rea l l y  in  the  –  in  –  on 

the  quest ion  o f  accountab i l i t y  and who d iscussed what  w i th  

whom and who gave approva l ,  and who was tak ing  the  

in i t ia t i ve?   For  example  you have sa id  in  your  a f f idav i t  

repeated ly  and adamant ly  Mr  Sa loo jee  was pressur ing  you 

to  award  the  cont rac t  –  th is  cont rac t  to  VR Laser.   He says 

no  he was not  p ressur ing  you –  you were  p ressur ing  h im  

and your  co l leagues.   And tha t  –  I  be l ieve  tha t  i t  may be o f  

in te res t  to  the  learned Commiss ioner  i n  the  commiss ion  to  

know where  the  buck s topped?  Because you as  CEO have 20 

a l ready sa id  in  g reat  de ta i l  on  the  prev ious occas ion  tha t  

there  was huge good reason why DLS shou ld  g ive  a  S ing le  

Supp l ie r  Cont rac t  to  VR Laser  and nobody e lse .   You reca l l  

tha t?  

MR BURGER:   I  reca l l  tha t  v iv id ly  Cha i r.  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:   Which  seems to  perhaps make  sense  

i f  you were  the  one who was dr iv ing  the  process and – and 

I  th ink  i t  wou ld  be  fa i r  fo r  the  commiss ion  to  unders tand 

whethe r  you were  aware  o f  th is  a t  the  t ime or  no t .   So w i th  

respect  to  you Mr  Burger  may I  suggest  you do not  dwe l l  

on  what  i s  invo lved in  a  RFQ process?  We know tha t  Ms 

Malah le la  was say ing  you shou ld  go  out  on  a  t ender  o r  

RFQ process.   We know what  those processes invo l ve  and 

we know why they are  there  to  t r y  and ensure  a  measure  o f  

compet i t i veness and tha t  i s  why  she was p romot ing  the  10 

idea.   But  i t  was  not  be ing  p icked up by  management  o f  

wh ich  you fo rmed par t .   I f  you  cannot  remember  whethe r  

th is  was d i scussed w i th  you by  Mr  Teubes or  Ms Ma lah le la  

a t  the  t ime you must  say  tha t .  

MR BURGER:   Cha i r  I  cannot  reca l l .   I  was –  I  was  

however  o f  the  op in ion  tha t  a  p rocess was fo l lowed a  year  

ear l ie r  and based on tha t  I  d id  no t  fee l  i t  necessary  to  go  

ou t  on  a  tender  aga in .   That  was my op in ion  a t  the  t ime but  

I  cannot  reca l l  th is  be ing  d iscussed.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And then the  l as t  pa ragraph.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Jus t  one second Mr  Kennedy.   I  wonder  i f  

they  can reduce  the  a i r  cond i t ioner  no ise  bu t  i f  –  ja  I  

hop ing  tha t  tha t  w i l l  no t  be  prob lemat ic  in  te rms o f  heat .   

But  i f  i t  i s  too  ho t  p lease somebody must  te l l  me.   Mr  

Kennedy how is  i t  l i ke?  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:   I t  i s  very  ho t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   I t  i s  very  ho t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I  am f ind ing  tha t  –  bu t  qu i te  honest ly  

Cha i r… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh.   No,  no ,  no .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I t  i s  very  impor tan t  you hear  the  

ev idence.  

CHAIRPERSON:   No maybe i f  –  maybe what  you  can do 

because i t  i s  no t  l i ke  I  cannot  hear  –  maybe what  you can  

do is  pu t  your  m icrophone I  do  no t  know where  i t  can  be 10 

c loser  because I  was hear ing  you but  I  wanted to  improve 

my hear ing  in  te rms o f  what  you  are  say ing .  So I  do  no t  

want  everybody to  compla in  about  heat .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Maybe –  maybe  where  I  am i t  i s  no t  as  

ho t  as  where  you  are .   Okay a l r igh t  bu t  I  th ink  i f  you  do not  

speak too  fa r  f rom the  phone –  f rom the  microphone .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes I  have moved i t  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I t  w i l l  he lp  me.   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  ja .   Okay a l r igh t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I  hope i t  i s  be t te r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Mr  Burger  can I  take  you to  the  las t  

parag raph o f  th is  emai l?    
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“ I  do  no t  th ink  we shou ld  p iggy-back on  the  

process tha t  was  fo l lowed fo r  the  P la t fo rm 

Hu l l .   We shou ld  go  out  on  a  separa te  RFQ 

tender  p rocess where  we inv i te  a l l  supp l ie rs  

tha t  we th ink  are  capab le  and then do such 

appo in tment .   We wi l l  ask  Miche l le  to  

schedu le  a  meet ing . ”  

 So she spec i f i ca l l y  say ing  i t  does  not  he lp  tha t  we  

went  on  a  RFQ process fo r  the  P lat fo rm Hu l ls  Cont rac t  and  

we have dea l t  w i th  th is  in  your  ev idence before .  10 

MR BURGER:   Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    That  invo lved th ree  b ids  tha t  was the  

RFQ process wh ich  was to  an  ex ten t  a  compet i t i ve  

process.  

MR BURGER:   Cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   So  she is  say ing  bu t  we cannot  jus t  

p iggy-back on  tha t  because tha t  p rocess was fo r  tha t  

cont rac t  –  fo r  those i tems –  P la t fo rm Hu l ls .   And as  you 

conf i rmed in  your  ev idence las t  t ime th is  was fo r  a  d i f fe ren t  

t ype o f  component .   You cannot  say  we l l  because  I  have 20 

awarded you Con t rac t  A there fore  you ent i t led  to  Cont rac t  

B .  That  was her  ra t iona le .   Now does tha t  no t  make sense  

to  you now? 

MR BURGER:   I t  makes sense to  me now Cha i r.   A t  the 

t ime i t  d id  no t  bu t  i t  does now.  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   And  in  fac t  in  the  prev ious 

parag raph I  am not  go ing  to  read i t  in to  the  record  she in  

fac t  says:   “We shou ld  inv i te  LMT in  th is  p rocess  –  they 

shou ld  be  one o f  the  par t ies  tha t  we inv i te  to  b id .   And she 

says a t  the  end o f  tha t  second paragraph:  

“ I  am not  say ing  tha t  the  work  must  be  

g iven to  LMT a l l  I  am say ing  is  tha t  LMT 

and o ther  capab le  supp l ie rs  must  be  g iven  

a  chance to  p rove themse lves th rough a  

t ransparent ,  compet i t i ve  and fa i r  RFQ or  10 

tender  p rocess. ”  

 But  i t  was not  a  concern  fo r  you a t  th is  s tage ear l y  

in  2015 tha t  –  tha t  there  was no RFQ procurement  p rocess 

be ing  fo l lowed.   I t  i s  no t  someth ing  you ra ised or  were  

concerned about  yourse l f ,  cor rec t?  

MR BURGER:   Cha i r  I  am runn ing  the  r i sk  o f  repeat ing  

myse l f  bu t  a t  the  t ime I  s ta te  aga in  I  go t  an  ins t ruc t ion ;  I  

we lcomed the  ins t ruc t ion ;  I  –  i t  was minuted in  the  EXCO 

minutes  o f  Dene l  Land Systems.   I  wanted to  make ve ry  

sure  tha t  the  –  the  eng ineers  and  the  opera t ion  suppor ted  20 

tha t  –  tha t  in i t ia t i ve .   I  to ld  Mr  Teubes tha t  we shou ld  do  

th is  and fo r  tha t  reason he ensured tha t  the  eng ineers  d id  

a  s tudy and to  –  tha t  i t  was suppor ted  by  the  s tudy.   The 

emai ls  tha t  fo l lowed i t  i s  very  c lear  i f  i t  i s  ana lysed tha t  I  

was not  –  I  d id  no t  want  to  s ign  the  MOU or  the  MOA.   I  



24 NOVEMBER 2020 – DAY 311 
 

Page 17 of 139 
 

ins t ruc ted  in  tha t  i t  must  be  Mr  Sa loo jee .   So i t  i s  a l l  o f  

these th ings tha t  –  tha t  demonst ra tes  tha t  th is  does not  –  

d id  no t  –  the  in i t ia t i ve  d id  no t  come f rom me.   The very  fac t  

tha t  in  the  past  we used to  on  lower  leve l s  approve MOA’s  

probab ly  made me not  focus enough and unders tand 

enough tha t  we shou ld  have gone out  on  tender.   In  today ’s  

cur ren t  scenar io  we shou ld  have gone out  on  tender ;  we 

d id  no t .   I  –  a t  the  t ime I  d id  no t  th ink  i t  necessary.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  –  th is  i s  someth ing  you may have dea l t  

w i th  p rev ious l y  bu t  I  may have fo rgo t ten  what  you sa id .   10 

What  d id  you th ink  then was the  process tha t  shou ld  have 

been fo l lowed i f  the  open tender  sys tem shou ld  no t  be  

fo l lowed i f  you thought  tha t  was no t  the  r igh t  p rocess?   

MR BURGER:   Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   What  i s  the  process tha t  you thought  

shou ld  be  fo l lowed?  

MR BURGER:   Hundred pe rcent  Cha i r.   P r io r  –  pr io r  to  

2014 ear l ie r  2010  thereabouts  I  cannot  remember  the  exact  

da te  a  pe rson l i ke  the  Supp ly  Cha in  Execut ive  w i thout  

fu r ther  au tho r i t y  approved S ing le  Source  Agreements .   20 

Because we be l ieved i t  had cer ta in  advantages fo r  the  

company.   I f  the  –  i f  the  Group CEO sa id  we shou ld  do  

someth ing  l i ke  th is  I  was hundred percent  conv inced a t  the  

t ime tha t  th is  was  w i th in  h is  de lega t ion  to  do .   I  knew and I  

sa id  tha t  my de legat ions were  cur ta i led  qu i te  substant ia l l y  
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bu t  I  was under  the  impress ion  i f  tha t  ge ts  approved by  the 

Group CEO then  i t  i s  f ine .   And tha t  was my depar tu re  

po in t  and there fo re  I  d id  no t  g ive  i t  a  lo t  o f  concern  un t i l  

now.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes Mr  Kennedy.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you Cha i r.   So we have jus t  

seen the  emai l  f rom Ms Malah le la  to  Mr  Teubes and tha t  

was in  March 2015.   Now we know and you have ag reed in  

your  a f f idav i t  as  I  unders tand i t  that  the  MOA was s igned in  

May 2015.   10 

MR BURGER:   Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   You reca l l  tha t /  

MR BURGER:   Cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I  wou ld  l i ke  you now in  the  same 

bund le  to  p lease tu rn  to  page 672.   Do you have i t?  

MR BURGER:   I  have got  i t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now th is  i s  an  EXCO commi t tee  

meet ing  m inute  o f  the  29  October  2015.   Unfo r tunate ly  i t  

does not  as  one no rmal l y  wou ld  expect  s ta te  who was 

present  and who may have been absent  o r  who cha i red  i t .   20 

May I  jus t  re f resh your  memory  as  to  what  i t  says .   

Paragraph 1 .1 .  

“A concern  was noted w i th  regard  to  

p lacement  o f  o rders  on  VR Laser.   The  

pred icament  here  is  tha t  the  GSCE approva l  
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–  so r ry  approved th is  dev ia t ion  f rom the  

procu rement  p rocess on  the  fo l low ing  

cond i t ion .   “Under  no  c i rcumstances sha l l  

p roducts  o r  serv i ces  tha t  can be procu red 

f rom a  group ent i t y  o r  d iv is ion  be  procu red  

f rom an ex terna l  supp l ie r  to  a  non-Dene l  

company un less  there  i s  approva l  by  the  

Group Supp ly  Cha in  Execut ive  based on  

sound bus iness reasons. ”   Th is  i s  a lso  in  

l ine  w i th  the  Group Supp ly  Cha in  Po l i cy  and  10 

the  DLS Supp ly  Cha in  Procedure .   The  

above prov i s ions  are  in  d i rec t  conf l i c t  w i th  

the  MOU tha t  DLS s igned w i th  VR Laser  

where  VR Laser  i s  the  so le  supp l ie r  fo r  a l l  

complex  we ld ing  and mach in ing  work  to  

DLS fo r  the  next  ten  years . ”  

 And there  was a  reso lu t ion .  

“The commi t tee  took a  dec is ion  tha t  the  

MOU takes precedence over  the  GSCE’s  

cond i t ion  and the  Group Supp ly  Cha in  20 

Po l icy  and the  DLS Supp ly  Cha in  

Procedure .   The commi t tee  s ta ted  a lso  tha t  

g iven the  –  i t  says  resend h is to ry  –  

presumably  i t  shou ld  be  recent  h i s to ry  w i th  

regard  to  p r i ze  –  i t  shou ld  be  p resumably  
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p r i ce  and tu rna round t ime VR was the  

pre fe r red  supp l ie r  w i th  a l l  oppor tun i t ies .   I t  

was fu r ther  s ta ted  tha t  in  te rms o f  the  MOU 

VR Laser  p r ices  must  be  market  re la ted  and 

in  l ine  w i th  the  Prov i s ions o f  the  MOA 

before  an  order  can be p laced on them.  Due  

to  th is  reason and prev ious exper ience w i th  

VR Laser  commi t tee  fe l t  conf ident  tha t  the  

VR Laser  p r ices  w i l l  be  market  re la ted  and 

reasonab le .   Ce l ia  Malah le la  was tasked to  10 

dra f t  a  le t te r  to  the  GSCE and exp la in  the  

dec is ion  taken in  th is  regard . ”  

 Now Mr  Burger  do  you reca l l  be ing  a t  th is  meet ing  

where  th is  was d i scussed and th is  was dec ided?  

MR BURGER:   Yes Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And the  concern  –  the  pred icament  

tha t  was ra i sed in  the  f i rs t  bu l le t  po in t  and the  head ing  1 .1  

a  concern  was noted.   That  was concern  –  tha t  concern  or  

concern  about  the  pred icament  was ra ised by  Ms Malah le la  

herse l f ,  no t  so?  20 

MR BURGER:   Cha i r  I  cannot  –  cannot  remember.   I  know 

about  th is  emai l  I  cannot  remember  who sa id  what  bu t  I  

p resume i t  was her  tha t  ra ised those po in ts .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   And th i s  c lear l y  i s  tha t  we have  

not  compl ied  w i th  the  Group Supp ly  Cha in  Management  
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Po l i cy  because the  GCSE o r  the  GSCE ra the r  Mr  Mlambo 

had not  approved the  t ransact ion  re la t ing  to  whether  an  

ou ts ide  supp l ie r  ra the r  than an in te rna l  supp l ie r  cou ld  be  

used.   Cor rec t?   That  was the  concern  she ra i sed.  

MR BURGER:   Cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .   Now th i s  was ra i sed in  

October  2015.  

MR BURGER:   Cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Fo rmer ly  i n  a  meet ing  and i t  i s  

m inuted.   So your  ev idence canno t  be  cor rec t  ea r l ie r  wh ich  10 

suggested a l though you seemed to  go  back on  tha t  la te r  

tha t  you on ly  heard  about  i t  in  pass ing  f rom Ms Malah le la  

on ly  in  2016.   I t  cannot  be  cor rec t  can i t?  

MR BURGER:   Ja .   Cha i r  I  canno t  reca l l  the  exact  da te .   I  

know i t  was subs tant ia l l y  la te r.   I  know there  was an EXCO 

meet ing  where  i t  was d i scussed maybe i t  was th i s  one and 

i t  was October  2015 I  cannot  reca l l .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

MR BURGER:   The –  bu t  as  I  sa id  i t  was –  i t  was  

d iscussed in  an  EXCO meet ing .  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes and presumably  th is  i s  the  EXCO 

meet ing .  

MR BURGER:   Yes Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .   Now i f  I  can  take  you back fo r  

a  moment  in  the  same bund le  to  page 669?  But  le t  us  s ta r t  
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a t  662.   Th is  i s  the  Dene l  SOC L im i ted  Procurement  Po l i cy  

Group Supp ly  Cha in  Po l i cy.   Cor rec t?  

MR BURGER:   Cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And tha t  became e f fec t i ve  as  i t  i s  

ind ica ted  near  the  top  r i gh t  on  page 662 on the  19  

November  2014.  

MR BURGER:   Cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Now i f  we look a t  page 669  C lause  

6 .10 .1  under  the  head ing  In te rg roup and  Group 

Procurement  Con t rac ts  6 .10 .1  says:  10 

“Under  no  c i r cumstances sha l l  p roducts  o r  

serv i ces  tha t  can  be procured f rom a  group  

ent i t y  o r  d i v is ion  or  p rocu red f rom an  

ex te rna l  supp l ie r  o r  non-  Dene l  company 

un less  there  is  approva l  by  t he  Group  

Supp ly  Cha in  Execut ive  based on sound  

bus iness reasons . ”  

 That  i s  the  very  prov i s ion  tha t  i s  quoted in  the  

m inutes .  

MR BURGER:   Yes.   Cor rec t .  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   O f  tha t  EXCO meet ing  tha t  you 

a t tended.  

MR BURGER:   Cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Ms Malah le la  was spec i f i ca l l y  quot ing  

and record ing  a  prov i s ion  o f  the  Group Supp ly  Cha in  
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Management  Po l i cy  tha t  she  contended had been 

breached,  cor rec t?  

MR BURGER:   Cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   R igh t .   Now is  i t  cor rec t  tha t  you had  

a  d iscuss ion  about  th is  and you d iscussed i t  in  these 

te rms.  Which  one  takes precedence?  Does the  MOA/MOU 

take p recedence  over  the  Group Supp ly  Cha in  Po l i cy  the  

po l i cy  take  precedence over  the  MOU/MOA?  Is  tha t  the  

f rame o f  re fe rence o f  the  d iscuss ion?  

MR BURGER:   Cor rec t  Cha i r.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Bu t  what  d id  you unders tand Mr  

Burger  to  be  the  s ta tus  o f  the  Group Supp ly  Cha in  

Management  Po l i cy?   Can I  jus t  suggest  someth ing  tha t  I  

wou ld  w i th  g reat  respect  suggest  must  be  very  obv ious ly  

par t i cu la r l y  to  somebody so  exper ienced in  bus iness and 

tha t  i s  you have  a  po l i cy  wh ich  lays  down ru les  fo r  the  

Dene l  g roup wh ich  you must  comply  w i th  when procur ing  

goods or  serv ices ,  cor rec t?  

MR BURGER:   Cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And you do so  th rough cont rac ts ,  20 

cor rec t?  

MR BURGER:   Cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   So  when you procure  th rough a  

cont rac t  you mus t  comply  w i th  the  ru les  tha t  a re  se t  ou t  in  

the  Supp ly  Cha in  Management  Po l i cy,  co r rec t?  
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MR BURGER:   Cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   So  cou ld  you exp la in  to  us  p lease 

how on ea r th  you came to  dec ide  in  th is  meet ing  tha t  the  

agreement  takes precedence over  the  po l i cy?   Sure ly  i t  is  

the  o ther  way around?  

MR BURGER:   In  my mind a t  the  t ime there  was a  po l i cy  

and tha t  po l i cy  was a  Dene l  wr i t ten  po l i cy  and tha t  po l i cy  

the  custod ian  o f  tha t  po l i cy  my  unders tand ing  was the  

Group CEO.   So  what  i s  –  what  i s  wr i t ten  here  is  no t  

hundred percent  my understanding.   The resolut ion was that  10 

our recommendat ion is very st rong that  there is a legal  

contract  between us and VR Laser and that  legal  contract  

must  be respected.    

 There is a conf l ict  between the cont ract  and group 

pol ic ies.   And my understanding at  the t ime was,  the group 

pol ic ies is an internal  matter and therefore can be accepted 

by the necessary level  of  author i ty.  

 So.   And for that  reason I  said not  to get  into a legal  

dispute wi th a val id cont ract .   The precedence should be on 

the contract  but  we should get  approval  f rom our bosses that  20 

we can do this.  

 So I  cannot recal l  Chai r  that  we took a decision and just  

implemented i t  based on that  decis ion.   We took a decision 

as a recommendat ion to hi re(?)  and i f  I  recal l  correct ly,  there 

was a mot ivat ion that  was wri t ten that  was sent  to  Denel ’s  
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corporate off ice in  th is regard.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes,  we wi l l  get  to that  memorandum in 

a moment.   What I  want  to put  to you Mr Burger is that ,  the 

mere fact  that  a contract  has been entered into in violat ion 

of  a pol icy does not  mean that  there are no impl icat ions.    

 I t  does not  mean that  you say:   Wel l ,  take(?) your  

fo lders.   I t  is tough.   We breached the pol icy.   Oh, wel l .   We 

have made a cont ract  wi th an outside party and we breached 

our own internal  pol icy.   That  is on ly internal .   So let  us just  

carry on implement ing the cont ract .    10 

 Are you not  aware or were you not  aware then Mr Burger  

that  government owned ent i t ies such as Denel  are subject  to 

the rule of  law including the procurement regulat ions which 

include your own internal  Supply Chain Management pol icy 

and i f  you breach a mater ia l  provis ion of  that  i t  can nul l i fy 

the cont ract?   

 Were you aware of  that  at  that  t ime? 

MR BURGER :    At  the t ime, I  was most  def in i te ly aware that  

i t  was a breach of  any laws.   I  was aware that  i t  was a 

breach of  the Denel  of  the procurement pol icy.  20 

 And Chai r,  I  have to say.   This S ingle Source Agreement  

was not  a document that  was kept  in a dark corner and 

nobody knew about i t .  

 Every sing le body knew about th is and inc luding my boss 

at  the t ime.   And for  that  reason,  i f  we did something 
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unlawful  and incorrect ly,  there should have been act ion or  

there would have been act ion taken.  

 So Chai r,  I  – at  the t ime I  knew about Ms Malahle la’s 

concern.   There was a discussion.   She raised her 

object ions.    

 There were many people si t t ing around the table.   I  was 

the chai rperson of  that  meet ing.   I  t r ied to summarise the 

discussion and i t  is wri t ten in the resolut ion and therefore we 

went to corporate off ice wi th the resolut ion.  

 So Chai r,  I  have got  real ly not  anyth ing to add to that .  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  I  th ink f rom what you have said.   

One of  the things you have said is that  at  the t ime you 

accepted that  you were going to be act ing in breach of  th is  

pol icy.    

MR BURGER :    Correct .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Is that  correct? 

MR BURGER :    Correct ,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    But  you considered – maybe I  should not  

say this.   You must say i t  i f  that  is the case.   What – did you 

consider that  the breach was just i f ied in any way,  and i f  so,  20 

what is that  you – that  you thought just i f ied the breach of  the 

pol icy? 

MR BURGER :    Chai r,  I  got  an inst ruct ion to form a Single 

Source Agreement wi th VR Laser.   The content  or the 

object ive of  that  Single Source Agreement was minute in 
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Exco meet ings.   And I  was under the impression that  i t  was 

approved at  the correct  levels.  

 So by the same token,  the very same person that  s igned 

that  agreement also signed the pol icy and also approved the 

pol icy for Denel .  

 So I  thought i f  there was a conf l ict  between the two,  i t  is  

easier to deal  wi th an internal  matter than an external  

matter.    

 And for that  reason I  said,  I  support  – and i t  was not  my 

decision,  th is was a commit tee decision that  was minute 10 

here.    

 For that  reason I  supported that  th is – that  we should 

uphold the cont ract  between us and VR Laser.   But  at  no 

t ime did somebody stand up and say:   You know what,  you 

are doing i t  against  the law here.   You are not  al lowed to do 

this.   At  no t ime did anybody say that .    

 I  was under the impression i t  is a  conf l ict  wi th internal  

pol ic ies and for that  reason I  said. . .   And i t  was approved by 

the levels that  – the same level  that  s igned the pol icy and 

therefore I  thought i t  was not  a problem. 20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Did you think that  the GCEO could give an 

instruct ion to anybody to actual ly act  in breach of  company 

pol icy? 

MR BURGER :    Chai r.   [ laughs]   I t  is a di ff icul t  quest ion and 

I  understand why you ask i t .   I  thought i t  –  me, though that  i t  
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made absolute business sense at  the t ime why that  Single 

Source Agreement existed and therefore there were good 

business reasons for  i t  and given the good business 

reasons,  I  thought the Group CEO could overr ide the pol icy.  

I  real ly thought so.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

MR BURGER :    I  a lso agree that  he cannot just  do what he 

wants.  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m, h’m.  

MR BURGER :    I  understand.   I  understand your concern.   10 

So,  yes he cannot do what he wants but  I  was under the 

impression this was for good business reasons and given the 

good business reasons,  yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    But  you would also accept ,  would you not ,  

that  i t  is people – i t  is part icular ly  people as senior  as you 

were who ought to have found i t  easy to say to the GCEO:  

Hang on GCEO.  I t  looks l ike your instruct ion is in breach of  

the pol icy.   Can you do that?   

 Is i t  not?  I t  is the senior  people who f ind i t  easy to say:   

I  know you have g iven me an instruct ion but  i t  looks l ike i t  is  20 

in breach of  the pol icy.   Can you give me an instruct ion that  

goes against  the company pol icy? 

MR BURGER :    Ja,  Chai r.   Hindsight  is perfect  s ign.   

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  yes.    

MR BURGER :    Yes.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    And i t  was not  done.  

MR BURGER :    I t  was not  done. 

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

MR BURGER :    Wel l ,  not  that  I  can recal l  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR BURGER :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Certainly not  by you.  

MR BURGER :    Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Not  by. . .  

MR BURGER :    Yes.  10 

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.   Mr Kennedy.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Thank you,  Chai r.   I f  the pol icy was not  

a law that  you d id not  have to comply wi th – and i f  you 

entered into a contract  that  was contrary to that  po l icy,  wel l  

then the cont ract  must  just  fore stand.   What is the point  of  

having a pol icy at  al l?   

 Oh, because i t  would mean that  people could,  as 

actual ly happened here,  go into a – signing an agreement 

wi th fu l l  knowledge thanks to Ms Malahlela that  there was 

there a breach.   She f i rst  raised the issue of  not ing your RFP 20 

process.   That  was rejected by Mr Teubes.    

 And secondly,  she raised the point  that  you have not  got  

GC /  GSCE approval  to go outs ide the divis ions.   But  i f  you 

could – i f  you fel t  that  wel l  that  does not  matter because i t  is  

not  the law, i t  is only a pol icy.    
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 What is the purpose of  having a pol icy i f  you are not  

going to comply wi th i t?  

MR BURGER :    Chai r,  no.   I  th ink that  is,  wi th great  respect ,  

taking the point  a  l i t t le bi t  far.   The pol icy is there to  govern 

the organisat ion and to make sure that  good decisions as a 

norm but  l ike everything in l i fe there are always except ions 

and that  does not  mean that  one can ignore the pol icy.    

 I t  means,  in my mind,  that  i f  you are doing something 

that  is not  st ipulated in the pol icy then you have to get  

approval  at  the correct  level  of  the organisat ion.    10 

 And in  my mind,  th is – having a pol icy l ike i t  is bet ter  to  

manufacture something internal ly than external ly.   I t  is a  

good pol icy.    

 I  agree wi th the pol icy.   I  am not  quest ioning the pol icy.   

But  in th is speci f ic case,  wi th the problems we had,  wi th the 

r isk we were running – I  have al ready indicated th is would 

have been a good place where we have complex fabr icated 

steelworks done.   

 And Chai r,  my apology for saying i t  again.   I t  is also 

common knowledge that  you have – when you deal  wi th 20 

highly complex things,  having Single Source Agreement is 

not  a bad thing.   I t  is a good thing in th is complex 

environment.    

 So I  d id support  i t .   I  supported the idea then.   I  support  

the idea now.  But  i t  does not  take away that  the pol icy is a  
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good pol icy and i t  makes sense in general  terms.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And in fact ,  the pol icy – you ta lk about  

except ions.   The pol icy speci f ical ly says that  where you 

want ing to  procure something that  could be purchase to 

procure in-house,  you want to go outside to an external  

suppl ier.   You have to get  – there have to two things 

sat isf ied.  

 The one is,  you have to get  the approval  of  the Group 

Supply Chain Execut ive,  not  f rom the Div is ional  CEO, 

namely Mr Burger,  or his deputy or h is assistant ,  Mr Teubes.    10 

 Only the GSCE could give that  approval .   Do you agree 

wi th me? 

MR BURGER :    I  do agree Chai r  but  to qual i fy that .   I  a lso 

thought and this how al l  decisions worked that  i f  h is boss 

and his boss’s boss l isten to the arguments,  they had the 

author i ty to decide what is the best  for the company.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Wel l ,  in fact ,  that  approval  at  a  higher  

level  than Mr Mlambo had,  took place long af ter th is.   I t  d id  

not  happen at  th is  t ime.  

MR BURGER :    Ja.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    May I  suggest  we focus on the topic of  

my quest ion? 

MR BURGER :    Ja.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Which is what happened in 

October 2015 when you were chai r ing a meet ing of  Exco at  
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d iv is ional  level .   The fact  that  a year later or more,  

Mr Ntshepe may have signed to say:   Wel l ,  I  am not  going to  

overr ide Mr Mlambo.  You cannot,  wi th respect ,  be 

part icular ly an impressive answer to explain what was going 

through your mind on the 25t h of  October 2015.  

MR BURGER :    Ja.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Do you accept  that? 

MR BURGER :    I  do accept .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Is that  fa i r  to say? 

MR BURGER :    Yes . . . [ intervenes]   10 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Let  us t ry to conf ine ourselves to that .   

You were the CEO.  You were there to ensure that  there was 

proper compl iance wi th whatever was requi red.   And here we 

have a si tuat ion wi th Ms Malahlela who is saying:   We have 

got  a pol icy which precludes this.    

 This is now the second t ime that  Ms Malahlela was doing 

her job in drawing at tent ion to her bosses.   IN the f i rs t  p lace 

Mr Teubes ear l ier  that  year,  saying:   We have to go out  on 

tender or RFQ, otherwise,  we are in  big t rouble.    

 And he overrules her.   I t  then comes – i t  is then signed,  20 

despi te al l  of  that .   Despi te non-compl iance wi th that  

requi rement of  the pol icy,  not  fa l l ing into any of  the 

except ions of  the pol icy i tse l f  prov ides for,  such as an 

emergency si tuat ion.   None of  that .   I t  is then signed,  not  so,  

in May 2015? 
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MR BURGER :    Correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And then a further problem is raised by 

Ms Malahlela a few months later.   There is another reason 

why we have a respect  in which we have not  compl ied wi th 

the pol icy and that  is,  we never go the GSCE approval .    

 Now i t  just  seems to me that  the pol icy does not  real ly  

have any sense or usefu lness i f  twice in a row i ts provisions 

are breached but  management say:   Wel l ,  do not  worry.   We 

carry on.    

 And secondly.   I t  does not  make sense why you have no 10 

doubt of  the substant ia l  salary.    Ms Malahlela employed as 

your Divis ional  Supply Chain Management Head i f  twice she 

ra ises ser ious concerns that  th is in breach of  the pol icy and 

twice she is ignored or overruled by you.  

MR BURGER :    My I  repeat  Chai r?  I  re ject  the fact  that  i t  

was overruled by me.  I  state again.   There was a meet ing 

held that  consisted of  execut ive members.   She raised her  

concerns.   I t  was discussed.   A resolut ion was taken by the 

commit tee,  not  by me, by the commit tee.   And a jo int  

resolut ion was wri t ten down.   20 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Did you not  . . . [ intervenes]   

MR BURGER :    Sorry,  sorry.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.  

MR BURGER :    In th is resolut ion,  i t  is not  minute that  

Ms Malahlela raised her object ion about the decision.   I t  was 
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taken as a group,  a group discussion and a group resolut ion.  

 And Chai r,  I  hear  what Mr Kennedy is  saying but  at  the 

t ime i t  was an Execut ive Commit tee meet ing and a jo int  

resolut ion was taken.   I t  was not  just  – i t  was d iscussed and 

i t  was accepted.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Wel l ,  let  us accept  al l  that  ev idence 

Mr Burger.   But  may I  go back to the quest ion?  You 

overruled i t .   You say:   No,  i t  was not  you.   I t  was the 

commit tee.    

 Now i f  i t  was a decision of  the members of  the 10 

commit tee,  i t  was not  their  decision supported by 

Ms Malahlela,  not  so?  She was against  the decision.  

MR BURGER :    Chai r,  in al l  meet ings there are di fference of  

opinions.   In a l l  meet ings.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Sorry,  the pr inciple? 

MR BURGER :    In al l  meet ings,  there a di fferences of  

opinions and . . . [ in tervenes]   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Wi l l  you not  just  answer the quest ion?  

Was she for or against  th is resolut ion? 

MR BURGER :    She was – she put  her point  on the table and 20 

she was against  i t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Against  i t?  

MR BURGER :    Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    So was a minor i ty.   Was she jo ined by 

you Mr Burger?  Did you take her side or were you against  
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her side? 

MR BURGER :    How these meet ings usual ly happen.  I  am 

the chai rperson.   The chai rperson does not  say,  I  – what you 

say is nonsense.   I  wi l l  – I  th ink i t  should be di fferent .   How 

i t  happens,  everybody gets an opportuni ty to state their  

opinion and I  . . . [ in tervenes]   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I  am asking what you d id Mr Burger.   

Let  us not  hear about  how you al low other people to express 

. . . [ intervenes]   

MR BURGER :    I  repeat  again.   The – I  formulated the 10 

consensus view of  the meet ing and that  is wri t ten in the 

resolut ion.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And you supported i t?  

MR BURGER :    I  supported i t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   So you were part  of  a col lect ive 

that  overruled Ms Malahlela.   Is that  a formulat ion that  you 

are more comfortable wi th? 

MR BURGER :    [No audible reply]   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Or is i t  wrong? 

MR BURGER :    I  . . . [ intervenes]   20 

CHAIRPERSON :    [ laughs]   I t  has to  be correct  Mr Burger.  

MR BURGER :    Sorry,  Chai r? 

CHAIRPERSON :    The proposi t ion has to be correct .  

[Part ies intervening each other – unclear]  

MR BURGER :    Remember I  said . . . [ intervenes]   
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CHAIRPERSON :    . . .or the quest ions is:   When you are part  

of  the group that  overruled Ms Malahlela – you have al ready 

said,  she put  her point  of  v iew and she was against  i t .   And 

you have al ready said you were one of  those who supported 

i t .  

MR BURGER :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So Mr Kennedy is saying,  you were part  of  

the col lect ive group that  overruled her.   Do you agree? 

MR BURGER :    Correct  Chai r.   I  – why I  was hesi tat ing is,  is  

I  wanted to  qual i fy.   The word overruled is a very st rong 10 

word.   I  do not  recal l  – and maybe the other members that  

was in th is meet ing should divulge – but  I  cannot recal l  by 

saying:   We hear you.   We thought about  what you sa id.   You 

are herewith overruled.    

CHAIRPERSON :    I t  does not  have to be – the word does not  

have to be used,  overruled.    

MR BURGER :    Ja.  

CHAIRPERSON :    The fact  of  the matter is.   Two v iews were 

on the table.  

MR BURGER :    Correct ,  Chai r.  20 

CHAIRPERSON :    Have you and in the view of  the other view 

. . . [ intervenes]   

MR BURGER :    Correct ,  Chai r,  I  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    . . .and you said:   In fact ,  we do not  agree 

wi th your view.  This is the view that  we support .  
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MR BURGER :    Correct .  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

MR BURGER :    Correct ,  Chai r.   

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.   H’m.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Right .   So,  did you – to go back to your  

point  ear l ier that  you know had a contract ,  whether you l iked 

i t  or not ,  you did have a contract  wi th an outside suppl ier 

and you fel t  that  the pol icy was real ly just  an internal  matter  

that  should not  affect  your  relat ionship wi th the outside 

suppl ier.    10 

 Did you even bother to approach VR Laser and say:   

Guys,  we have a bi t  of  a problem.  You know, we are a state 

inst i tut ion and our  internal  Supply Chain Management  

expert ,  Ms Malahlela has drawn our  at tent ion to two defects,  

that  we have not  compl ied wi th our own pol icy.  

 Now we know that  you,  VR Laser,  are a pr ivate ent i ty,  

not  subject  to our  pol icy but  we are.   And there is a problem.   

We need to terminate this agreement.   We need to agree that  

we wi l l  not  proceed.  

 In fact ,  the very point  of  the meet ing was,  can we 20 

proceed?  Can we, Denel ,  proceed to place orders on VR 

Laser in terms of  the agreement?  And the decision was yes,  

we must.  

 So to get  back to my quest ion.   Did you make any 

at tempt to contact  VR Laser to say:   We are sorry.   There is 
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a problem here.   Can we t ry and resolve i t?  

MR BURGER :    No,  Chai r  we did not .  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Why not  Mr Burger? 

MR BURGER :    Because I  he ld the view at  the t ime that  i t  – 

i t  was wi thin the mandate of  the Group CEO to sign 

something l ike this and that  i t  was a document that  was done 

according to the pol icy or to the Delegat ion of  Author i ty.    

 I  have to  add,  however,  that  th is  – the t ime when the 

arguments became st ronger,  was the t ime when the press 

became more vocal  about  the Gupta involvement.  10 

 So – and the opinion of  me was that  that  was not  my 

place to give an opinion of  that .   But  f rom a – f rom 

Ms Malahlela’s s ide,  she was vocal  on that  she did not  

support  the idea of  tarnishing Denel ’s name of  the l ink 

between the Gupta’s,  and that  was,  in my mind,  her real  

concern.    

 And therefore,  I  took note of  what was said.   Everybody 

around the table took note of  what was said and the 

resolut ion was taken.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    So you were aware at  that  stage that  20 

there was media controversy and publ ic cont roversy about  

Denel ’s involvement wi th Gupta associates and businesses,  

correct? 

MR BURGER :    Chai r,  i f  I  recal l  correct ly.   I t  star ted late 

2015.  I t  started wi th everything.   In the beginning of  2016,  



24 NOVEMBER 2020 – DAY 311 
 

Page 39 of 139 
 

there was a qui te a lot  of  media at tent ion.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.   Now you say that  you thought  

that  featured more in Ms Malahlela’s approach.   What are 

you suggest ing?  That  she was t ry ing to use wrongly Supply 

Chain Management Rules to t ry  and get  the company to stop 

doing business wi th the Gupta’s or what?  What are you 

suggest ing? 

MR BURGER :    I  am not  suggest ing anything.   I  am just  

saying that  the -  Ms Malahlela thought  i t  wi l l  br ing Denel  in  

disrepute and,  I  mean, she was correct .  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    She was correct ,  not  so? 

MR BURGER :    [No audible reply]   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And in fact ,  she was also correct  that  

the Supply Chain Management Pol icy was breached.  You 

have al ready acknowledged that ,  to your credi t .  

MR BURGER :    Ja,  ja.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Did you see Ms Malahlela when she 

ended her evidence in tears here? 

MR BURGER :    I  d id Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    A long t ime af ter she lef t  Denel ,  she is  20 

st i l l  moved to tears and gave evidence that  she t r ied her 

best  as the ci t izen of  th is count ry and as an honest ,  loyal  

servant  of . . .   Sorry,  that  is a bad terminology f rom the old 

days.    

 A loyal  employee of  a state-owned corporat ion where 
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she t r ied repeatedly to get  her bosses,  inc luding you,  to  

comply wi th the pol icy and you would not .    

 And she did i t  in the context  of  where there was indeed 

growing cont roversy about Denel ’s  l inks wi th the very 

controvers ial  Gupta fami ly and thei r  associates.    

 And she was t ry ing to warn you repeatedly:   We must  

keep Denel ’s modus clean.   We must make sure that  i f  we 

are going to award any contracts,  part icular ly to people who 

are associated wi th or  owned by controvers ial  people,  such 

as the Gupta ’s,  we must be absolutely sure in comply ing wi th  10 

our pol icy.   That  was her funct ion,  not  so? 

MR BURGER :    Correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I t  was a major part  of  her  

responsibi l i ty.  

MR BURGER :    Correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And despi te knowing that  she had 

views as a professional  that  was not  act ing in bad fai th,  not  

so?  You al ready conceded that .  

MR BURGER :    For sure.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.   So she is saying to you:  We 20 

need to make sure that  we comply wi th the pol icy.   We are 

not  complying.   And twice she gets rebuffed and effect ively 

overruled by her bosses.    

 And eventual ly leaves Denel  in a state of  absolute 

demoral isat ion,  huge f inancial  prejudice to hersel f  and her  
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fami ly and st i l l  t raumat ised,  as you saw when she was s i t t ing 

in the very wi tness chai r  that  you are si t t ing in now, on 

nat ional  TV.   

 She had the dign i ty of  showing her emot ion but  to her 

credi t ,  she d id i t  because she fe l t  i t .    

 Now i t  just  seems absolutely t ragic  Mr Burger and I  am 

put t ing i t  to you,  just  as a human being,  i t  seems t ragic that  

an organisat ion which is owned by the publ ic,  members of  

the publ ic,  served by di l igent  good-fai th members of  the 

publ ic,  such as Ms Malahlela.  10 

 When she does her  job to  earn her  sa lary,  to t ry  and 

keep Denel ’s image good and to keep Denel ’s image as a 

legal ly compl ied state ent i ty good,  she gets ignored,  not  

least  by you as her boss in Denel  Land System.  

 Do you have anything to say about that? 

MR BURGER :    Chai r,  I  am not  sure what I  should say on 

what was . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Perhaps as a human being Mr Burger,  

what you feel .   May I  remind you – I  have taken you through 

this al ready.   Your 138-page aff idavi t ,  I  th ink i t  is,  spends 20 

probably,  at  least  hal f  of  that ,  saying how innocent you are 

and how this  has been such a terr ib le th ing for  you 

personal ly to have to go through the glare of  the nat ion and 

the glare of  the media,  associat ing you wi th the Gupta’s and 

associat ing you wi th al legat ions of  corrupt ion and so forth.  
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 I  have never received a penny f rom the Gupta’s  or  

anybody else.   You protest  your innocence repeatedly but  

what you do not  have there is an acknowledgement,  that  you 

eventual ly gave in the wi tness box,  which is that :  I  actual ly 

acknowledge with hindsight .    

 Now i f  I  only I  had known before that  al l  of  th is was 

actual ly in  breach of  the Supply Chain Management Pol icy 

and that  the pol icy had legal  effect .  

 And I  only  real ise now that  Ms Malahlela was correct .   I f  

I  on ly I  had l istened to her.    10 

 Wel l ,  wi th respect ,  what I  am suggest ing to you is  that  

part icular ly where you as the CEO of  Denel  Land Systems 

went into such a major cont ract  wi th VR Laser,  knowing that  

they were connected wi th the Gupta’s who were under the 

spot l ight  of  media at tent ion as potent ia l ly being corrupt .  

 You should have been absolutely scrupulous in ensuring 

compl iance wi th  the pol icy.   And your suggest ion on the 

previous occasion,  a few weeks back in th is Commission,  

that  you just  s imply did not  know about  th is.   I f  only you had 

known.  Now you know.  Now, of  course,  the benef i t  of  20 

hindsight .  

 You knew because you were to ld  by Ms Malahlela.   You 

cannot hide behind ignorance.   Surely,  Mr Burger.  

MR BURGER :    Okay Mr Kennedy.   Sorry,  Chai r.   Qui te a lot  

of  statements were made.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR BURGER :    And I  cannot recal l  them.  Just  a  word of  

correct ion.   I  d id  acknowledge that  she was correct  in her 

summat ion.   I  do acknowledge that .  

CHAIRPERSON :    H’m.  

MR BURGER :    Secondly,  I  want  to  state again that  she gave 

her inputs and her  inputs were taken ser iously at  the t ime.  I t  

was not  just  overru led,  just  ignored.   I  th ink the word that  

was used.   Her inputs were acknowledged and taken.   The 

. . . [ intervenes]   10 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    But  not  fo l lowed.  

MR BURGER :    Sorry,  Chai r? 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    But  not  fo l lowed.  

MR BURGER :    Not  fo l lowed.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    No.  

MR BURGER :    No,  not  fo l lowed af ter a discussion wi thin the 

Execut ive Commit tee.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.  

MR BURGER :    I t  is – I  never  real ised she was that  

t raumat ised by what happened.  I  was also hoping that  she 20 

had due to the cu l tural  that  existed in Denel  Land Systems, 

she real ly fe l t  part  of  Denel  and wanted to do the best  for  

Denel .   I  accept  al l  of  that .   And . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Do you feel  any regret?  Just  a t  a level  

of  a human being as to effect ively her career was wrecked at  
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Denel .   I t  is effect ively what she was saying to the Chairman 

last  t ime.  Took some months to t ry and manoeuvre her  

f inancial  s i tuat ion so that  she could be at  a point  that  she 

could actual ly leave,  tota l ly demoral ised and heartbroken,  

effect ive ly.    

MR BURGER :    Yes,  Chair  . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And again you say:   Wel l ,  I  d id not  

real ise i t  at  the t ime.   There is  a lo t  you are rather naïve in,  

to put  i t  mi ld ly.   Seem not  have real ised at  the t ime.  

MR BURGER :    Yes,  Chai r.   Having looked at  her and seeing 10 

what she has gone through of  course I  fee l  deep ly  moved.   

I f  one takes cogn isance o f  my own a f f idav i t  and the  

c i rcumstances in  wh ich  I  le f t  Dene l  I  can t ru l y  sympath i se  

w i th  her.   My s i tua t ion  was very  s im i la r  so  I  can rea l l y  

sympath ise  w i th  he r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Was i t  rea l l y  s im i la r,  Mr  Burger?  

MR BURGER:    Say aga in?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Was i t  rea l l y  s im i la r?   You breached  

the  procurement  po l i cy  in  impor tan t  respects  desp i te  the 

fac t  tha t  she was te l l ing  you do not  b reach the  20 

procurement  po l i cy?   I s  tha t  t ru l y  s im i la r?   Who was r i gh t  

and who was wrong?  

MR BURGER:    She was cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.  

MR BURGER:    Bu t  …[ in tervenes]  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:    So  are  you p lay ing  the  v ic t im then,  

you say we l l ,  poo r  her  because poor  me.   That  i s  

e f fec t i ve l y  what  you seem to  be  say ing .  

MR BURGER:    No.   No,  Cha i r,  Mr  Kennedy i s  lay ing  words 

in  my mouth .   I  am say ing  I  can sympath ise  w i th  her  

because I  had a  scenar io  tha t  ove r  years  respons ib i l i t i es ,  

accountab i l i t i es  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Hang on,  Mr  Burger.   I f  sympath is ing  

w i th  her  i s  impor tan t  to  ment ion  you can dea l  w i th  i t  la te r,  I  

th ink  Mr  Kennedy ’s  quest ion  is  no t  d i rec ted  a t  10 

sympath is ing  or  anyth ing ,  I  th ink  what  h is  quest ion  is  

d i rec ted  a t  say ing ,  knowing what  you know now,  one,  tha t  

you were  par t  o f  those who approved ac t ing  in  b reach o f  

the  po l i cy  desp i te  her  mak ing  i t  very  c lear  to  a l l  o f  you tha t  

th is  wou ld  be  in  breach o f  po l i cy  and even quot ing  what  the  

po l i cy  says and bear ing  in  m ind how you know she must  

have fe l t  a t  the  t ime when a l l  o f  you in  tha t  meet ing  d id  no t  

–  o r  re jec ted  what  she to ld  you and knowing she fe l t  

because you have seen how she was moved to  tears  when 

she was g iv ing  ev idence before  me when tha t  i ssue arose 20 

aga in ,  a re  you ab le  to  say you fee l  tha t  you shou ld  –  or  a l l  

o f  you shou ld  ac tua l l y  apo log ise  to  her  fo r  mak ing  her  fee l  

l i ke  th is  on  someth ing  tha t  a t  leas t  now you see was qu i te  

c lea r  o r  i s  tha t  no t  the  pos i t ion?  I  do  no t  want  you  to  say  

you apo log ise  i f  tha t  i s  no t  you fee l .  
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MR BURGER:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay?  But  what  i s  qu i te  c lea r  and I  

th ink  you acknow ledge tha t  a t  leas t  as  o f  now.   I  w i l l  go  

back to  the  ques t ion  o f  what  your  knowledge o f  the  po l i cy  

a t  the  t ime because I  wanted to  go  back to  tha t  bu t  now 

you acknowledge the  po l i cy  i s  qu i te  c lea r.  

MR BURGER:    I  do ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    The po l i cy  i s  qu i te  c lea r.  

MR BURGER:    I  do ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And you were  par t  o f  those who made a  10 

dec is ion  tha t  was in  b reach o f  the  po l i cy  desp i te  tha t  the 

fac t  tha t  she brought  the  po l i cy  to  your  a t ten t ion  and we 

know how she fe l t  about  th is  because we saw how even 

years  la te r  when she was tes t i f y ing  how she was moved to  

tears  when she was ta lk ing  about  th is .    

What  do  you say  when you now look a t  the  who le  

p ic tu re ,  about  the  fac t  tha t  you were  one o f  those who 

re jec ted  what  you now see was the  r igh t  adv ice  as  to  what  

shou ld  be  done?  

MR BURGER:    Cha i r  …[ in te rvenes ]  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    And bear ing  in  m ind tha t  you were  the  

CEO of  the  d i v is ion .  

MR BURGER:    Cha i r,  I  cannot  take  away the  f rus t ra t ion  

and the  ob jec t i ve  I  wanted to  reach to  have var ious 

supp l ie rs  o f  good competency  de l i ve r ing  w i th  qu i ck  
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tu rna rounds to  Dene l  Land Systems and I  cannot  –  I  cannot  

take  away the  fee l ing  I  had then and I  s t i l l  have today tha t  

a l l  th ings be ing  equa l ,  VR Laser  was a  good company to  

fo rm a  s ing le  source  agreement  w i th .   So tha t  i s  on  the  one 

s ide  on  my emot ion  or  on  my fee l ings .  

 On the  o ther  s ide ,  she was co r rec t .   She was  

cor rec t  tha t  the  mere  fac t  tha t  VR Laser  i s  today bankrupt ,  

does not  ex i s t  anymore ,  i t  was a  bad dec i s ion  in  tak ing  

what  happened up to  now.    

So i f  tha t  dec is ion  was such a  good dec is ion  a t  the  10 

t ime then Dene l  shou ld  be  de l i ver ing  hu l l s  now fo r  a  

month .   That  d id  no t  happen because they a re  bankrupt ,  so  

–  fo r  whatever  reason.   So tha t  emot ion  is  a l so  in  me tha t  

i f  on ly  I  had a  c rys ta l  ba l l  and on ly  I  cou ld  see,  look  in to  

the  fu tu re .   The one th ing  I  can say about  Ms Malah le la ,  I  

had huge respec t  fo r  her,  she was –  her  work  e th ic  was 

ex t remely  h igh  and she –  he r  recommendat ions were  

a lways based on  what  she thought  was the  best  fo r  the 

company.   I ,  however,  a t  the  t ime expected tha t  f rom 

everybody,  no t  jus t  he r,  eve rybody  in  the  d iv is ion .  20 

So,  Cha i r,  I  can  on ly  acknowledge  the  fac t s  a re  the  

fac ts .   The who le  s ing le  source  agreement  and the  who le  

agreement  today  is  a  mess and i t  i s  to  the  de t r iment  o f  

Dene l .   So there fore  she was obv ious ly  cor rec t  in  her  

assessment  and I  acknowledge tha t  bu t  there  was no way  
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a t  the  t ime fo r  us  to  have known tha t ,  so  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  there  was  a  way,  Mr  Burger.   One 

is ,  you read the  po l i cy  o r  she to ld  you –  quoted the  po l i cy  

and you d id  no t  see anyth ing  in  the  po l i cy  tha t  sa id  tha t  

the  Group CEO cou ld  over r ide  the  Group Supp ly  Cha in  

Execut ive ,  i s  i t  no t?  

MR BURGER:    No,  Cha i r,  I  d id  no t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    There  was noth ing  l i ke  tha t .   And you  

were  aware ,  were  you not ,  tha t  in  te rms o f  the  po l i cy,  

genera l l y  speak ing  w i l l  make ru les  and w i l l  a lso  s ta te  10 

where  there  are  to  be  except ions  to  the  ru les ,  were  you  

not?  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    So ,  in  o ther  words,  the  po l i cy  te l l s  you 

th is  i s  the  genera l  ru le  bu t  in  ce r ta in  c i r cumstances you 

can depar t  and i t  te l l s  you i f  you  have got  to  ge t  approva l  

f rom somebody e lse  in  o rder  to  depar t  f rom the  genera l  

ru le ,  i s  i t  no t?   You knew tha t .  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    In  te rms o f  the  po l i cy.  20 

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And in  tak ing  the  v iew tha t  the  Group 

CEO cou ld  ins t ruc t  you to  do  someth ing  in  b reach o f  the 

po l i cy,  you d id  no t  check the  po l i cy  whether  i t  a l lows tha t ,  

d id  you?  
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MR BURGER:    No,  Cha i r,  I  d id  no t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    And tha t  was no r igh t ,  you shou ld  have 

checked,  par t i cu la r ly  because o f  you pos i t ion  as  the  CEO 

of  the  d iv is ion .  

MR BURGER:    No argument ,  I  …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR BURGER:    :You are  r igh t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay.   Mr  Kennedy?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.   May  I  take  

…[ in tervenes]  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Jus t  one las t  po in t  in  regard  to  tha t .   I  

sa id  I  was go ing  to  go  back to  the  quest ion  o f  your  

knowledge o f  the  po l i cy  because I  had a  l i t t le  b i t  o f  some 

concern  because las t  t ime you tes t i f ied  I  th ink  the  idea tha t  

you d id  no t  have  much knowledge  o f  the  po l i cy  seemed to  

loom la rge  in  your  ev idence.   I s  my reco l lec t ion  cor rec t?   

To  a  very  la rge  ex ten t  you seem to  be  say ing ,  you know,  I  

am not  a  supp ly  cha in  management  po l i cy  person.  

MR BURGER:    Ja .   Cha i r,  I  unders tand tha t  when you are  

CEO of  a  d iv is ion  o f  a  company,  want  to  know what  i s  in  20 

the  po l i c i es  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  tha t  i s  what  I  wanted to  come to ,  

tha t  one o f  your  du t ies  must  be  to  upho ld  the  po l i cy  o f  the  

company.  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  
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CHAIRPERSON:    And i f  you are  ser ious about  your  du t ies  

as  CEO you a re  go ing  to  make su re  tha t  each t ime  you are  

go ing  to  make sure  tha t  you know the  po l i cy  as  much as  

poss ib le  and where  you are  no t  su re  you w i l l  consu l t  i t  and  

where  you are  no t  su re  you cou ld  even ask fo r  lega l  

adv ice ,  i s  i t  no t?  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And none o f  th is  was done.  

MR BURGER:    No,  Cha i r,  i t  was not  bu t  I  know tha t  shou ld  

be  case,  one shou ld  s tudy the  po l i c ies  and one shou ld  10 

know the  po l i c ies .   These po l i c ies ,  th is  spec i f i c  po l i cy  a l so  

changed every  so  o f ten  and I  was rea l l y  f ocused on  

growing the  bu rns  un i t  and not  t ry  –  and not  be ing   

bureaucra t  and mak ing  sure  tha t  a l l  po l i c ies  be ing  adhered 

to ,  I  was –  a t  the  t ime I  was focus ing  on  grow ing the  

bus iness,  hav ing  meet ings w i th  the  c l ien ts  and I  was away  

a  lo t  o f  t imes f rom the  company t rave l l ing  ab road.   So i t  i s  

a  m is take,  i t  i s  a  fau l t  on  my s ide  bu t  tha t  was what  the  

s i tua t ion  was a t  the  t ime.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Mr  Kennedy?  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.   Cha i r,  may I  now 

ask the  w i tness to  tu rn  to  page 824?  

CHAIRPERSON:    What  page?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:     824.  

CHAIRPERSON:    X24?  



24 NOVEMBER 2020 – DAY 311 
 

Page 51 of 139 
 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    824.  

CHAIRPERSON:    824,  okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    824,  cor rec t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  thank you.   I s  tha t  the  – wh ich  

bund le ,  the  one we are  us ing  a t  the  moment?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes,  the  same bund le  1 .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  a l r igh t ,  824.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now th is  i s  a  memorandum tha t  was 

sent  by  Ms Malah le la  to  Mr  Denn is  Mlambo,  the  supp ly  

cha in  execut ive  a t  Dene l  head o f f i ce  leve l ,  da ted  the  29  10 

October  2015,  co r rec t?  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And tha t  was  sent  on  the  ins t ruc t ions 

o f  Exco.  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Fo l lowing on the  meet ing  he ld  jus t  

be fore  th is  memo was sent .  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    The one  we jus t  looked  a t  the 

m inutes ,  cor rec t?  20 

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.   And you w i l l  have heard  f rom 

Ms Malah le la ’s  ev idence tha t  she compl ied  w i th  the  

ins t ruc t ion  a l though w i th  some misg i v ings and she  sa id  a t  

the  top  o f  page 825:  
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“ I  request  permiss ion  to  imp lement  the  Exco  

dec is ion  in  th is  regard . ”  

Now tha t  was the  major i t y  dec i s ion  taken by  you and your  

co l leagues on the  Exco desp i te  t he  d i sagreement  o f  Ms 

Malah le la  .  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t .  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now o f  course  we have seen in  th i s  

memorandum tha t  has been dea l t  w i th  a t  some length  by  10 

Ms Malah le la   and Mr  Mlambo tha t  she has re fer red  to  the  

prev ious i nd ica t ion  by  the  Group  Supp ly  Cha in  Execut ive  

tha t  p roducts  such as  these shou ld  be  sourced in -house 

un less  there  was  a  good reason to  depar t  f rom th is .   And 

then in  the  second paragraph she ac tua l l y  quotes  the  

Group Supp ly  Cha in  po l i cy ,  the  very  same quota t i on  tha t  

she had g i ven in  the  ea r l ie r  document  tha t  we have looked  

a t  tha t  i t  has  to  be  approved by  the  GCSE i f  you are  go ing  

outs ide  the  group  and he or  she as  the  GCSE can on ly  g ive  

such a  dec is ion  based on sound bus iness reasons.  20 

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    So  she was a le r t ing  h im to  tha t  and  

then she says in  the  th i rd  paragraph on page 824 tha t  DLS 

in  fac t  had a l ready s igned.   Th is  i s  in  May,  so  tha t  was f i ve  

months  ear l ie r,  DLS had s igned an MOA wi th  VR Laser  fo r  
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the  scope o f  work .   I t  then re fe rs  to  the  BBBEE credent ia l s  

and i t  re fe rs  a l so  to  p rov i s ions o f  the  MOA re la t ing  to  

p r ices  be ing  market - re la ted ,  e tce tera .   And then she says,  

the  las t  parag raph on page 824:  

“Due to  these con t rad ic t ing  pos i t ions…” 

I f  I  m igh t  s top  fo r  a  moment ,  tha t  i s  a  cont rad i c t ion  

be tween the  ag reement  and the  supp ly  cha in  po l i cy,  

cor rec t?   I s  tha t  what  you unders tand?  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    “…supp ly  cha in  approached DLS  10 

Exco  

to  make a  dec i s ion  as  to  whether  to  honour  the  

MOA and p laced the  order  on  VR Laser  o r  to  fo l low 

the  supp ly  cha in  po l i cy  and procure  f rom in te r -

g roup namely  DVS or  LMT for  th i s  p ro jec t .   G iven 

the  t imef rame,  u rgency and h is to ry,  Exco has  

recommended tha t  the  work  be  done by  VR Laser. ”  

And then she conc ludes w i th  the  passage I  have  a l ready  

read.   And o f  course  we know tha t  Mr  Mlambo re fused to  

g ive  the  approva l  tha t  she was request ing  here  on  beha l f  20 

o f  Exco and we see h is  handwr i t ten  no te  under  the  b lank 

area where  i t  says  approva l ,  he  re fused to  s ign  i t  and then 

says in  h is  handwr i t ten  words:  

“NB DVS and LMT must  submi t  p roo f  tha t  they  

cannot  meet  the  requ i rements  pr i o r  to  the  cont rac t  
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be ing  awarded to  VR Laser. ”  

He then s igns i t .   Now tha t  was then ove r ru led  la te r  by  Mr  

Ntshepe as  Group CEO or  perhaps Act ing  Group CEO as 

he then was,  co r rec t?  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t .   Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now tha t  was somet ime la te r.   What  

happened before  Mr  Ntshepe s igned,  as  we see here ,  to  

say he  has approved,  in  o ther  words he  has approved the  

s tance o f  you r  Exco tha t  you must  honour  the  MOA wi th  VR 

Laser.   Someth ing  e lse  happened and  tha t  was you 10 

a t tempted to  pe rsuade Mr  Mlambo to  g ive  h is  approva l ,  i s  

tha t  r igh t?  

MR BURGER:    I f  you  say so ,  Cha i r.    

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Wel l ,  I  do  no t  want  to  invent  

anyth ing .   To  be  fa i r  to  you,  le t  me take you to  page 837.   

I f  you  cannot  reca l l ,  th is  may jog  your  memory.   837,  i t  i s  

jus t  a  few pages fu r ther  on .   Now tha t  i s  a  le t te r  f rom you  

on the  Dene l  Land Systems le t te rhead and we see  in  very  

smal l  p r i n t  the  da te  i s  the  29  Apr i l  2016  Do you see  tha t?  

MR BURGER:    Yes,  Cha i r.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And tha t  i s  in  fac t  a  le t te r  tha t  came 

f rom you.   I s  tha t  you name and s ignature  on  page 838?   

Cor rec t .  

MR BURGER:    Yes,  tha t  i s  my name.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now th is  i s  what  you say  in  your  
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le t te r :  

“F i rs t l y,  thank you fo r  the  const ruc t i ve  meet ing  he ld  

a t  DCO wi th  Mr  Odwa Mhlwana and yourse l f  on  the  

28  Apr i l  2016. ”  

So tha t  was a  meet ing  you a t tended,  i s  i t? 

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    “ I  con f i rm my d iscuss ion  tha t  a  s ing le   

source  supp l ie r  agreement  here ina f te r  re fe r red  to  

as  the  MOA was entered i n to  w i th  VR Laser  on  19  

May 2015 pu rsuant  to  a  mot iva t ion  be ing  submi t ted  10 

to  DCO.   The mot iva t ion  was recommended fo r  

approva l  by  bo th  the  Group Execut ive  Bus iness  

Deve lopment  Mr  Zwelakhe Ntshepe and the  Group  

Ch ie f  Opera t ions Off i cer,  Mr  Johan Wesse ls ,  

whereupon i t  was approved by  the  Group CEO a t  

the  t ime,  namely  Mr  R iaz  Sa loo jee .   The approva l  

by  the  Group CEO of  VR Laser  as  a  s ing le  source  

supp l ie r  i s  in  accordance w i th  regu la t ion  16A 6 .4  o f  

the  Nat iona l  Treasury  Regu la t ions 2005.   Copy o f  

the  approva l  da ted  22 Apr i l  2015 ,  the  s igned MOA 20 

and the  app l i cab le  Nat iona l  Treasury  Regu la t ion  is  

a t tached marked A ,  B  and C respect ive ly. ”  

Now you have ind ica ted  tha t  a round th is  t ime you were  no t  

fu l l y  knowledgeab le  about  the  law re la t ing  to  pub l i c  

p rocu rement  and  what  exact ly  app l ied ,  whethe r  th is  was  
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lawfu l  and so  fo r th .   May I  suggest  to  you tha t  you seem 

now to  have acqu i red  some know ledge because you a re  

here  re fer r i ng  to  –  whether  your  re fe rence is  co r rec t  o r  no t  

i s  someth ing  Mr  Mlambo dea ls  w i th  la te r  bu t  you cer ta in l y  

here  seem to  know qu i te  a  b i t  about  the  Nat iona l  Treasury  

Regu la t ions,  you  are  in  fac t  quot ing  the  spec i f i c  c lause o f  

the  Regu la t ion  16A 6 .4  o f  the  2005  regu la t ion  and you then 

a t tach  i t .   May I  ask  you where  you got  tha t  knowledge  

f rom,  have you had tha t  a l l  a long or  –  I  see you are  

smi l ing?  Had somebody en l igh tened you,  i s  tha t  you asked  10 

fo r  somebody to  ass is t  you on th is?  

MR BURGER:    Ja .   In  mat te rs  l ike  th is  I  wou ld  no t  have  

the  knowledge,  Cha i r,  and I  s t i l l  do  no t  have the  knowledge 

but  I  am – i f  I  remember  co r rec t l y,  th is  le t te r  in  a l l  

p robab i l i t y  wou ld  have -  I  wou ld  have requested the  head 

o f  lega l  a t  Dene l  Land Systems,  Ms Den ise  Govender  to  

…[ in tervenes]  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Ms Govender?  

MR BURGER:    Ja ,  to  suppor t  …[ in te rvenes]  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    To  ass is t  you  on tha t .  20 

MR BURGER:    To  suppor t  my –  in  a l l  l i ke l ihood,  yes .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.   And le t  us  jus t  ge t  the  contex t  

o f  th is .   We know tha t  Mr  M lambo had been sent  fo r  h is  

approva l  the  recommendat ion  we  looked a t  a  moment  ago  

say ing  tha t  w i l l  you  what  has been  done.   Can you reca l l  i f  
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he  had re jec ted  h is  approva l  a t  the  s tage you had the  

meet ing  w i th  h im and then your  le t te r?   Was he s t i l l  

dec id ing  i t  o r  was i t  a f te r  he  had  put  in  th is  handwr i t ten  

por t ion  on  page 825?  

MR BURGER:    Cha i r,  I  rea l l y  cannot  remember.   What  

surpr i ses  me here ,  th is  le t te r  was  wr i t ten  in  October  2015,  

the  f i rs t  le t te r.   I  cannot  remember  when he wro te  h is  no te .  

I  do  no t  know when Mr  Ntshepe approved i t .   Th is  le t te r  i s  

s ix  months  la te r,  you know,  in  29  Apr i l  2016.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.  10 

MR BURGER:    So  I  can remember  f rus t ra t ion .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.  

MR BURGER:    Lo ts  o f  f rus t ra t ion ,  tha t  I  can remember,  

bu t  …[ in tervenes]  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    On your  par t  o r  on  h i s  pa r t  o r  bo th?  

MR BURGER:    Bo th  probab ly.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Bo th ,  yes .  

MR BURGER:    Bo th  probab ly.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    You knew there  was a  prob lem,  no t  

so?  20 

MR BURGER:    Oh yes,  fo r  sure .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.   Okay,  le t  us  see what  e lse  you  

say in  your  mot iva t ion  fo r  h im to  g ive  approva l .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  I  am sor ry,  Mr  Kennedy,  be fore  you 

proceed.   Mr  Burger,  you say  tha t  th is  re fe rence to  
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Regu la t ion  16A 6 .4  was not  based  on your  knowledge,  you  

spoke to  somebody.  

MR BURGER:    Yes,  my …[ in te rvenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Head o f  the  lega l  depar tment .  

MR BURGER:    Head o f  lega l  suppor ted  me in  wr i t ing  th is  

le t te r,  yes .   I  am pre t ty  conv inced,  I  am not  say ing  hundred  

percent .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja  bu t  I  wou ld  have thought  tha t  i f  you  – 

i t  was not  based on your  knowledge but  based on what  you  

had been adv ised  by  the  head o f  lega l  your  le t te r  wou ld  be  10 

couched in  those te rms to  say I  have been in fo rmed o r  

adv ised by  the  head o f  lega l  tha t  ac tua l l y  i t  i s  Regu la t ion  

b lah ,  b lah ,  b lah ,  tha t  does – you  wou ld  no t  p resent  i t  as  

your  own knowledge because he re  i t  i s  p resented  as  your  

own knowledge,  wou ld  you not  agree?  

MR BURGER:    I  agree,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR BURGER:    You are  r igh t ,  I  agree.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.   Okay,  Mr  Kennedy?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.   And you  d id  no t  20 

re fer  in  your  le t te r  to  the  fac t  tha t  Ms Malah le la  had 

a l ready ra i sed concerns about  noncompl iance w i th  the  

po l i cy,  no t  so?  

MR BURGER:    Ja  …[ in tervenes]  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    On the  cont rary  you were  say ing  th is  



24 NOVEMBER 2020 – DAY 311 
 

Page 59 of 139 
 

can  be done in  te rms o f  the  Nat iona l  Treasury  Regu la t ions.  

MR BURGER:    That  was my impress ion  a t  the  t ime,  yes .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I  see .    Wel l ,  le t  us  car ry  on  a t  the  

foo t  o f  page 837 w i th  what  you sa id  to  Mr  Mlambo.    

“As ind ica ted  dur ing  the  meet ing  and in  te rms o f  the  

abovement ioned approva l…”  

Presumably  the  GCEO’s  approva l  tha t  had a l ready taken  

p lace,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR BURGER:    On the  prev ious –  on  the  October  one?  Are  

you re fer r ing  to  the  October  one?  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I  am look ing  a t  the  le t te r  a t  page 

837.  

MR BURGER:    Yes?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And I  am look ing  a t  your  las t  

parag raph a t  the  foo t  o f  th is  page:  

“As ind ica ted  dur ing  the  meet ing  and in  te rms o f  the  

abovement ioned approva l…”  

What  approva l  were  you re fer r ing  to  there?  I t  seems to  me  

tha t  you were  probab ly  re fe r r ing  to  the  approva l  g iven by  

Mr  Sa loo jee .  20 

MR BURGER:    For  the  s ing le  source  agreement ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.   And then you ca r ry  on :  

“The ra t iona le  fo r  appo in t ing  VR Laser  as  a  so le  

supp l ie r  was based on i n te r  a l ia  the  fo l low ing:  

1 .  I t s  unpara l le led  exper t i se  on  fabr ica t ion  o f  
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complex  eng ineer ing  sys tems wh ich  inc ludes but  

i s  no t  l im i ted  to  tu r re ts ,  ou ter  sh ie lds ,  add on  

armour  and veh ic le  hu l l  s t ruc tures .  

2 .  I t  i s  a  key supp l ie r  and s t ra teg i c  pa r tner  to  DLS.  

3 .  I t  o f fe rs  the  best  va lue  hav ing  i n te r  a l ia  

commi t ted  to  invest  cap i ta l  and resources in  the  

fac i l i t i es  in  o rde r  to  ensure  tha t  the  capab i l i t y  

remains  in tac t  and ava i lab le  to  DLS fo r  m in imum 

per iod  o f  10  years .  

4 .  I t  i s  p repared to  ass i s t  and has  ass i s ted  DLS  10 

w i th  i t s  ob l iga t ions to  fo re ign  ju r isd i c t ions  such  

as  Malays ia  in  t ransfer r ing  sk i l l s  re la t ing  to  i t s  

manufac tur ing  process here ina f te r  re fe r red  to  as  

in te l lec tua l  p roper ty,  IP.  

5 .  I t  p romotes a  b lack  indust r i a l i s t  en t repreneur ia l  

company w i th in  the  de fence indust ry. ”  

Now these are  a l l  reasons why you fe l t  s t rong ly  tha t  VR 

Laser  was somebody good wor th  appo in t ing  no t  so?  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.   But  Mr  Mlambo’s  concern  was 20 

not  so  much as  to  whether  VR Laser  was good a t  i t s  job ,  

Mr  Mlambo’s  concern  was the  supp ly  cha in  management  

po l i cy  says tha t  be fore  we go outs ide  the  group there  has 

to  be  a  good bus iness reason why we go outs ide  the  group,  

no t  i s  the  ou ts ide  supp l ie r  a  good supp l ie r,  bu t  why  can we  
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no t  use  our  in -house supp l ie rs?   Now presumably,  i f  he  had 

been presented w i th  reasons tha t  the  in -house ent i t y  such  

as  LMT and DVS d id  no t  have the  capac i ty,  tha t  wou ld  have 

const i tu ted  a  sound bus iness reason but  none o f  the  

reason you are  pu t t ing  fo rward  here  had anyth ing  to  do  

w i th  tha t ,  no t  so?  You jus t  s imp ly  say VR Laser  a re  great ,  

cor rec t?  

MR BURGER:    I  sa id  VR Laser  i s  g rea t  and we have got  

an  agreement  w i th  them.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   And then you conc lude your  10 

le t te r  a f te r  paragraph 5  on  838:  

“ I t  i s  hereby recommended tha t  the  a t tached  

submiss ions re la t ing  to  the  f i re  compar tment  

modu le  FCM and  the  ou ter  sh ie ld  marked D and C 

respect ive ly  be  sourced w i th  VR Laser  in  

acco rdance w i th  the  te rms and cond i t ions  o f  the  

MOA. ”  

So you unders tood,  as  I  read th i s  le t te r,  you unders tood  

tha t  a l though the re  was an MOA you were  go ing  to  have to  

go  th rough the  process o f  t ry ing  to  persuade Mr  Mlambo to  20 

p lace o rders  under  the  MOA for  these two ca tegor ies  o f  

i tems you wou ld  have to  g ive  h is  approva l ,  no t  so?  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Can you exp la in  why you made no  

a t tempt  to  ac tua l l y  address the  rea l  p rob lem which  is  why 
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you  cou ld  no t  source  them f rom LMT o r  DVS,  I  am not  

ask ing  why you cou ld  no t  source  f rom those,  I  am ask ing  

you why you d id  no t  even ra ise  tha t  po in t  in  you r  le t te r  

because tha t  was  the  po in t  o f  concern  to  h im,  no t  so? 

MR BURGER:    Ja .   Once shou ld  –  the  le t te r  i s  p robab ly  

no t  comple te ,  you are  cor rec t .   The po in t  we wanted to  

ra ise  was we have got  an  agreement  and they are  a  good 

company to  have an agreement  w i th  …[ in tervenes]  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Wel l ,  tha t  you d id  say in  the  le t te r.  

MR BURGER:    Ja .   And tha t  was my main  th rus t  o f  the  10 

le t te r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    That  i s  h i s  on ly  th rus t  o f  h i s  concern ,  

was you have  not  compl ied  w i th  the  supp ly  cha in  

management  po l i cy.   I f  you  want  to  comply  you must  ask  

me,  the  Group Supp ly  Cha in  Execut ive ,  fo r  approva l  as  to  

why we shou ld  no t  g ive  the  cont rac t  to  an  in -house ent i t y  

wh ich  a t  tha t  s tage was LMT and DVS,  cor rec t?  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And to  do  tha t  you have to  sa t is fy  

me,  as  GSCE,  tha t  there  a re  good bus iness reasons fo r  20 

send ing  i t  ou ts ide  the  company.   So a l l  you  have g iven h im  

is  we l l ,  we have done an agreement  w i th  them,  seeming ly  

suggest ing  we l l ,  i f  we have done an agreement  and i t  i s  in  

b reach o f  the  po l i cy  we l l ,  tough.   And second ly,  we l l ,  VR 

Laser  a re  great  guys.  Wi th  respect ,  i t  does not  ac tua l l y  
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add ress a t  a l l  Mr  Mlambo’s  concern  wh ich  seems to  be  to  

be  a  va l id  concern .  

MR BURGER:    You a re  r i gh t  and I  a lso  d id  no t  go  th rough 

the  who le  argument  o f  why …[ in te rvenes]  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    You d id  no t  go  th rough any o f  the  

argument  tha t  Mr  Mlambo had inv i ted  you to  g ive ,  why  

shou ld  you go ou ts ide  the  g roup ent i t ies?   Why shou ld  go  

outs ide?  You d id  no t  address tha t  a t  a l l .  

MR BURGER:    Yes,  I  was t ry ing  t  say,  Cha i r,  the  reason I  

d id  no t  do  tha t  was because I  d id  no t  a lso  wr i te  a  long 10 

s to ry  about  the  DVS was not  a  fabr ica t ion  house.   Yes,  

they d id  make hu l l s  in  the  past  and a lso  the  f rus t ra t ions  

and the  techn ica l  fa i lu res  we had  w i th  o ther  p roducts  we 

p laced on the  LMT,  so  I  d id  no t  go  th rough those 

arguments .   A t  the  t ime when we wro te  the  l e t te r  we 

thought  we w i l l  ge t  approva l  based on those a rguments .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  you  see,  Mr  Burger,  there  may be 

a  concern  here  tha t  maybe we are  see ing  what  may have 

been a  pa t te rn .   Ms Malah le la  ra ises  concerns,  va l id  

concerns,  and she have used he r  concerns tha t  re jec ted  on  20 

what  we a l l  now,  inc lud ing  you ,  accept  were  no t  va l id  

g rounds.   Mr  Mlambo a lso  ra ises  concerns about  

p rocu rement  po l i cy  and there  is  a  long le t te r  f rom you 

wr i t ten  to  you bu t  in  th is  long le t te r  the re  i sn ’ t  a  response 

on i t ,  so  one beg ins  to  say –  excuse me –  one beg ins  to  
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say  how cou ld  i t  be  tha t  such leg i t imate  concerns,  when 

such leg i t imate  concerns were  ra i sed by  cer ta in  i nd iv idua ls  

who were  ve ry  concerned about  ensur ing  tha t  the  po l i cy  o f  

the  company was fo l lowed,  how is  i t  poss ib le  tha t  each  

t ime you d id  no t  see the i r  po in t  o f  v iew.   How is  i t  poss ib le  

tha t  you d id  no t  respond to  the  ac tua l  concern  in  the  case  

o f  Mr  Mlambo,  one beg ins  to  ask  tha t  quest ion .    

 Do you want  to  say someth ing?  

MR BURGER:    Cha i r  I  cannot  a rgue w i th  you,  the  long  and  

the  shor t  was the re  were  d i f fe ren t  camps.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR BURGER:   And Ms Malah le la  and Mr  Mlambo both  fe l t  

tha t  V  R Laser  was not  the  r igh t  company to  p lace  an orde r  

on .   I  have to  qua l i f y  what  I  am say ing  now,  Ms Malah le la  

s t i l l  suppor ted  V  R Laser  in  the  ear ly  days,  in  2014 to  the  

m idd le  o f  2015,  i t  then changed and i t  was c lear  t ha t  Mr  

Mlambo was not  in  suppor t  o f  VR Laser  do ing  bus iness fo r  

a l l  the  reasons g i ven.   The op in ion  I  had a t  the  t ime i t  had 

more  to  do  w i th  what ’s  go ing  on  in  the  pub l i c  domain  than 

what  the i r  capab i l i t y  was and never  cou ld  anybody say they  20 

are  no t  good a t  what  they are  do ing .   Everybody agreed  

they were  good a t  what  they were  do ing .  

 So there  were  d i f fe ren t  schoo ls  o f  thought  and f rom 

my perspect ive  I  thought  i t  was a  good idea and there fo re  I  

suppor ted  i t .   In  h inds igh t  you are  abso lu te ly  r igh t ,  I  shou ld  
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have wr i t ten  a  le t te r  tha t  i s  more  w ise ,  the  r i sk  o f  do ing  

tha t  and was –  i f  I  wr i te  a  mot iva t ion  le t te r  because o f  a l l  

these po l i cy  reasons and a l l  these  governance reasons i t  i s  

be t te r  to  go  to  LNT than or  to  DBS than to  VR Laser,  I  am 

sure  tha t  he  w i l l  no t  suppor t  the  idea.   I  knew what  h is  

pos i t ion  was,  i t  was not  a  surp r ise  to  me,  I  knew what  h is  

pos i t ion  was and there fo re  I  t r ied  to  pu t  the  re levant  i ssues  

on the  emai l ,  bu t  in  h inds igh t  Cha i r  yes ,  I  mean 

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    So you –  f rom what  you are  say ing  i t  10 

seems you are  say ing  to  me maybe the  reason why your  

le t te r  d idn ’ t  address h is  s ta ted  concern  was because you 

may have been t ry ing  to  address no t  h is  s ta ted  concerns 

bu t  what  you be l i eved was h im be ing  aga ins t  VR Laser?  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  bu t  no t  the  po in t  tha t  he  had  ra ised 

because he d idn ’ t  ra ise  the  mer i ts  as  i t  were ,  i t  was the  

process.  

MR BURGER;    Correc t  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    And one wou ld  have expected tha t  a t  a  20 

leve l  a t  wh ich  a l l  o f  you coopera ted  a l l  o f  you wou ld  have  

known inc lud ing  yourse l f  the  d i f fe rence between the 

process and the  mer i t s  o f  a  par t i cu la r  supp l ie r,  to  say when 

the  ob jec t ion  is  to  the  process le t ’s  address the  process.    

You can ’ t  say  le t ’s  b reach the  process because the  
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supp l ie r  i s  such a  good supp l ie r.   I t  doesn ’ t  work  l i ke  tha t ,  

the  process is  there  and you on ly  depar t  f rom i t  i f  the  

po l i cy  a l lows you to  depar t  f rom i t?  

MR BURGER:   Correc t  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  Mr  Kennedy?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you  Cha i r.   I  want  to  p ick  up  

w i th  someth ing  you sa id  a  l i t t le  ear l ie r  and tha t  i s  tha t  you 

were  aware  o f  the  sens i t i v i t y  a r is ing  f rom the  med ia  

cont roversy  concern ing  Dene l ’s  do ing  bus iness w i th  VR 

Laser  and the i r  l i nks  w i th  the  Guptas .   Now i f  i t  i s  t rue  10 

what  you have sa id  in  your  a f f idav i t  repeated ly  tha t  you  

were  aware  tha t  the  Guptas  were  l inked w i th  th is ,  you were  

aware  tha t  there  was th is  cont roversy  bu t  to  l ink  you w i th  

any wrongdo ing  is  jus t  comple te l y  inappropr ia te ,  because  

you were  s imp ly  t ry ing  to  do  your  job ,  ob jec t i ve ly  and  

honest ly  in  the  in te res t  o f  Dene l .  

 Sure l y  i t  wou ld  have made sense fo r  you,  espec ia l l y  

when Ms Malah le la  and then a t  Group Leve l  Mr  Mlambo 

had both  ra ised  repeated ly  rea l  concerns abou t  non-

compl iance w i th  p rocurement  p rocedures,  i t  wou ld  have  20 

been a t  leas t  exped ien t  and sens ib le  fo r  you to  say I  th ink  

I  need to  p ro tec t  myse l f  to  make abso lu te l y  su re  because  

th is  i s  someth ing  tha t  cou ld  we l l  backf i re .   The spot l igh t  o f  

the  med ia  and the  pub l i c  and poss ib ly  cour ts ,  and poss ib ly  

commiss ions in  t he  fu tu re  may be look ing  a t  a l l  o f  th is  
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because there  is  so  much cont roversy,  I  be t te r  make sure  

tha t  I  am squeaky  c lean on th is ,  and ye t  you go aga ins t  the  

gu idance,  the  ve ry  s t rong adv i ce  o f  the  two exper ts ,  the  

one in  your  d iv is ion  who was par t  o f  your  own personne l  as  

we l l  as  above you a t  Head Off i ce ,  and you seem to  have  

jus t  thought  we l l  I  can  ignore  what  they say,  i sn ’ t  tha t  

rea l l y  what  you were  do ing?  

MR BURGER:     No Cha i r  I  have to  repeat  the  t ime when 

th is  became pub l ic  knowledge and  became a  rea l  p rob lem 

was more  or  less  around when th is  le t te r  was wr i t ten .  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Exact ly.  

MR BURGER:    I t  wasn ’ t  p r io r  to  tha t  so  much in  our  faces.   

So i t  was on ly  la te r  on  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I  am sor ry  I  am not  su re  i f  I  

unders tand your  ear l ie r  ev idence.   You ra ised the  concern  

about  the  med ia  cont roversy  in  the  contex t  o f  the  ear l ie r  

memorandum f rom Ms Malah le la  tha t  we looked a t  some 

t ime back,  no t  th is  co r respondence between you and Mr  

Mlambo’s  l a tes t  Apr i l  2016,  you in  fac t  gave ev idence tha t  

you be l ieve  i t  was in  the  la t te r  par t  o f  2015 tha t  med ia  20 

cont roversy  was becoming so  i n tense and tha t  was  in  the  

contex t  o f  her  mot iva t ion  da ted the  29 t h  o f  October  2015.    

Do you remember  your  ev idence tha t  was tha t  

. . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR BURGER:   No cor rec t ion ,  cor rec t ion  Cha i r.    I t  i s  t rue  



24 NOVEMBER 2020 – DAY 311 
 

Page 68 of 139 
 

tha t  we became knowledgeab le  about  the  press  s i tua t ion  I  

cannot  reca l l  say ing  i t  became in tense a t  the  end o f  2015,  

bu t  I  do  reca l l  a round midd le  o f  2016 i t  s ta r ted  ge t t ing  

in tense but  I  knew about  i t  a t  the  end o f  2015,  yes  I  d id ,  

bu t  i t  wasn ’ t  in tense a t  tha t  s tage.      

ADV KENNEDY SC:    The po in t  remains  though whether  i t  

was in tense or  pa le ,  whether  i t  was l igh t  o r  heavy in tens i ty  

you were  aware  a t  th is  t ime  tha t  the  med ia  were  

sc ru t in is ing  in  the  pub l i c  domain  w i th  some measure  o f  rea l  

in te res t ,  in  fac t  you suggested  tha t  they wen t  rea l l y  10 

overboard  w i th  exaggera t ing  and d is to r t ing  the  fac ts  and 

so  fo r th .   Sure l y  your  –  a la rm be l l s  shou ld  have been  

r ing ing ,  I  be ing  the  CEO of  a  Sta te  Owned Corpora t ion  

must  make su re  tha t  my opera t ions are  squeaky c lean in  

comply ing  w i th  lega l  requ i rements ,  and he re  you a re  tw ice  

to ld  by  supp ly  cha in  o f f i c ia l s ,  Ms Maleh le la  and  Mr  Mlambo 

you cannot  do  th is  and you  have been te l l ing  the  

Cha i rperson as  I  unders tand i t  we l l  you thought  you cou ld  

do  i t ,  they  were  te l l ing  you,  you can ’ t  do  tha t  and s t i l l  you 

went  on  ahead  and now you  acknowledge to  the 20 

Cha i rperson w i th  the  benef i t  o f  h inds igh t  you know what  

they were  r igh t  a l l  a long.   I t  i s  jus t  a  myst i f y ing ,  can you  

perhaps exp la in?    

MR BURGER:    Cha i r,  and I  am runn ing  a  b ig  r i sk  o f  

repeat ing  myse l f ,  wh ich  I  don ’ t  want  to  do ,  bu t  we went  
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th rough a  process where in  the  h ighest  au thor i t y  in  the  

company suppor ted  th is ,  gave ins t ruc t ions to  do  th is  and 

fo r  a l l  the  reasons I  had g i ven we thought  i t  was  a  good  

idea and we a lso  had the  scenar io  wh ich  I  exp la ined about  

the  press  ar t i c les  in  Ind ia  where  s ing le  ar t i c les  can  rea l l y  

in f luence the  fu tu re  o f  a  company and I  d id  s ta te  ear l ie r  

tha t  tha t  made me rea l i se  tha t  I  shou ld  no t  pay too  much  

a t ten t ion  to  what  i s  go ing  on  in  the  press ,  and tha t  we  

shou ld  do  what  i s  the  best  fo r  the  company and I  have t r ied  

to  do  tha t .  10 

 Yes,  bo th  Mr  Mlambo and Ms Malah le la  d id  ra ise  

the i r  concerns bu t  th is  was a t  a  la te r  s tage a f te r  the  

agreement  was s igned,  so  I  had an opt ion ,  I  had an opt ion  

to  cance l  the  agreement  based  on the  med ia  and Ms  

Malah le la  and Mr  Mlambo or  make  sure  tha t  i t  i s  suppor ted  

by  Dene l  and as  I  sa id  on  numerous occas ions the  who le  

med ia  coverage was not  done on  a  d iv is iona l  leve l  o r  the  

image o f  the  company,  tha t  was  done by  corpora te  and I  

sa id  we have he re  a  va l id  agreement ,  I  am not  sure  on  

what  bas i s  I  wou ld  have cance l led  i t ,  and fo r  tha t  reason I  20 

suppor ted  the  ag reement ,  tha t  i t  was a  va l id  ag reement .    

In  my l i fe  in  Dene l  I  a lways thought  Dene l  employees were  

very  good a t  the  in i t ia l  s tages o f  par tne r ing  w i th  peop le ,  i t  

–  and my op in ion  was a lways  tha t  ear l y  s tages o f  

par tnersh ip  was a  good t ime,  bu t  when the  go ing  got  tough 
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Dene l  d idn ’ t  a lways honour  the i r  commi tments  to  the i r  

par tners  and I  wanted to  make  sure  tha t  i f  we  have a  

par tnersh ip  agreement  w i th  somebody tha t  we do our  b i t  to  

upho ld  the  agreement ,  so  tha t  was in  my mind a lways,  I  

never  eve r,  and I  say  th is  aga in ,  thought  tha t  there  was a 

conf l i c t  w i th  the  law,  tha t  never  passed by  –  I  was under  

the  impress ion  th is  was suppor ted  by  the  group,  the re  were  

peop le  bo th  Ms  Malah le la  and Mr  Mlambo tha t  d id  no t  

suppor t  i t  and there fo re  I  w ro te  these le t te rs  to  say  p lease  

approve i t  and i f  i t  i s  no t  approved then h igher  au thor i t y  10 

must  take  the  dec is ion .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I  wou ld  l i ke  to  p ick  up  on one po in t  

tha t  made you,  tha t  h igher  au thor i t y  approved i t ,  and i t  i s  

so  tha t  Mr  Sa loo jee  s igned i t  bu t  the  Cha i rperson  has a l l  

the  ev idence before  h im as to  wh ich  ve rs ion  app l ies  to  

wh ich  w i tness,  bu t  o f  course  Mr  Sa loo jee ’s  a t t i tude has 

been we l l  I  wasn ’ t  a le r ted  by  Mr  Burger  about  i ssues 

re la t ing  to  non-compl iance w i th  these supp ly  cha in  

management  po l i cy,  so  I  assumed tha t  he  was do ing  the  

r igh t  th ing .   He was the  one who was push ing  me reso lu te l y  20 

to  exped i te  the  approva l  and s igna ture  o f  th is  p rocess.  

 You on the  o ther  hand say we l l  I  thought  tha t  

a l though I  knew Malah le la  and Mlambo were  aga ins t  th is  

on  the  bas i s  tha t  there  breaches o f  the  supp ly  cha in  

management  po l i cy  I  in  my w isdom thought  no  they are  
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ac tua l l y  wrong and we l l  i t  shou ld  be  f ine  because the  

Group CEO has been persuaded to  s ign  so  obv ious l y  he  

must  be  happy.    I t  jus t  seems i t  i s  sor t  o f  pass ing  the  buck  

back and fo r th  i sn ’ t  i t  Mr  Burger?  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ion  Cha i r,  the  Group CEO was not  

persuaded to  s ign  the  ag reement ,  he  gave me ins t ruc t ion  

to  s ign  i t  and a l l  the  ev idence w i th  suppor t ing  

documenta t ion  is  there  to  p rove tha t  he  gave me 

ins t ruc t ion  to  do  tha t ,  so  i t  was f rom tha t  perspect ive .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Do you a t  leas t  accept  th is  Mr  10 

Burger,  aga in  w i th  the  benef i t  o f  h inds igh t ,  wh ich  as  they  

say a lways g ives  you 20/20 v i s ion ,  tha t  i t  i s  no t  par t i cu la r ly  

surpr i s ing  tha t  where  you went  in to  a  cont rac t ,  one o f  th ree  

cont rac ts  w i th in  the  Dene l  Group,  two o f  wh ich  you were  

ac t ive ly  invo lved  in ,  you went  in  knowing tha t  you were  

do ing  bus iness w i th  VR Laser,  tha t  has had good t rack  

record  and i t s  p rev ious owners  had recent ly  been acqu i red  

by  Gupta  Assoc ia tes ,  i t  was par t  o f  the  Gupta  Group,  

where  you knew tha t  there  was p ress ,  med ia  cont roversy  

and so  fo r th ,  and where  there  had been quest ions  ra ised  20 

subsequent ly  as  t o  compl iance w i th  the  co r rec t  p rocesses.    

 Now isn ’ t  i t  someth ing  to  be  expected by  you as  a  

CEO look ing  no t  on ly  to  mak ing  the  best  bus iness dec i s ion  

bu t  one wh ich  as  par t  o f  be ing  the  best  bus iness dec is ion  

shou ld  take  in to  account  in  i t s  p ro tec t ion  reputa t ion ,  avo id  
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reputa t iona l  damage and the  Commiss ion  has heard  

cons iderab le  ev idence f rom va r ious w i tnesses as  to  the  

te r r ib le  damage tha t  has been done on – to  Dene l  and i t s  

ab i l i t y  to  t rade,  t rade successfu l l y,  exp lo i ted  oppor tun i t ies  

tha t  a re  o therw ise  ava i lab le  to  i t .   There  has been 

devasta t ing  impact  on  Dene l ’s  image and tha t  la rge l y  

a r ises  –  so  the  ev idence has been ,  and your  own ev idence  

seems to  be  to  th is  ex ten t  as  we l l  tha t  there  has been huge  

cont roversy  in  the  med ia  and in  the  pub l i c  domain  about  

the  l inks  be tween Dene l  and VR Laser  and i t s  l inks  w i th  10 

the  Guptas .   I t  jus t  seems in  re t rospect  perhaps you can 

accept  tha t  i t  makes sense the  peop le  are  wonder ing  how 

d id  you g i ve  a  cont rac t  l i ke  th is  to  VR Laser  in  the  f i rs t  

p lace ,  and how d id  –  why d id  i t  happen tha t  th is  was done 

by  our  own admiss ion  now in  b reach o f  p rocurement  

po l i c ies  by  your  own admiss ion  now in  the  face  o f  spec i f i c  

adv ice  to  the  cont rary  g iven by  your  co l leagues Malah le la  

and Mlambo and  do you accept  tha t  i t  –  there  is  some 

sense to  the  fac t  tha t  peop le  are  ra i s ing  the  sor t  o f  

quest ions tha t  I  am ask ing  you here ,  because i f  i t  was jus t  20 

so  genu ine  and bona f ide  as  your  a f f idav i t  has repeated ly  

t r ied  to  make out  how cou ld  i t  come about  tha t  a t  leas t  two  

cont rac ts  invo l v ing  you were  g i ven to  VR Laser  Serv i ces  

where  by  your  own admiss ion  the re  had been breaches o f  

po l i c ies ,  and you  expect  the  Cha i rperson and the  na t ion  to  
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be l ieve  we l l  tha t  has no th ing  to  do  w i th  the  fac t ,  i t  i s  a  

pure  co inc idence  tha t  th is  happens to  have invo lved Gupta  

assoc ia tes  who have been invo lved accord ing  to  o ther  

ev idence in  numerous o ther  ac ts  o f  cor rup t  and  i l l ega l  

ac t i v i t ies .  

MR BURGER:    I  cannot  specu la te  on  beha l f  o f  cor rup t  and 

i l l ega l  ac t i v i t ies  Cha i r,  what  I  can  say is  tha t  the  pass ion  

and the  be l ie fs  I  had then are  the  pass ion  and be l ie fs  I  s t i l l  

have today.   I  cannot  speak on beha l f  o f  o ther  peop le  and  

on beha l f  o f  the  Guptas ,  I  don ’ t  know them.   The prob lem 10 

here  is  tha t  i t  i s  so  much eas ie r  to  d is tance yourse l f  f rom 

th is  mess and I  wou ld  no t  be  ab le  to  l i ve  w i th  myse l f  to  say 

i t  wasn ’ t  me,  i t  was my boss tha t  ins t ruc ted  me to  do  i t ,  I  

d idn ’ t  want  to  do  i t  bu t  i t  was h im tha t  ins t ruc ted  me and by  

do ing  tha t  c lea r  my name.   I  am t ry ing  to  b r ing  across what  

ac tua l l y  happened and i f  we can take  one l i t t le  s tep  back 

and I  w i l l  cover  bo th  o f  them now for  you.  

 The hu l l s  cont rac t  was not  suppor ted  by  me,  i t  was  

suppor ted  by  everybody in  Dene l  Land Systems,  a l l  the 

sen ior  personne l  and there ’s  emai ls  to  p rove tha t .    The  20 

s ing le  source  agreement  was  suppor ted  by  a l l  the 

execut ives  because they thought  i t  was the  r igh t  th ing  to  

do  a t  the  t ime.    Yes,  Mr  Mlambo and Ms Maleh le la  d id  

ra ise  the  concerns and they d id  say these th ings bu t  a t  the  

t ime when we were  in  the  t renches f igh t ing  the  f igh t  we 
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rea l l y,  we rea l l y  thought  tha t  was the  best  th ing  and  i t  was  

not  my op in ion ,  i t  was the  op in ion  o f  a l l  the  execut ives in  

Dene l  Land Systems.  

 So tha t  i s  the  f i rs t  po in t ,  the  second po in t  i s  look ing  

back Cha i r  i t  i s  a  mess,  the  p lace is  bankrupt  and they are  

no t  p roduc ing  any hea l th  so  obv ious ly  I  w i sh  I  cou ld  tu rn  

back the  c lock  and say le t ’s  t ry  and do i t  in  a  d i f fe ren t  way,  

fo r  su re  I  wou ld  have done tha t .   The one th ing  I  wou ld  

want  to  say however  i s  the  reason  why th is  i s  in  a  mess is  

fo r  whatever  the  reasons and whatever  the i r  assoc ia t ion  by  10 

the  owners  they cou ld  no t  have a  bank account  and they  

are  bankrupt  as  a  resu l t  o f  tha t   

 So too  is  LNT bankrupt  today,  no t  because –  or  in  

bus iness rescue,  no t  because i t  d id  no t  p lace  a  hu l l  

con t rac t  on  i t  bu t  because they  cou ld  no t  execute  the i r  

o rders ,  so  whatever  dec is ion  I  wou ld  have taken  a t  the 

t ime be i t  VR Laser  o r  LNT I  wou ld  s i t  today and say I  am 

sor ry  tha t  I  took  tha t  dec i s ion  i t  wou ld  have been the  wrong  

dec is ion  because  both  ins tances wou ld  no t  have been ab le  

to  p roduce the  hu l l s .   20 

 So w i th  the  benef i t  o f  h inds igh t  Cha i r  I  w ish  I  cou ld  

have i t  d i f fe ren t ly,  I  w ish  I  cou ld  have done i t  d i f fe ren t ly,  

fo r  sure  I  wou ld  have,  bu t  a t  the  t ime I  had a  cer ta in  

op in ion  and I  am re f lec t ing  tha t  op in ion  I  had the  and I  d id  

no t  change my op in ion  f rom then to  now fo r  whatever  
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reasons there  a re ,  I  am say ing  th is  i s  what  ac tua l l y  

happened.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I f  your  op in ion  was tha t  ne i ther  LNT 

nor  DVS had the  capac i ty  and re l iab i l i t y  to  be  ab le  to  

p roduce these i tems why d idn ’ t  you bother  to  say tha t  to  Mr  

Mlambo because tha t  i s  exact ly  what  he  was ask ing  fo r,  he  

was say ing  g ive  me a  good bus iness reason why we can ’ t  

keep th is  work  in -house.  

MR BURGER:    Yes Cha i r  you w i l l  reca l l  tha t  jus t  a  l i t t le  

ear l ie r  I  sent  h im a  very  long emai l  o f  ten  po in ts  o r  10 

someth ing  tha t  I  sa id  LNT cannot  be  t rus ted  to  do  th is  so  

tha t ’s  –  I  d idn ’ t  repeat  i t  aga in .   DVS was in  my mind not  a  

fabr ica t ion  house ,  i t  was a  veh ic le  assembly  p lan t  so  i t  was  

fo r  me a lmost  i r re levant ,  so  yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Le t ’s  look  a t  Mr  Mlambo’s  response 

on page 838.  

MR BURGER:    83?   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    838.   He  says th is  i s  aga in  h is  

handwr i t ten  response ins tead o f  s ign ing  where  i t  says 

approva l  he  ins tead leaves tha t  b lank and s imp ly  wr i tes  in  20 

handwr i t ten  fo rm:  

“NB 1 .  The ev idence on how VR Laser  was se lec ted  

is  no t  ava i lab le  to  suppor t  i t s  appo in tment  as  a  

s ing le  source  supp l ie r.  

2 .  The approva l  p rocess o f  the  MOA exc luded 



24 NOVEMBER 2020 – DAY 311 
 

Page 76 of 139 
 

supp ly  cha in  and the  reasons the reof  have not  been  

fu rn ished. ”  

Now le t  us  s top  there .   That  i s  t rue ,  supp ly  cha in  a t  head  

o f f i ce  leve l  was  never  consu l ted  be fore  the  MOA was 

s igned a t  you r  request  by  Mr  Sa loo jee ,  no t  so?     

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t  and  he is  say ing  s t i l l  th is  i s  

now a lmost  a  year  la te r,  a lmost  to  the  day a  year  la te r,  29 t h  

o f  Apr i l  2016,  the  MOA was s igned I  be l ieve  i t  was  on the  

15 t h  o f  May 2015,  he  says:  10 

“ I  s t i l l  don ’ t  have any reasons why we were  le f t  

ou t . ”  

You have never  g iven those reasons to  h im have  you Mr  

Burger?  

MR BURGER:    No I  haven ’ t  Cha i r,  apar t  f rom say ing  

p lease d i scuss th is  w i th  your  l ine  manager.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And then pa ragraph 3  says:  

“The recommendat ion  is  g iven the  fac t  tha t  Dene l  

Execut ives  commi t ted  the  company to  p lace  o rde rs  

on  VR Laser  fo r  spec i f ied  p roducts  fo r  ten  years  to  20 

have the  same execut ives  approve fu tu re  orders . ”  

Paragraph 4  

“The pa ragraph in  Treasury  Regu la t ions tha t  has 

been c i ted  in  t he  mot iva t ion  memo i s  i r re levan t  

because i t  was not  impract ica l  to  tes t  the  supp ly  
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marke t . ”  

As  I  unders tand i t  tha t  i s  a  re ference to  Treasury  

Regu la t ion  tha t  you have re fer red  to  on  the  prev ious page,  

i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR BURGER:    I  unders tand so  yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Regu la t ion  16  [a ]  6 .4 .   Now as i t  

happens,  can I  ask  you to  tu rn  to  page 719,  as  i t  happens 

Mr  Mlambo,  same bund le ,  has fo r  t he  conven ience o f  a l l  o f  

us  in  h is  a f f idav i t  quoted the  t reasury  regu la t ion .   719,  

parag raph 6 .16 ,  th is  i s  what  Mr  Mlambo says:  10 

“Dea l ing  w i th  your  submiss ion  to  h im he says the  

submiss ion  fu r ther  s ta tes  tha t  VR Laser  Serv ices  

was appo in ted  as  a  s ing le  source  supp l ie r  in  

acco rdance w i th  Regu la t ion  16 [a ]  6 .4 o f  the  

Nat iona l  Treasury  Regu la t ions 2005. ”  

Which  reads as  fo l lows:  

“ I f  in  a  spec i f i c  case i t  i s  impract ica l  to  inv i te  

compet i t i ve  b ids  the  Account ing  Off i ce r  o r  

Account ing  Author i t y  may procu re  the  requ i red  

goods or  serv ices  by  o ther  means  prov ided tha t  the  20 

reasons fo r  dev ia t ing  f rom compet i t i ve  b ids must  be  

recorded and approved by  the  account ing  o f f i cer  o r  

account ing  au tho r i t y. ”  

Now h i s  response to  your  po in t  go ing  back to  page 838 

says tha t  th is  paragraph has no  bear ing  on  the  mat te r  
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because i t  wasn ’ t  impract ica l  to  inv i te  o ther  compet i t i ve  

b ids .    In  fac t  he  says in  h is  pa rag raph 6 .17 :  

“ I  be l ieve  the  Nat iona l  Treasury  regu la t ions were  

app l ied  incor rec t l y.   In  the  case o f  DLS there  was 

no need fo r  a  dev ia t ion  request  because the re  was  

no emergency invo l ved.   In  ins tances where  there  

was no emergency DLS was supposed to  go  ou t  to  

the  market  to  es tab l i sh  i f  there  was no o ther  

company apar t  f rom VR Laser  tha t  had the  requ is i te  

capab i l i t y  and capac i ty,  tha t  p rocess was not  10 

car r ied  ou t .   I f  a t  the  t ime o f  approva l  the  MOA i t  

was brought  to  my o f f i ce  I  wou ld  d isag reed w i th  the  

ra t iona le  beh ind  the  MOA and re jec ted  i t . ”  

Now Mr  Burger  aga in  you accep t  tha t  Mr  Mlambo was 

ac t ing  in  good fa i th?  

MR BURGER:    Yes I  do .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And you accept  tha t  tha t  was  par t  o f  

h is  du t ies  to  h igh l igh t  i f  there  were  any breaches o f  the 

procu rement  po l i cy?  

MR BURGER:    I  abso lu te l y  do  yes  Cha i r.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes,  now what  d id  you do in  

response to  h is  response tha t  we have jus t  seen? 

MR BURGER:    Sor ry  Cha i r  I  say  aga in  tha t  there  were  

d i f fe rences o f  op in ion .   I t  wou ld  have been my 

unders tand ing  because what  he  is  say ing  i s  cance l  the  
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agreement  w i th  VR Laser.   I t  wou ld  have . . . [ in te rvenes]   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    He does  not  ac tua l l y  say  tha t  

express ly  in  h i s  words.   D id  he  say tha t  in  the  meet ing?  

MR BURGER:    No he is  say ing  tha t  i t  i s  no t  in  –  what  you 

read now the  agreement  i s  no t  rea l l y  va l id ,  shou ld  no t  be  

va l id .    So –  and there  was a  d i f fe rence o f  op in ion  as  I  sa id  

be fore ,  so  f rom my perspect ive  i f  he  was – i f  he  fe l t  so  

s t rong ly  t hen as  he  is  fee l ing  today I  wou ld  have expected,  

because he was on a l l  the  emai ls  tha t  came f rom VR Laser  

fo r  la te  payment  o r  non-payment  he  was a lso  cop ied ,  I  10 

wou ld  have a l so  expected h im to  ra ise  th i s  i ssue w i th  my – 

w i th  h is  bosses to  say we have go t  a  d i lemma here ,  th is  i s  

a  p rob lem,  I  suggest  we do the  fo l low ing,  go  in to 

negot ia t ions  w i th  VR Laser,  te l l  them tha t  tha t  ag reement  

i s  no t  va l id ,  le t  us  t ry  and get  i t  beh ind  us  and le t ’s  do  i t ,  

p roper  governance.   I  would have expected that  to happen.   

That  never happened.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I t  is not  a bi t  unfai r  on Mr Mlambo and 

a copout on your  part  Mr Burger?  Why point  a f inger of  

blame at  Mr Mlambo?  Mr Mlambo was also emot ional ;  he 20 

was not  brought to tears but  you could see he was very 

emot ional  in his evidence too.    

And he gave evidence that  he acted in a part icular 

way as he did and ul t imately  he too was demoral ised to the 

extent  that  he then gave up an otherwise very impressive 
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career at  Denel .   Why cr i t ic ise him?  My quest ions are 

di rected at  you.   You are si t t ing in th is wi tness box.   Now 

you say there was a d i fference of  op inion.  

MR BURGER:   Correct  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   Now let  us assume for a moment  

that  both of  you were act ing completely in good fai th.   You 

were both act ing honourably and you both had a genuine 

bel ief  in your respect ive opin ions.   My quest ion was that  

el ic i ted your  last  answer where you pointed f inger of  blame 

at  him was why d id you not  respond Mr Mlambo’s response 10 

to you?  So let  us look at  th is di fference of  opinion.   For 

example the Regulat ions – Regulat ion 16.A6.4 of  the 

Nat ional  Treasury Regulat ions that  you had now become 

aware of .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hang on Mr Kennedy I  am sorry to  

interrupt  you.   There is a quest ion you formulated in a 

certain way ear l ier.   I  am very interested in Mr Burger ’s 

answer to that  quest ion.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   What did you do in response to this  – to – 20 

af ter you received Mr Mlambo’s response;  what did you do? 

MR BURGER:   Chair  I  cannot recal l .   I  th ink we had a 

discussion and agreed to probably and I  am guessing now 

probably agreed to disagree.  

CHAIRPERSON:   You… 
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MR BURGER:   But  I  cannot remember what we actual ly did 

about th is.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Obviously having read he – what he sa id at  

page 838 – 838 you real ised that  he was saying that  the 

Treasury Regulat ion on which you rel ied was i rrelevant .   You 

real ise that  that  is  what you are saying.  

MR BURGER:   Correct  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   And one would have expected that  i f  

you were genuinely engaging in  a discussion to t ry  and see 

exact ly what the correct  posi t ion is you would have wanted 10 

to look into that  issue.   Why is he saying i t  is i r re levant  when 

I  be l ieve i t  is relevant?  Is i t  not?   

That  would be the natural  th ing i f  you were real ly 

interested in establ ishing is his point  of  v iew the correct  one 

or is i t  my point  of  v iew that  is correct?  He has now said 

something that  I  was re ly ing on is i r relevant .   You would 

want to look into that ,  is i t  not? 

MR BURGER:   Chai r  I  d id not .  

CHAIRPERSON:   You did not  ja.  

MR BURGER:   I  d id not .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   But  you accept  that  that  is one – that  is  

what one would have expected 

MR BURGER:   Would have expected.  

CHAIRPERSON:   From you i f  – and i t  d id not  happen? 

MR BURGER:   No i t  d id not .  
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CHAIRPERSON:   Why did i t  not  happen because this was – 

i f  h is – i f  h is point  that  that  regulat ion was i rrelevant  was 

val id i t  could have made a big di fference in the view you took 

could i t  not? 

MR BURGER:   I t  could yes Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR BURGER:   I t  probably would have.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   But  why did you not  pursue that  and 

even go and look at  the regulat ion yoursel f  or go back to the 

head of  the legal  department and say,  Mr Mlambo and expert  10 

in Supply Chain Management says this regulat ion you told 

me about is i r re levant  what do you say?  Because i f  he is  

r ight  th is  might  change my whole view.   Why d id you not  go 

to the head of  the legal  department and say that? 

MR BURGER:   Ja.   I  d id not  analyse i t  as you are analysing 

now Chai r.   I t  was for me at  that  t ime and this is – th is is a 

year of  negot iat ing on the – start ing wi th the hul l  contracts 

going through the Single Source Agreement,  go ing through 

these other agreements I  knew very wel l  what  is – what his  

posi t ion was.  He did not  support  the Single Source 20 

Agreement and whi lst  there were many others that  did 

support  the Single Source Agreement.    

I  was not  in my mind equipped enough to have a 

legal  argument wi th him with regards to what is correct  and 

what is not  correct  in PFMA.  The feedback I  got  numerous 
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occasions was that  the PFMA is  somet imes we st rangle 

ourselves too much with the PFMA and there is room for  

more f lex ible decision making wi thin the PFMA.  And for that  

reason I  d id not  even t ry to venture there because I  knew I 

would t ie mysel f  up in knots i f  I  had that .    

And I  a lso stated ear l ier that  – that  he was very 

knowledgeable of  these facts and I  accept  that  and I  – but  at  

the t ime I  can only say what happened was I  – I  got  his 

feedback;  I  – i t  was not  such a big surpr ise to me and i t  

conf i rmed that  he was on the one side and we are on the 10 

other side.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes you see precisely because you 

acknowledge that  he was very knowledgeable on these 

matters.   I t  is precisely because of  that  that  one is surpr ised.  

MR BURGER:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Why you did not  say look this person who 

is very knowledgeable in these matters is saying this  

regulat ion is i r re levant  I  must  therefore take his view very 

ser iously because he may be r ight  or he is probably r ight .   

And – so I  am concerned as to why despi te  you knowing that  20 

this is somebody who is knowledgeable in these matters and 

he could go back to your evidence that  you did not  know 

much maybe about these matters al l  the more reason why 

you would be expected to  take his view very ser iously before 

there is – was any f inal i ty and i f  necessary get  some advice 
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f rom other knowledgeable people.   But  at  least  go back to  

the head of  the legal  department and say,  hang on here is 

Supply Chain Management Guru here says this is i r re levant  

we cannot take us views l ight ly.   Tel l  me why he is wrong?  

You understand that? 

MR BURGER:   I  understand and I  take your point  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Because now I  would expect  that  you 

would agree now that  when you look at  that  regulat ion as he 

has quoted i t  he was r ight ,  was he not? 

MR BURGER:   Yes Chai r.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Mr Kennedy.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  know I  interrupted you but  I  thought you 

had asked an important  quest ion that  needed to be 

answered.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Indeed thank you Chai r.   Mr Burger the 

learned Chairperson asks you why you did not  go to get  

advice and i t  would have made sense.   I f  you had gone and 

got  advice f rom for example as the Chair  has suggested f rom 

the head off ice legal  person and the head off ice legal  person 20 

might  have fel t  wel l  let  us br ing in an at torney or an 

advocate as of ten happens wi th ent i t ies such as this.    

We have internal ly two d i fferent  v iews which one 

legal ly is correct?  We get  object ive independent advice.   I f  

that  had been on your side – i f  the advice f rom Senior 
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Counsel  or whoever or f rom the head of  legal  at  head off ice 

had said,  in fact  Mr Burger is r ight  the regulat ion 16.A6.4 or 

whatever i t  is actual ly did apply here,  Mr Mlambo is r ight  – is 

wrong Burger is r ight .   That  would have vind icated you not  

so? 

MR BURGER:   Correct  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   I t  would have protected you.   I t  

would have made you look good.  I f  on the other hand the 

advice was no Mlambo is correct  and Burger is wrong then 

the advice would have been this is what we need to do about 10 

i t?  At  least  you would have looked good in th is sense that  

you would have been accountable and showing in i t ia t ive and 

saying wel l  we have got  th is di fference of  opinion as you 

have put  i t  to the Chair  a moment ago let  us have somebody 

determine which of  us is r ight  and whoever is found to be 

wrong is then to ld  that  they are wrong and we can then move 

on and take correct ive act ion.   But  here you seem to have 

done nothing.    

May I  ask you Mr Burger what was the point  of  you 

asking Mr Mlambo for approval  i f  when he refuses to give 20 

approval  and gives his reasons for reject ing approval  you 

then do nothing?  Surely there was a problem here.   That  is  

why you were asking for approval .   I f  you fel t  re laxed about  

th is you would not  have asked h im in the f i rst  p lace,  not  so? 

MR BURGER:   I t  is not  about  feel ing relaxed i t  is about  the 
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process dictated that  we should… 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

MR BURGER:   We should get  his approval  for.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes you need – you needed his  

approval .  

MR BURGER:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   You knew that  you needed his approval .  

MR BURGER:   Correct .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Correct? 

MR BURGER:   Correct .  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   You knew why – why did you know that  

you needed his approval? 

MR BURGER:   Because I  know the Delegat ions of  Author i ty.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.   So now he does not  g ive your – 

give you his approval  so do you have a problem?  You now 

know at  least  by now you may not  have known i t  prev iously i f  

in your  lack of  knowledge previously you were not  aware that  

i t  was necessary but  at  least  by now you knew that  i t  was 

necessary that  is why you asked for  i t .   And you put  up some 

reasons and he comes back to you and says,  your reasons 20 

are not  good enough, they are not  relevant  reasons,  they are 

not  persuasive reasons I  am not  go ing to approve i t .   But  you 

do not  do anything to deal  wi th i t .    

Is the answer perhaps not  s imply this that  at  a  

pragmat ic level  the real i ty was the CEO had a lready signed 
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i t?  So i f  Mr Mlambo was saying wel l  th is was done 

improperly,  i r regular ly and he is not  go ing to  approve i t  

where you knew he had to approve i t  wel l  tough we wi l l  just  

carry on.   Was that  – was that  what went on in your mind? 

MR BURGER:   I  stated in my aff idavi t  a couple of  t imes 

Chair  that  I  – I  was f rustrated wi th the decision making at  

group level .   I t  is a f rustrat ion I  cannot hide i t  – i t  was there.   

I  was also f rustrated wi th – wi th in my mind the – the lack of  

guidance and the – and the number of  stumbl ing blocks we 

experienced when we brought th ings l ike this to head off ice.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   So a lack of  guidance by whom? 

MR BURGER:   By people l ike Mr Dennis Mlambo.  So… 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   But  he was giving you guidance.  

MR BURGER:   No I  am saying in general .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    He was not  not  giv ing you guidance he 

was giving you guidance.  

MR BURGER:   I  understand.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Which you just  refused to understand.  

MR BURGER:   But  – but  the – and this was a bui ld-up over a 

long per iod of  t ime.  So to answer your quest ion I  was 20 

f rust rated.   I  do not  take that  feel ing away and i t  was there.   

And maybe there is some truth in  what you saying in the 

back of  my mind I  said I  here you,  I  take note of  what you 

saying but  you know what the document is approved by the 

Group CEO I  wi l l  not  –  I  wi l l  not  place orders wi thout  
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approval  but  I  wi l l  probably take things l ike this to  higher 

levels of  author i ty.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   So you wi l l  not  take approvals wi th – 

sorry orders wi thout  approval ,  is that  what you saying? 

MR BURGER:   No I  am saying we wi l l  – i f  he rejects 

something l ike this we wi l l  not  just  place an order.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

MR BURGER:   We… 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   But  is that  not  what you did? 

MR BURGER:   I  cannot remember the… 10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Did you not  place orders af ter th is note 

was issued?  Or d id you wr i te or speak to VR Laser and say,  

I  am sorry we cannot  implement  th is contract .   I  want  to;  I  

th ink that  Mr Mlambo is being di ff icul t  but  I  am sorry we 

cannot place orders? 

MR BURGER:   Chair  you talk ing about the Single Source 

Agreement  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

MR BURGER:   Okay.   Now I  am talk – I  am referr ing to  

separate orders on the back of  the Single Source Agreement.   20 

So we went through the process i f  i t  was wi thin a certain 

level  of  delegat ion we would take i t  to the Group CEO.  So – 

but  you asked me a quest ion ear l ier,  was i t  not  – was i t  not  a  

feel ing of  i t  was approved by the Group CEO and I  am trying 

to give context  to  the fact  that  maybe there was an element 
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of  t ruth in that .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

MR BURGER:   I  –  I  was f rustrated and I  fe l t  look going – ta lk 

your t roubles out  wi th your boss – your Group CEO and give 

me guidance.   I  was f rust rated.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I  am interested in the – in the issue 

about f rustrat ion and of  course the law does cause 

compl icat ions and f rust rat ions for business and government 

off ic ia ls but  the law is the law.  Now you used a phrase 

ear l ier and I  may have misheard i t  but  I  th ink you said you 10 

fel t  that  we were of ten st rangl ing ourselves too much with  

the PFMA.  I  am not  sure i f  the notes that  I  made of  your 

comment is qui te correct  but  is that  what you were saying? 

MR BURGER:   I  am… 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Or meaning? 

MR BURGER:   That  was the opinion held by certain legal  

people that  said any organisat ions somet imes act  too 

conservat ively and because of  act ing too conservat ively as a 

resul t  of  the PFMA misses opportuni t ies that  there might  be 

and that  the PFMA is  more len ient  than what  we think.   That  20 

was – that  was opinions people gave in the passing l ike for  

instance the legal  people wi thin Denel  Land Systems.  So I  

am not  saying that  is what I  thought  I  am just  saying. .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Wel l  can I  ask you what you did th ink?  

You were f rust rated,  you knew that  Mr Mlambo and Ms 
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Malahlela were giving you advice based on thei r  expert  

knowledge of  the PFMA, the Nat ional  Treasury Regulat ions 

that  you were now so happi ly quot ing f rom and being told by 

Mr Mlambo you have got  i t  wrong.  

MR BURGER:   Ja.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   So were you saying wel l  I  am – I  d id  

not  respond to Mr Mlambo and I  d id  not  take i t  h igher  – I  d id  

not  take i t  for example to the Group Legal  Advisor to get  a 

properly considered view because I  was f rust rated? 

MR BURGER:   No I  would not  –  I  would not  have received 10 

this and done nothing.   I  just  cannot remember.   In al l  

probabi l i ty had a discussion wi th the Group CEO and say 

what must  I  do? 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Mr Burger may I  suggest  to  you that  i f  

you did in fact  do something you would have remembered i t .  

MR BURGER:   Ja.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   This was surely a major issue.   You had 

now been advised and decided that  i t  was necessary to get  

the approval  of  the Group Supply Chain Execut ive because 

that  approval  was necessary in terms of  the Supply Chain 20 

Management Pol ic ies and that  you had to get  i t  in order to 

process further orders.   Correct? 

MR BURGER:   Correct  Chair  and i f  – i f  the impression I  held 

was the Group Supply Chain Execut ive needed in al l  

accounts needed to be consul ted I  was under the impression 
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that  i f  h igher author i ty l istened to both sides of  the story 

they could make a cal l  – a judgment cal l  what  is the r ight  

th ing to  do or not  to do.   That  was my – that  was my thinking 

at  the t ime and my impression at  the t ime.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And … 

CHAIRPERSON:   I  am sorry.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Sorry Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   I  may – I  might  not  have heard you 

correct ly Mr Burger but  I  thought when you made the 

comment about being st rangled I  th ink that  is the term you 10 

used by the PFMA.  I  thought you said we somet imes fel t  

that  –  I  do not  know whether you said we st rangle ourselves 

or we were st rangled by adhering to  the PFMA.  Did I  … 

MR BURGER:   Sorry Chai r  that  was a d i fferent  point .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR BURGER:   That  was – I  was responding to get t ing his – 

his signoff  on orders or not  his signoff  on orders.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR BURGER:   But  to your point .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes,  yes.  20 

MR BURGER:   The – I  am ref lect ing.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR BURGER:   On discussions we had in execut ive 

commit tee meet ings where i t  was stated that  people may 

somet imes make too bi t  an issue of  the PFMA and that  i t  is 
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not  so r ig id as what certain companies or div is ions might  

th ink i t  should be and that  there is a – there is room for 

decision making wi thin the PFMA.  I  – i t  is just  a comment I  

made.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

MR BURGER:   To say that  … 

CHAIRPERSON:   But  I  am – the reason why I  am ra ising is  

that  Mr Kennedy subsequent ly asked you whether  that  is  

what you had said and he seems to have heard i t  in the 

same way as I  th ink I  d id namely that  when you made that  10 

remark you were saying you thought by which I  understood 

you in the company thought somet imes I  do not  know 

whether you said st rangled yourselves or the. . .  

MR BURGER:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Or the PFMA has st rangled you.  

MR BURGER:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   But  later on you said i t  was an opinion 

held by some people I  do not  know whether you said in the 

legal  department.  

MR BURGER:   I t  was – yes.  20 

CHAIRPERSON:   But  – and you said i t  was not  an opinion of  

– held by you.  

MR BURGER:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   So that  is why I  am going back.  

MR BURGER:   Okay.  
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CHAIRPERSON:   To say I  thought I  heard you to be 

including yoursel f  as one of  the people who fel t  that  

somet imes the PFMA strangled you or  you were strangled by 

the PFMA.  So I  am checking whether I  d id not  hear you 

correct ly to be saying we.  

MR BURGER:   No.  

CHAIRPERSON:   As opposed to other people.  

MR BURGER:   I  th ink Chai r  you heard correct ly.   Let  me t ry  

and rephrase i t  to be absolutely c lear.   There – there were 

discussions wi th in  the Denel  Land Systems EXCO.  I f  you – 10 

and there were views held that  some – by di fferent  people 

also by legal  people that  – that  somet imes we apply the 

PFMA too st r ict ly and strangle ourselves in doing that .   The 

arguments put  on the table when – dur ing those d iscussions 

wi thout  knowing the PFMA – wi thout  s i t t ing down and 

studying the ful l  impl icat ion of  the PFMA I  supported that  

v iew because i t  made logical  sense to me that  the – the 

PFMA should not  be that  r ig id.    

So you can also include me in  that  discussion 

because I  supported that  v iew.  What was clear to me at  the 20 

t ime was there were di fferent  – di fferences of  opinion on how 

to interpret  the PFMA and that  –  that  is why I  refer  my legal  

person – supported me in that  le t ter that  I  wrote to Mr 

Mlambo I  referred to the – to those paragraphs.    

But  Chai r  I  just  – I  just  want to say something and 
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speeding as an example and sorry to do that  is very clear – 

i t  is very unambiguous.   You dr ive at  60 ki lometres you 

supposed to not  dr ive that  faster than 60 ki lometres.   I f  you 

dr ive faster than 60 ki lometres and somebody catches you 

you wi l l  be caught and there wi l l  be a f ine.   Very 

unambiguous and very clear.    

What I  have come to learn in the last  weeks and 

months is that  I  – I  was wrong.   I  was wrong in the sense 

that  the PFMA is not  so f lexible.   The PFMA is actual ly fa i r ly 

c lear  and i f  I  ref lect  back I  would say i t  is –  i t  is  l ike a 10 

Formula 1 dr iver  t ry ing to win a race wi th in  the Road 

Ordinance Act  t ry ing to win a t race.   And the law is very 

clear you are not  supposed to dr ive faster than 120 or  

whatever the case may be.   I f  he compl ies to the – to the 

ru les of  120 ki lometres an hour there is no way he can win a 

race.    

So – so – and – but  there is  very good reasons for  

120 ki lometres an hour because i f  you let  everybody dr ive 

fast  at  120 there wi l l  be chaos.   So – so I  understand that 

law but  – but  in my mind we were – we were operat ing in an 20 

environment  where quick decision making was necessary;  

where somet imes you have to dr ive faster than 120 

ki lometres an hour.    

And for Denel  to succeed successful ly in the 

internat ional  market  I  am – I  am tempted to say that  i t  is  
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going to be very di ff icul t  under the PFMA laws that  I  

understand today which I  d id not  understand so wel l  then but  

which I  understand today.   And my advice would very 

st rongly be i t  is for the future of  Denel  probably bet ter to – 

to operate under a more pr ivately owned scenar io and that  is 

just  my opinion Chai r.   But  – but  that  is the only way I  can 

explain i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   Yes.   But  I  must  put  th is to you that  i t  

seems as I  understand your ev idence that  wi th regard to  

whether you were one of  those who held that  opinion about  10 

being st rangled or  st rangl ing yoursel f  i t  seems that  when you 

made the remark you may have included yoursel f .    

But  later on when you were answering a quest ion that  

Mr Kennedy put  to you,  you seem to have said that  was not  

your opinion i t  was the opinion of  others.  

MR BURGER:   Okay.   No,  no,  no.   Sorry I  – I  d id not  state i t  

c lear ly enough.  I t  was … 

CHAIRPERSON:   Hang on – hang on let  me f in ish – let  me 

f in ish.   But  when you are answering me now I  understand 

you to be – to include yoursel f?  20 

MR BURGER:   Correct .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Now I  am not  sure I  just  want to make sure 

that  I  have understood you correct  but  th is is  how I  have 

understood you.  

MR BURGER:   The second one Chai r.   The last  –  the last 
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one.  

CHAIRPERSON:   The – your answer to Mr Kennedy? 

MR BURGER:   Correct .  

CHAIRPERSON:   You were not  inc luding yoursel f?  You did 

not  hold that  opin ion that  somet imes you st rangle yoursel f  –  

you strangled yourselves.  

MR BURGER:   No.   I t  is a big… 

CHAIRPERSON:   Try ing to comply wi th the PFMA that  is not  

an opinion that  you held at  the t ime, is that  what you are 

saying? 10 

MR BURGER:   Sorry Chai r  I  am bat t l ing to express mysel f .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

MR BURGER:   I  am saying the – i t  was an opinion held by 

people that  – that  we are too cr i t ical  on ourselves when 

applying the PFMA and i t  – i t  was discussed in the meet ings 

and i t  was – i t  was an opinion I  a lso held at  the t ime that  we 

were st rangl ing ourselves.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.  

MR BURGER:   With the – in the way we were apply ing the 

PFMA. 20 

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   But  – but  did I  understand your 

evidence correct ly that  when you were answer ing Mr 

Kennedy you had said i t  was not  your opinion that  is what I  

want  to check?  What – had you – did you say that  to Mr 

Kennedy? 
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MR BURGER:   What – what I  t r ied to say to Mr Kennedy was 

I  was not  knowledgeable enough on the PFMA so I  could not  

form an independent opinion by – I  d id not  study the PFMA 

however and that  is  why I  said i t  was not  my opinion that  I  

put  on the table to  say – to be part  o f  the argument.    

I t  was a – i t  was an opinion that  I  shared when there 

were arguments on the tab le that  – that  said we are 

st rangl ing ourselves wi th the PFMA I  supported the fact  that  

we were st rangl ing ourselves wi th the PFMA.  But  I  d id not  –  

I  d id not  act ively put  arguments on the table f rom a point  of  10 

knowledge and f rom a point  of  exper t ise.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Hm.  Wel l  there may be some 

inconsistency but  Mr Kennedy you – you … 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   May I  proceed? 

CHAIRPERSON:   Ja.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you Chai r.   Mr Burger I  would 

l ike you to leave aside Bundle 1 now.  I  would l ike to go back 

to Bundle 10 which contains your aff idavi ts.    

CHAIRPERSON:   Wel l  Mr Kennedy we are at  hal f  past  four  

and I  have certainly f rom my side we can cont inue but  we – 20 

maybe we need to agree.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   At  what  stage we might  take a shor t  break 

and maybe we could take i t  now or  maybe we can st i l l  go on 

unt i l  f ive and take i t  f rom there also depending on the 
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wi tness he might  need a break.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Chai r  subject  to your guidance I  would 

be happy wi th a break but  may I  suggest  respect ful ly  that  we 

f in ish this part icu lar topic wi th the last  few quest ions.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   And then take a break because I  was 

going to ask in any event  for an opportuni ty to chat  wi th my 

team.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Members to see what other issues we 10 

want to raise.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   We get t ing very near the end.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay.   No … 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   I  had hoped that  we be f in ished by f ive 

o’clock in any event .  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay so maybe i f  we are – i f  you think we 

might  be f in ished by f ive o’clock then maybe unless the 

wi tness or his  at torney needs a break maybe we can just  go 

on.   Mr Burger you do not  part icular ly need a break now? 20 

MR BURGER:   I  am happy Chai r.    

CHAIRPERSON:   Oh you are f ine.  

MR BURGER:   I  am f ine.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Are you f ine?   

ADV CROUSE:   Chairman I  am also happy to proceed. 
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CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a lr ight  then let  us proceed then.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you Chai r.   What I  am 

suggest ing is just  to complete this l ine.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Which should take about f ive minutes.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a lr ight .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   No more then take the break then.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Okay a lr ight .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Thank you Chai r.   Mr Burger please 

turn now in Bundle 10 to page 720.   Have you got  that? 10 

CHAIRPERSON:   We are now back in Bundle 10? 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   Yes Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON:   Yes.   And i t  is page 7? 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   20.  

CHAIRPERSON:   720.    

ADV KENNEDY SC:   This is part  of  your aff idavi t  and i t  is a 

sect ion where you were deal ing wi th a response to var ious 

quest ions that  were being put  to  you by members of  the 

invest igat ion team, is that  r ight? 

MR BURGER :    Correct ,  Chai r.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And in that  paragraph 162,  the 

quest ion that  you have quoted in i ta l ics,  that  comes f rom the 

invest igators,  reads:  

‘Why you proceeded with giv ing VR Laser work as a 

Single Source Suppl ier even af ter the Group 
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Execut ive Supply Chain refused to grant  approval  on 

the grounds that  the process was f lawed?” 

 So this is the very quest ion that  I  was put t ing to you 

ear l ier.   And I  just  want to pick up on something,  a couple of  

th ings that  you wr i t ten here.  

 I  would l ike to start ,  i f  I  may,  at  the foot  of  the page,  

162.3.   We are going to come back to the ear l ier ones in a 

moment.    

 162.3,  you say:  

“Since Mlambo reported to the Execut ives of  DCO, 10 

who again reported to the Group CEO, I  expected 

that  in the case of  dissat isfact ion,  he would have 

taken the matter up through the appropriate 

channel . ”  

 In other words,  that  Mr Mlambo should have raised i t  i f  

he was dissat isf ied.    

MR BURGER :    Correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    You did not  feel  i t  appropriate that  you 

should raise i t .   You simply lef t  i t  to him because he was at  

head off ice,  is that  r ight? 20 

MR BURGER :    That  is correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And then you cont inue:  

“From a DLS perspect ive,  however,  there was a 

Memorandum of  Agreement in place.  

However,  regardless of  the MOA, the delegat ions 
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requi red the DCO approves contract  beyond 

R 20 mi l l ion.  

This was one of  the contracts presented to the 

Execut ive Supply Chain Commit tee and were 

discussed and approved at  var ious levels.    

I f  the Group CEO took note of  Mlambo’s input  and 

for good business reason decided to disregard h is 

input  and approve the submission,  then I  would 

imagine i t  was his  r ight  and author i ty to do so.”  

 Now at  th is  stage,  the Group CEO was Mr Ntshepe, 10 

correct? 

MR BURGER :    I  presume you are referr ing to . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Mr Motsepe.  Mr Motsepe.  Is i t  not  

Motsepe?   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Mr Motsepe, yes.    

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Zulake Ntshepe.  

MR BURGER :    Correct .   I  . . . [ intervenes]   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    He was Group CEO, correct? 

MR BURGER :    Correct ,  Chai r.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.   And he,  in fact ,  d id  overrule 

Mr Mlambo in the note that  we have seen.  

MR BURGER :    Correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    That  fo l lowed Mr Mlambo’s concerns.   

So am I  r ight  in  understanding,  you fe l t  that  at  d iv is ional  



24 NOVEMBER 2020 – DAY 311 
 

Page 102 of 139 
 

level ,  i f  Mlambo does not  l ike what I  am doing – and he has 

al ready given his reasons for  that  –  he can raise i t  h igher up 

than himsel f  and that  is what he did.    

MR BURGER :    Correct ,  Chai r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.   But  would you agree that  i t  is not  

r ight  to imagine,  as you suggested here,  i t  was his r ight  to 

author i ty to uphold your approach and reject  Mr Mlambo’s 

approach i f  that  in breach of  that  law?  You would accept 

that  the Group CEO cannot do something unlawful ly? 

MR BURGER :    Ful ly.   I  agree Chai r.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Ja.   Now just  whi le we are here.   On 

the previous page 162.1,  you say:  

“The f i rst  insinuat ions that  the process was f lawed 

only came to my knowledge in  2016 when Malahlela 

ment ioned someth ing to that  e ffect  to me.  

This co incided wi th a large amount of  negat ive press 

for the Gupta fami ly and Mlambo and Malahlela,  by 

the same token,  made no secret  that  his or the ir  

d is l ike for VR Laser was based on his or thei r  

percept ions formed by the media and not  because of  20 

the performance of  VR Laser.”  

 Now you have cl imbed down a fai r  b i t  on what you have 

said in th is aff idavi t  in your oral  evidence,  both last  t ime and 

this t ime.   

 Mr Burger,  may I  ask you?  Do you stand by this  
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statement or do you want to correct  i t?  Because these are 

very ser ious al legat ions making – that  you are making 

against  Mr Mlambo and Ms Malahlela that  they had some 

ant iphony and some antagonism for,  as you put  i t ,  a  dis l ike 

for VR Laser based on thei r  percept ions formed by the 

media.  

MR BURGER :    Chai r,  I  actual ly sa id i t  15-minutes ago that  

my opin ion was that  Mr Mlambo did not  part icular ly support  

the cont ract  because of  the shareholding and the ownership 

of  VR Laser.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Did he say that?  Or is that  something 

that  you just  inferred f rom what he was saying? 

MR BURGER :    I  cannot remember his words but  maybe i t  

was something that  he – that  is how i t  was projected to me.   

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I t  is not  in any of  the words that  we do 

have in f ront  of  us,  in the documents for example that we 

have looked at  a moment ago.   He raised a number of  

concerns that  you have now acknowledged at  leg i t imate.    

MR BURGER :    Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Based on the provisions of  the Supply 20 

Chain Management pol icy.   Nowhere do you see anything 

l ike:   I  do not  th ink we should be doing business wi th shady 

characters at  VR Laser who are connected wi th shady 

characters cal led the Gupta’s.   Noth ing remotely about that .  

MR BURGER :    H’m.  
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ADV KENNEDY SC :    So where did you pick that  up f rom? 

MR BURGER :    The – as an example,  when I  received the 

let ter f rom Ms Malahlela when I  was overseas – this  let ter I  

am referr ing to her in the f i rst  paragraph – I  – that  was for  

the me the f i rst  t ime I  saw in those bold words:   We have got  

a real ly big problem here.    

 The discussion I  had wi th the – in  my let ter or reply,  I  

fe l t  very st rongly that  she knew that  the mistake was being 

made.  

 I  a lso fel t  that  and probably i f  I  d id exact ly  the same 10 

thing as what she did,  I  would not  be si t t ing here today.   But  

she – I  fe l t  that  she wrote the let ter in such a way that  she 

does distance hersel f  f rom that  deal .  

 And then when I  had the discussion on my return,  and I  

l istened to her giv ing evidence and she said:   Wel l ,  nothing 

real ly  happened in that  meet ing.   I  can actual ly remember 

that  meet ing very wel l ,  very viv id ly.  

 And the discussion was not  so much on the process.   

The discussion was on the image and the posi t ion of  the 

Gupta ’s and the effect  that  could have on the company. 20 

 That  was what the – and my view to her was and I  d id  

act ion that ,  was the image of  the company is real ly –  there is 

a department wi th in Denel  that  looks af ter that  and should be 

handled by them. 

 So I  am saying – I  am making these comments because 
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of  meet ings l ike that  Chai r.   Mr Mlambo also make no secret  

about  the fact  that  i t  is – i t  is going to be bad for the 

reputat ion of  Denel  i f  we cont inue wi th these agreements.  

 So that  is why I  made these comments.   Having said that  

Chai r.   The arguments put  on the tab le by both Mr Mlambo 

and Ms Malahlela on thei r  opinion about the appl icat ion of  

the PMFA, the pol ic ies of  Denel  and so forth,  are al l  very 

unemot ional  val id  reasons and I  cannot  faul t  that  and I  take 

that  point  very st rongly.    

 I  am ref lect ing on how I  fe l t  at  the t ime and the. . .   So to 10 

put  i t  in perspect ive.   Looking at  the aff idavi ts.   Yes,  I  th ink 

they are logical  and emot ional  points being made.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Yes.   Did . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Why did you say that  at  Denel  there was a 

separate department or you uni t  that  looks af ter the image of  

the company? 

MR BURGER :    The . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    What was that  to say,  i t  was something 

that  none of  you should concern yourselves wi thin the 

context  of  the contracts? 20 

MR BURGER :    Chai r,  there was a Publ ic  Relat ions 

Department.   I  cannot  remember exact ly what i t  was.   Or a 

Media Commit tee or something.   I  cannot remember the 

name of  the department.   That  deal t  wi th the image of  Denel  

and they deal t  wi th interact ion wi th the press.  
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CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  but  what I  mean is.   Am I  correct  in  

understanding you to have taken the view that  the 

discussions or  engagements that  you were having wi th them, 

should not  br ing in issues of  the image of  the company 

because there were other people whose job was to concern 

themselves about that .   Is that  what you meant? 

MR BURGER :    Ja,  Chai r  very much so.   I  mean, I  was told  

in no uncertain terms by the then Group CEO that  th is was 

not  a domain I  must  concern mysel f  about .  

 And so the legi t imacy of  cont racts,  because of  media or 10 

threat  of  a media scandal  was not  something I  real ly 

concerned mysel f  about  at  that  t ime.  And I  t r ied to  explain 

how the delegat ions and the accountabi l i t ies moved to head 

off ice dur ing that  t ime.  

 So,  yes,  I  t ru ly lef t  that  to the Group CEO as wel l  as the 

Media Department  to deal  wi th that .  

CHAIRPERSON :    So was your at t i tude that  i t  d id not  matter  

how much, having the cont ract  wi th a part icular ent i ty who 

could potent ia l ly tarnish the image of  the Denel ,  i t  was f ine 

for al l  of  you to approve that  cont ract  being entered into wi th  20 

such an ent i ty because the Group CEO said do not  concern 

yourselves about the issues of  the image of  the company? 

MR BURGER :    H’m.  Chai r,  yes,  of  course,  I  was concerned 

about the image of  Denel .   I  mean, I  am st i l l  am.  

CHAIRPERSON :    I  would have expected to you have been.  



24 NOVEMBER 2020 – DAY 311 
 

Page 107 of 139 
 

MR BURGER :    I t  – at  the t ime, there was much speculat ion 

of  what is r ight  and what is wrong.   And in  2020, i t  is much 

easier to . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  I  am not  sure i f  i t  is in 2020 

Mr Burger because th is was 2016. 

MR BURGER :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Three years af ter  the landing of  the Gupta 

aeroplane at  Waterkloof .    

MR BURGER :    H’m.  

CHAIRPERSON :    The Gupta je t  landing at  Waterkloof  10 

happened in 2013 around Apri l .   So this was Apri l  2016.   

This was three years later.  

MR BURGER :    Correct ,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    And my recol lect ion and the evidence that 

has been led before the Commission in regard to that  

landing,  has been that  the whole country was shocked that  a  

pr ivate jet  or an aeroplane hired by or owned by just  some 

pr ivate people,  fore igners or c i t izens or whatever they were,  

could be al lowed to land at  Waterkloof .   And there was a big 

issue in the whole count ry.  20 

 And for some people who might  not  have taken not ice of  

the Gupta’s or the inf luence that  they appear to have wi thin 

government,  that  was the moment that  made them s i t  back 

and say:   So what  is happening? 

 Now, I  am a l i t t le surpr ised i f  in 2016,  you would not  
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have been qui te aware that  there was some negat iv i ty just  in 

terms of  – in the publ ic domain about the Gupta ’s.  

MR BURGER :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Or you accept  that  there was some 

negat iv i ty.   I t  is a quest ion of  how much there was,  how 

much negat iv i ty there was.  

MR BURGER :    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON :    By 2016.  Actual ly,  I  see that  you say in 

paragraph 162.1,  that  is page 720 of  your aff idavi t :  

“This coincided wi th a large amount of  negat ive 10 

press for the Gupta’s. ”  

MR BURGER :    Correct .  

CHAIRPERSON :    So by then you must  – there must  have 

been in your own view qui te some negat ive media at tent ion 

surrounding the Gupta ’s.  

MR BURGER :    Absolutely Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.  

MR BURGER :    Yes,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Now, I  would then have thought  that  i t  

would have been a matter of  concern to you and ei ther 20 

senior people at  Denel  or DLS to conclude a contract  wi th an 

ent i ty that  was connected wi th  people who enjoy that  

negat iv i ty about  them.  

 Because i f  Denel  concludes a contract  wi th them,  

Denel ’s own image and reputat ion may be severely  
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damaged.  They may be seen as f r iends to these people.  

 And why would that  not  be something that  you would 

think ser iously about  to say:   What are we going to do to the 

image and reputat ion of  Denel  i f  we conclude a cont ract  wi th  

people who are so closely associated wi th the Gupta ’s .  

MR BURGER :    Chair  . . . [ intervenes]   

CHAIRPERSON :    So what I  am put t ing to you is  that .   I  

would have expected this to have been a matter of  ser ious 

concern to any senior person within a company,  par t icular ly 

at  your level .  10 

 And especial ly when i t  was being pointed out  by other  

people wi th in  the company.   Because you do say that  some 

of  the people were concerned.   One of  them Mr Mlambo, I  

th ink you said.  

 Even though, in regard to th is point ,  he might  not  have 

ra ised that  but  you say there were other discussions f rom 

which you knew,  as far  as you are concerned,  that  he was 

concerned about that .  

MR BURGER :    Yes.   Chai r,  I  state again.   I  was – obviously,  

the image of  Denel  is and wi l l  a lways be of  importance to 20 

me.  Number two.   Denel  is operat ing local ly and wi th foreign 

governments in a very much pol i t ica l ly environment.  

 I  have soon in my career,  took a posi t ion that  I  do not  

want to be – I  do not  want to pick s ides and I  do not  want to 

have an opin ion on what is pol i t ical ly correct  or incorrect .  
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 And that  at t i tude,  I  must  be honest  wi th you,  served me 

wel l  for a fa i r  amount of  t ime but  i t  caught up wi th me.    

 The di lemma of  picking of  pol i t ical  s ides is that  

somet imes you are in  and somet imes you are not  in and you,  

as a resul t ,  lose your job as a consequence.  

 So I ,  ear ly on in  my l i fe,  I  said I  just  want to be a 

businessman.  I  do not  want to p ick pol i t ical  s ides.   And 

therefore,  apart  f rom – whi le I  acknowledge that  the image 

was important  to me.  I  a lso did put  my head in the ground a 

l i t t le bi t  when i t  came to these things.  10 

 And you are r ight .   In hindsight ,  I  should have stood up 

and said:   No,  we cannot,  you know, you cannot do that  or 

whatever.  

 But  I  fe l t  at  the t ime this  was the best  company to do the 

job i rrespect ive – and I  d id not  concern mysel f  wi th the 

pol i t ical  scenario.  

 Now, I  – and I  ca l l  i t  pol i t ical  scenar io because i t  real ly  

re lates to who they were support ing pol i t ical ly and not .   So I ,  

honest ly,  d id not  – I  looked away f rom those things and in  

hindsight ,  maybe I  should have concerned mysel f  more wi th  20 

that  but  that  rea l ly was the scenario.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Wel l ,  you may have looked away and you 

may have decided at  some stage that  you did not  want to 

take pol i t ical  s ides,  but  there is always what is r ight  and 

there is always what is wrong.  
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MR BURGER :    No,  you are r ight .  

CHAIRPERSON :    And leaving aside pol i t ical  s ides wi thin the 

context  of  the Gupta’s,  the negat ive press that  you talk about  

here,  was the press that  was saying they were involved in 

acts of  corrupt ion.    

 I t  was the press that  was making al l  k inds of  al legat ions.   

And I  accept  that  i t  was a l legat ions at  that  stage.   We wi l l  

see by the end of  the work of  the Commission where we are 

wi th that  part icular al legat ions that  they were involved in 

corrupt ion.  10 

 And I  would have thought that  when i t  came to 

al legat ions such as that ,  you would be concerned to say,  i t  is 

not  a quest ion of  taking pol i t ical  s ides.    

 I t  is a  quest ion that  I  do not  want Denel  to be associated 

wi th an ent i ty against  whom there are al l  k inds of  al legat ions 

of  corrupt ion.   You understand? 

MR BURGER :    I  understand ful ly Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes,  okay.  

MR BURGER :    I  d id not  take that  v iew.   

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja,  ja.   Mr Kennedy.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I  would just  l ike to ask one fo l low-up 

quest ions before we ask for the stand-down.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.   Ja.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    And that  is.   Even i f  you had answered 

that  quest ion – asked that  quest ion and even i f  you had 
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decided that  i t  was in the interest  o f  Denel ,  despi te the fact  

that  there were so much cont roversy wi th the Gupta’s,  that  

the deal  should have been done.   

 Does the fact  not  that  there was controversy about them,  

did not  that  provide al l  the more reason for you,  i f  you were 

real ly  genuinely concerned about doing the r ight  th ing for 

Denel  and i ts image, that  you should have made absolute ly 

sure that  everything was squeaky c lean as far as compl iance 

wi th the law and with procurement pol ic ies was concerned? 

MR BURGER :    I  take i t  –  I  take your point  Chai r.   I  can only 10 

say that  dur ing the Single Source Agreement,  I  was real ly  

under the impression this was something that  the Group CEO 

had the author i ty  to do.   That  i t  was in the best  interest  of  

Denel .    

 And by 2016, the agreement was in ex istence and my 

view I  had then was the horse has been bol ted.   I f  there is 

evidence of  corrupt ion,  then we have something to act  on.   

 But  in the absence of  them being blackl isted or evidence 

of  corrupt ion.   How do you act  on that?  And that  was my 

opinion at  the t ime.   20 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Chai r,  may we then ask for  a br ief  

stand-down, perhaps around ten,  maybe 15-minutes 

maximum and then my team wi l l  be able to give thei r  input  

and we wi l l  be able to complete.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Ja.  
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ADV KENNEDY SC :    I  do not  bel ieve we should need more 

than about ten minutes thereaf ter.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Yes.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    I  understand f rom Mr Crouse that  there 

is at  least  one aspect  on which he,  as he has indicated to  

me, he may want to re-examine.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    But  i t  should not  be very long.  

CHAIRPERSON :    That  is  f ine.   Let  us take a ten minutes’ 

break.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Thank you.  

CHAIRPERSON :    So coming back at  about . . .   Wel l ,  let  us 

just  make i t  – we wi l l  resume at  ten past  f ive.    

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Thank you,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    That  wi l l  g ive you enough t ime wi th your  

team.  

ADV KENNEDY SC :    Thank you,  Chai r.  

CHAIRPERSON :    Okay we adjourn.  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS 

INQUIRY RESUMES  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  Mr  Kennedy?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r.   Jus t  a  few fo l low-

up quest ions and then we w i l l  be  done.   The ev idence 

ear l ie r  re la t ing  to  o f f i c ia ls  becoming too  en tang led  in  the  

PFMA,  tha t  was a  v iew tha t  was expressed by  some lega l  
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peop le .   Was tha t  peop le  w i th in  your  lega l  depar tment  who 

were  suggest ing  tha t  some o f f i c ia ls  were  imag in ing  tha t  the  

PFMA was more  compl ica ted  than i t  rea l l y  was?  Sor ry,  jus t  

sw i tch  on  your  m ic ,  p lease?  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r,  bu t  th is  was a  genera l  

d iscuss ion ,  th is  was not  a  VR Laser  b ig  d iscuss ion .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.  

MR BURGER:    I t  i s  a  genera l  v iew  tha t  was …[ in te rvenes]  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And can you reca l l  who sa id  tha t?  

MR BURGER:    I t  was a  genera l  v iew and i f  I  remember  10 

cor rec t l y,  the  head o f  my lega l  depar tment  Ms  Den ise  

Govender  a lso  he ld  tha t  v iew.   So but  I  s tand co r rec ted  but  

I  am pre t ty  su re  tha t  was the  scenar io .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Okay.   Then you were  asked  

quest ions about  tha t  le t te r  tha t  you sent  to  Mr  Mlambo 

where  you re fer red  to  Treasury  Regu la t ion  16A,  e tce te ra .   

How d id  i t  come about  tha t  you got  tha t  adv i ce?   What  

p rompted you to  ge t  tha t  adv i ce?  

MR BURGER:    The no rmal  p rac t ice  was tha t  any le t te r  

tha t  was wr i t ten  fo r  head o f f i ce  –  no t  any le t te r,  in  90% of  20 

the  t ime o f  normal  run  o f  the  m i l l  le t te rs  l i ke  approva l  fo r  

cer ta in  th ings wou ld  be  wr i t ten  by  the  pe rson tha t  wants  to  

ge t  i t  approved and I  wou ld  read  i t ,  I  wou ld  make sure  I  

unders tand i t  and  I  suppor t  i t  and I  wou ld  s ign  i t .    

Th is  le t te r  was one o f  them and words in  tha t  le t te r,  
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a l though i t  was a  long t ime ago,  words tha t  were  used in  

the  le t te r  were  words l i ke  i n te r  a l ia  wh ich  is  a  typ ica l  lega l  

te rm and someth ing  I  wou ld  no t  wr i te  now.   I  am fa i r l y  su re  

tha t  tha t  le t te r  was not  wr i t ten  or  I  wou ld  surpr i sed i f  that  

le t te r  was wr i t ten  by  Ms Malah le la  and fo r  tha t  reason I  

th ink  i t  was be tween the  Ch ie f  Opera t ing  Off i cer,  Mr  

Reenen Teubes,  who wanted to  ge t  th is  cont rac ts  p laced 

and our  l ega l  depar tment ,  Ms Den is  Govender,  tha t  tha t  

le t te r  was const ruc ted  and there  m ight  have been back and 

fo r th  w i th  the  le t te r  and I  m ight  have g i ven inputs  to  i t  bu t  10 

the  bu lk  tha t  le t te r  was wr i t ten  by  –  and my guesst imate  

wou ld  be  –  and/o r  I  am pre t ty  sure  by  Ms Den is  Govender,  

most  o f  i t ,  w i th  inputs  f rom Mr  Reenen Teubes .   What  

t yp ica l l y…[ in te rvenes]  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Mr  Teubes?  

MR BURGER:    Ja .   And what  t yp ica l l y  then wou ld  happen  

is  I  wou ld  scru t in ise  i t ,  make sure  i t  make sense and so  –  

and then take  i t  to  head o f f i ce .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And the  reason why you went  to  them 

for  the i r  adv ice  and input  was  because you and they 20 

rea l i sed tha t  Mr  Mlambo had to  approve th i s  in  te rms o f  the  

po l i cy.  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  on  the  las t  b i t  o f  the  s ta tement  

and the  ea r l ie r  par t  o f  the  s ta tement ,  I  d id  no t  go  to  them 

to  say go  and wr i te  a  le t te r,  they  wanted –  f rom opera t ions ’ 
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s ide  they wanted  to  p lace  a  cont rac t  on  VR Laser.   We 

might  have had a  d iscuss ion  o r  they jus t  b rought  the  le t te r  

to  me to  say we  need to  ge t  approva l  and there fo re  they  

d id  know tha t  Mr  Denn is  Mlambo must  s ign  i t  and 

presented a  le t te r  tha t ,  l i ke  in  most  cases,  I  wou ld  go  

th rough and s ign  i t  o f f  and g ive  inputs ,  i f  necessary  bu t  I  

d id  no t  in i t ia te  tha t  le t te r,  i f  tha t  was the  comment  made.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t .   Can I  ask  you in  bund le  10 ,  

s t i l l  l ook ing  a t  your  s ta tement .  

MR BURGER:    Yes.  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    To tu rn  p lease to  page 646,  

parag raph 86 and  87 a t  the  top .   646.     

MR BURGER:    I  have got  i t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    In  fac t  le t  us  s ta r t ,  i f  we may,  on  the  

prev ious page,  645,  to  g ive  i t  con tex t .   Paragraph 84:  

“The  rea l i t y  i s  t ha t  Sa loo jee  is  h imse l f  a  po l i t i ca l  

an imal ,  he  never  caut ioned me o r  Ntshepe about  

our  in te rac t ions w i th  Essa and VR Laser  and in  fac t  

encouraged i t .   He v is i ted  the  Gupta  res idence on 

more  than one occas ion .   That  i s  more  than I  can  20 

say.   I t  i s  there fore  su rp r is ing  tha t  Sa loo jee  w i l l  

ca tegor i ca l l y  deny tha t  he  ins t ruc ted  Ntshepe to  

manage the  re la t i onsh ip  w i th  Essa.   Not  on ly  does i t  

f l y  in  the  face  o f  h is  own tes t imony but  i t  i s  s imp ly  

d is ingenuous to  suggest  tha t  my vers ion  in  th is  
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regard  i f  no t  cor rec t .   I  am cer ta in  tha t  Ntshepe w i l l  

cor robora te  me in  th is  regard .  Sa loo jee ,  and I  aga in  

remind the  reader,  tha t  Sa loo jee  d id  no t  have a  lo t  

o f  pa t ience w i th  me as an  ind iv idua l .   On more  than  

occas ion  to ld  me tha t  my duty,  as  the  CEO of  a  

d iv is ion ,  was s imp ly  to  ensure  tha t  I  focus on  the  

imp lementa t ion  o f  p rogrammes and tha t  I  shou ld  

leave the  po l i t i ca l  e lement  and bus iness 

deve lopment  to  h im. ”  

Now is  tha t  co r rec t?  10 

MR BURGER:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    A l r igh t .   And then the  top  o f  the  next  

page:  

“ I  was there fore  no t  su rpr i sed tha t  a t  the  beg inn ing  

o f  2014 he ca l led  me in to  h is  o f f i ce  and proposed 

tha t  I  g ive  work  to  VR Laser  as  th is  was a  supp l ie r  

w i th  po l i t i ca l  c lou t .   He was surpr ised to  lea rn  a t  

the  t ime tha t  Dene l  had been do ing  bus iness w i th  

VR Laser  s ince  a t  leas t  2003 and tha t  VR Laser  was  

a  very  successfu l  supp l ie r  in  a  n iche env i ronment .   20 

I t  was Sa loo jee ,  who in  2015,  suggested tha t  VR 

Laser  be  appo in ted  a  s ing le  source  supp l ie r  o f  

complex  fabr i ca ted  s t ruc tures . ”  

Now o f  course  you are  aware  tha t  Mr  Sa loo jee  has den ied  

a  number  o f  these a l legat ions aga ins t  h im.   He den ies  tha t  
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he  proposed whether  in  2014 o r  a t  any t ime tha t  you 

shou ld  g ive  work  to  VR Laser  a t  a l l  le t  a lone tha t  th is  was 

a  supp l ie r  w i th  po l i t i ca l  c lou t  bu t  you were  aware ,  

acco rd ing  to  your  vers ion ,  as  fa r  back as  the  beg inn ing  o f  

2014 tha t  Mr  Sa loo jee  was aware  tha t  VR Laser  had 

po l i t i ca l  c lou t  and was pressur is ing  or  encourag ing  you to  

g ive  them bus iness as  a  resu l t .  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And presumably  on  the  s t rength  o f  

tha t  i t  came as no  surpr i se  to  you tha t  the  fo l low ing  year  in  10 

2015 he was encourag ing  you to  appo in t  to  appo in t  VR 

Laser  as  a  s ing le  source  supp l ie r  o f  DLS.  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now you  gave ev idence  on the  

prev ious occas ion  tha t  you d id  no t  fee l  tha t  th is  was  

necessar i l y  appropr ia te  bu t  you le f t  the  po l i t i cs  to  h im and 

as  i t  happened fo r  techn ica l  bus iness reasons,  no t  po l i t i ca l  

favour i t i sm or  anyth ing  l i ke  tha t ,  bu t  fo r  good bus iness 

reasons fo r  Dene l  you fe l t  i t  wou ld  be  a  good idea  to  g ive  

VR Laser  a  s ing le  source  supp ly  cont rac t ,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  20 

MR BURGER:    That  i s  co r rec t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.   But  I  want  to  go  back to  a  l ine  

o f  quest ion ing  I  pu t  to  you ear l ie r  and ask you w i th  the  

benef i t  o f  some t ime s ince  I  asked  you the  f i rs t  quest ion  in  

tha t  regard ,  whether  you have re f lec ted  on i t ,  whe ther  o r  
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no t  i t  was a  good bus iness idea fo r  Dene l  to  go  in to  a  

s ing le  source  supp ly  ag reement  w i th  VR Laser  -  I  am 

ta lk ing  here  about  DLS spec i f i ca l l y  –  whether  o r  no t  you 

fe l t  tha t  was good and whether  o r  no t  you fe l t  we l l ,  th is  i s  

a  good oppor tun i ty,  I  can  now exp lo i t  th is  oppor tun i ty  to  

ge t  a  supp l ie r  tha t  I  have a lways l i ked  and want  now, .   

Shou ld  you not  have ac tua l l y  repor ted  tha t  to  somebody,  

tha t  Sa loo jee  had  e f fec t i ve ly  been pressur i s ing  you to  g ive  

bus iness to  VR Laser  because o f  what  you say he  sa id ,  

po l i t i ca l  c lou t ,  in  o ther  words,  the i r  connect ions,  no t  the i r  10 

bus iness c redent ia ls .   He obv ious l y  i s  accountab le  fo r  

whatever  he  sa id .   He,  o f  course ,  den ies  tha t  and  he w i l l  

be  asked quest ions in  tha t  regard  bu t  what  about  your  own  

accountab i l i t y?   I f  your  super io r,  a lbe i t  your  super io r,  a lbe i t  

tha t  he  was –  he  had more  sen ior  pos i t ion  in  the  group  

than you and you  were  accountab le  to  h im,  sure ly  you are  

accountab le  a lso  as  an  o f f i c ia l  to  the  na t ion  a t  la rge  and i f  

somebody is  mak ing  such a  propos i t ion  to  you  wh ich  

c lea r ly  i s  inappropr ia te ,  was i t  no t  incumbent  on  you to  

repor t  tha t?  20 

MR BURGER:    Cha i r,  I  th ink  knowing what  I  know now,  

hav ing  l i s ten  to  ev idence g iven suppor t ing  tha t  Mr  Sa loo jee  

was deep ly  invo l ved than even what  I  thought  a t  the  t ime,  

i t  wou ld  have been the  cor rec t  th ing  to  do .   I  have  got  no 

doubt  in  my mind.   A t  the  t ime,  however,  the  –what  I  ca l l  
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po l i t i ca l  p ressures,  those th ings ,  Mr  Sa loo jee  made no 

bones about  the  fac t  tha t  he  is  under  po l i t i ca l  p ressure  fo r  

many th ings and tha t  i s  h is  domain  and I  th ink  ove r  a  long  

per iod  o f  t ime I  go t  used to  the  idea or  accepted the  idea 

an wrong ly  so  tha t  when a  comment  i s  made l i ke  tha t ,  tha t  

i t  needs to  be  suppor ted .   I f  I  cou ld  have my l i fe  ove r  I  

wou ld  have done tha t ,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    A re  you say ing  tha t  Mr  Sa loo jee  

ind ica ted  to  you  a  number  o f  t ime tha t  he  was  under  

po l i t i ca l  p ressure  in  the  sense tha t  he  was  be ing  10 

pressur i sed by  po l i t i c ians to  ensure  tha t  work  f rom Dene l  

was g iven to  po l i t i ca l  favour i tes  such as  the  Guptas? 

MR BURGER:    No,  Cha i r.   No,  I  wou ld  no t  go  tha t  fa r.   He 

d id  no t  e labora te  in  tha t  …[ in tervenes]  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    So  what  d id  you unders tand  by  h is  

re fe rence to  h is  be ing  under  po l i t i ca l  p ressure?  

MR BURGER:    That ,  we l l ,  i t  i s  po l i t i ca l  c lou t ,  he  is  mov ing  

in  po l i t i ca l  c i rc les ,  tha t  he  sa id  a  number  o f  t imes  to  me  

and he has to  conform to  those pressures.   I  d id  no t  see i t  

as  anyth ing  bu t  –  you ca l led  i t  favour i t i sm and maybe tha t  20 

is  –  i t  i s  a  good desc r ip t ion .   I  d id  no t  see i t  as  any funny 

bus iness in  tha t  regard .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Bu t  shou ld  you not  have seen  tha t  a t  

leas t  when he was say ing  to  you  in  2014 you shou ld  be  

g iv ing  favourab le  t rea tment  to  VR Laser  because they have 
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po l i t i ca l  c lou t?   What  e lse  cou ld  tha t  mean? 

MR BURGER:    Ja .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Bu t  tha t  he  was say ing  to  you peop le  

want  you to  favour  them in  bus iness no t  because they are  

good but  because they are  po l i t i ca l l y  connected.   I s  tha t  

no t  exact ly  what  he  was say ing ,  accord ing  to  your  

ev idence.  

MR BURGER:    Ja .   No,  you a re  r igh t ,  Cha i r,  and I  –  i f  i t  

was the  on ly  case then one can make a  b ig  a rgument  about  

i t  bu t  i t  a lso  happened in  te rms  o f  the  [ ind is t inc t ]  13 .58  10 

bus iness tha t  I  had to  p lace  on them,  so  –  as  I  ind ica ted  in  

the  prev ious in te rv iew.   So i t  was  common knowledge tha t  

Mr  Sa loo jee  was in  genera l  under  po l i t i ca l  p ressure  and so  

I  -   i t  i s  –  no t  jus t  re la t ing  to  th is ,  in  genera l .   So,  you  

know,  w i th  the  c la r i t y  and the  advantage o f  t ime pass ing ,  

you are  r igh t ,  I  am not  d isput ing  tha t .   A t  the  t ime when we 

were  f igh t ing  the  war,  the  –  I  jus t  accepted tha t  tha t  i s  the 

way i t  i s  and i t  in  p r inc ip le  a lways been the  case.   I t  i s  no t  

new to  –  there  has a lways  been  some fo rm o f  po l i t i ca l  

impera t ives  tha t  needed to  be  suppor ted .  20 

CHAIRPERSON:    Wel l ,  le t  us  unders tand tha t  c lear ly,  Mr  

Burger.   You wou ld  be  ab le  to  make a  d is t inc t ion  be tween 

what  he  sa id  and what  you unders tood h im to  be  say ing ,  

hopefu l l y  the  two  w i l l  be  in  harmony,  bu t  they m igh t  no t  be 

in  harmony.   The po l i t i ca l  p ressure  tha t  you  say he  
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genera l l y  spoke about  tha t  he  was under… 

MR BURGER:    Yes,  Cha i r?  

CHAIRPERSON:    What  was your  unders tand ing  o f  what  he  

was be ing  po l i t i ca l l y  p ressur ised to  do?  

MR BURGER:    Cha i r,  i t  i s  a  w ide  range o f  th ings.  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  i s  what  I  want  to  hear,  what  a re  

those th ings?  

MR BURGER:    Ja .  

CHAIRPERSON:    As  you unders tood them.  

MR BURGER:    Yes.   Th ings l i ke  the  t ransformat ion  o f  the 10 

organ isa t ion ,  the  necess i ty  to  have  deput ies  and fas t - t rack  

the  deput ies  to  sen ior  pos i t ions ,  the  dec is ions  to  on ly  

appo in t  b lack  female  eng ineers  in  a  very  d i f f i cu l t  t ime to 

ge t  exper ienced peop le  and i f  one  argued a  d i f fe ren t  ang le  

to  say we have got  a  p rogramme runn ing ,  i t  i s  good to  do  

80% of  tha t  bu t  le t  us  t ry  and a lso  ge t  exper ience in ,  then 

the  argument  was unders tand the  enormi ty  o f  the  po l i t i ca l  

p ressure .    

So those were  the  more  genera l  t ype –  

unders tandab le  and I  am not  say ing  i t  was incor rec t ,  20 

unders tandab le  p ressures he  was under.   He was –  he  a lso  

comment  fa i r l y  regu lar ly  tha t  the  in te rac t ions tha t  he  had 

w i th  cer ta in  peop le  o f  impor tance,  i f  cer ta in  peop le  v is i ted  

the  organ isa t ion ,  shou ld  be  t rea ted  in  a  very  spec ia l  way  

because o f  the i r  po l i t i ca l  pos i t ion  or  whatever  t he  case 
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may be.    

So i t  was a  w ide  range o f  th ings and in  par t i cu la r  he  

a lso  sa id  the re  are  compan ies  o f  impor tance and w i th  

po l i t i ca l  c lou t  tha t  needs to  be  suppor ted ,  fo r  whatever  

reason tha t  may be.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Do you reca l l  any  peop le  tha t  he  thought  

shou ld  be  t rea ted  in  a  spec ia l  way when they v is i ted  the  

company?  By any chance to  you remember  any names or  

you never  go t  the  names?  

MR BURGER:    Ind iv idua ls?  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  ind iv idua ls .  

MR BURGER:    No,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    No.   But  d id  he  ment ion  or  you have  

fo rgo t ten  o r  he  never  ment ioned? 

MR BURGER:    I  cannot  remember,  i t  i s  s ix  years  ago,  

Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay.  

MR BURGER:    He might  have ment ioned,  he  m ight  have  

ment ioned.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay.   Okay and in  t e rms o f  20 

compan ies  tha t  he  thought  shou ld  be  …[ in tervenes]  

MR BURGER:    Sor ry,  Cha i r,  maybe –  there  was  –  I  can 

remember  there  was a  ca l led  Tub and I  am not  hundred  

percent  –  I  am fa i r l y  su re  i t  was Mr  Sa loo jee  tha t  sa id 

there  was a  company ca l led  Tub and there  was  a  lady  
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owner  o f  tha t  company and he a l so  re fer red  – and I  cannot  

remember  her  name now.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay,  tha t  i s  f ine .  

MR BURGER:    Bu t  he  d id  ment ion  he r  name spec i f i ca l l y  

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    No,  no ,  tha t  i s  f ine .  

MR BURGER:    As  a  ve ry  impor tan t  person.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay.   Wel l ,  i f  you  do remember  l a te r  on  

you can g ive  us  a  supp lementa ry  a f f idav i t .  

MR BURGER:    Wi l l  do ,  Cha i r.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Mr  Kennedy?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you ,  Cha i r.   I  jus t  have one  

top ic  s t i l l  to  ra ise  and tha t  i s  a f te r  Mr  Mlambo aga in  

re fused to  approve the  s ing le  source  supp ly  cont rac t  

re t rospect ive ly.   D id  you then take  the  mat te r  up  w i th  Mr  

Ntshepe,  the  CEO?  How d id  …[ in tervenes]  

MR BURGER:    I  d id  no t  have a  d iscuss ion  w i th  –  I  cannot  

reca l l ,  Cha i r,  whether  I  d id .   My argument  wou ld  no t  have 

been I  th ink  we shou ld  cance l  the  s ing le  source  agreement ,  

I  wou ld  no t  have sa id  tha t .  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    No,  I  am not  ask ing  …[ in tervenes]  

MR BURGER:    Based on the  inputs  g iven by  Mr  Mlambo.   

Whethe r  –  I  m ight  have had a  d iscuss ion  w i th  h im about  h is  

–  I  am pre t ty  su re  I  had a  d i scuss ion  w i th  h im about  h i s  

d iscontent  w i th  the  who le  process,  so  yes.  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:    Bu t  I  am ask ing  who ra ised i t  w i th  Mr  

Ntshepe a t  the  leve l  o f  Group CEO the  fac t  tha t  there  was 

now a  need fo r  a  dec i s ion?  Ear l ie r  you sa id  you be l ieved  

tha t  once Mlambo was re fus ing  to  approve i t  wou ld  be  dea l t  

w i th  h igher  up  bu t  in  fac t  we know tha t  Mr  Ntshepe then 

s igned.   He sa id  approved and then he s igned.  

MR BURGER:    Oh sor ry,  a re  you ta lk ing  about  the  spec i f i c  

T5  cont rac t  tha t  was p laced?   

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I  am ta lk ing  about  the  s ing le  source  

supp ly  agreement .  10 

MR BURGER:    The s ing le  source  supp ly  agreement?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.  

MR BURGER:    No,  I  took  tha t  to  Mr  Sa loo jee ,  Cha i r,  I  d id  

no t  take  tha t  to  Mr  Ntshepe.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    But  –  i f  I  can  jus t  have a  moment ,  

Cha i r?   I f  you  look p lease in  bund le  1 .   Have got  bund le  1 ,  

page 824?  Th is  i s  a  document  we looked a t  ear l ie r.  

MR BURGER:    824.   Ja ,  th is  agreement  was not  the  s ing le  

source  agreement .   Th i s  …[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    D id  you say 824? 20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    824,  yes ,  Cha i r.  

MR BURGER:    Th is  was fo r  a  complex  fab r ica ted  s tee l  

p la te  tha t  was needed fo r  the  T5 demo on the  back o f  the 

s ing le  source  agreement .    

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes bu t  i f  you  look a t  the  second las t  
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parag raph.   We went  th rough th is  i n  some deta i l :  

“Hav ing  ident i f ied  a  need fo r  a  s ing le  source  

supp l ie r  fo r  the  supp ly  o f  s tee l  componen t  

fabr ica t ions in  May 2015 DLS s igned an MOA wi th  

VR Laser  fo r  the  scope o f  work .   VR Laser  i s  a  

hundred percent  b lack-owned ent i t y. ”  

E tce tera .   Next  paragraph:  

“Due to  these cont rad i c t ing  pos i t ions  supp ly  cha in  

approached DLS  Exco to  make  a  dec is ion  as  

whethe r  to  honour  the  MOA and p lace the  order  o f  10 

VR Laser  o r  to  fo l low up the  supp ly  cha in  po l i cy  and 

procure  f rom in te rg roup.   Exco has recommended  

tha t  the  work  be  done by  VR Laser. ”  

So tha t  was g iv ing  work  pursuant  to  the  MOA.  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And the  MOA was the  s ing le  source  –  

s ing le  supp l ie r  ag reement .  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.  

MR BURGER:    Bu t  th is  request  was fo r  the  T5 s tee l  p la te .  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes,  bu t  i t  d id  re f lec t  the  fac t  tha t  the  

MOA had been found by  Ms Malah le la  and la te r  by  Mr  

Mlambo not  to  be  in  compl iance w i th  the  p rocurement  

po l i cy.  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.   Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  
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ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.   So how d id  –  who took the  

mat te r  to  Mr  N tshepe and obta ined h is  s igna ture  as  

approved on the  foo t  o f  page 825? 

MR BURGER:    In  a l l  p robab i l i t y,  Cha i r,  and I  cannot  s ta te 

th is  a  hundred percent  bu t  in  a l l  p robab i l i t y  th is  was 

brought  back to  me by Ms Malah le la  and th is  was  a  very  

urgent  requ i rement  because we had to  go  and do a  demo 

and I  in  a l l  p robab i l i t y  took th is  to  Mr  Ntshepe.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Now Mr  M lambo has tes t i f ied  tha t  

a f te r  he  wro te  what  appears  in  handwr i t ten  fo rm in  the  10 

midd le  o f  page 825 he was e f fec t i ve l y  ignored.   You d id  no t  

come back to  h im,  o ther  execut ives  d id  no t  come back to  

h im,  Mr  Ntshepe  never  came back to  h im,  he  found out  

la te r  th rough the  backdoor,  as  i t  were ,  tha t  Mr  Ntshepe had  

jus t  sommer  approved th is ,  ove r ru led  h im and d id  no t  

engage in  any d i scuss ion  w i th  h im le t  a lone w i th  you and 

w i th  h im.  

MR BURGER:    Yes,  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    You conf i rm tha t  as  fa r  as  your  

unders tand ing  goes.  20 

MR BURGER:    I  cannot  reca l l  hav ing  a  d iscuss ion  w i th  Mr  

Mlambo.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    R igh t .   May I  jus t  have a  moment ,  

Cha i r?   In  fac t  I  am reminded tha t  Mr  Ntshepe h imse l f  gave 

ev idence here .   When he was asked how long i t  wou ld  have  
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taken i f  Mr  Mlambo’s  quest ions  and concerns had been  

addressed and taken ser ious ly,  how long wou ld  i t  have  

taken,  fo r  examp le ,  to  pu t  up  a  proper  bus iness reason.   

He sa id  about  a  day.   Can your  ev idence ser ious ly  be  

cor rec t  tha t  there  was such u rgency to  th is  mat te r  tha t  

needed an immed ia te  dec is ion  by  the  CEO thereby i gnor ing  

the  Group Supp ly  Cha in  Execut ive ’s  concerns?  

MR BURGER:    Cha i r,  i t  i s  imposs ib le  to  ge t  a  quote  on  

someth ing  l i ke  th i s  in  a  day.   I t  i s  no t  poss ib le .   So I  do  no t  

know where  he  got  the  day f rom,  i t  i s  jus t  no t  poss ib le  to  10 

se t  up  and do an  ana lys i s  o f  the  drawings,  i t  i s  a  complex  

drawing.   Other  peop le  take  weeks.   I  cannot  comment  on  

tha t  bu t  one can  argue the  fac t  tha t  Mr  Mlambo shou ld  

have been taken more  ser ious ly  and I  have a l ready  

acknowledged tha t ,  Cha i r ,  I  do  no t  want  to  go  back  on  tha t  

a rgument .   But  I  can on ly  say and I  say  i t  w i th  a  fa i r  

amount  o f  shame,  bu t  I  was conv inced tha t  i t  was the  r igh t  

th ing  to  do  a t  the  t ime,  I  was conv inced tha t  we had an 

agreement ,  I  wanted to  honour  tha t  agreement  and I  was 

push ing  fo r  the  work  to  be  done  there  because I  knew i t  20 

wou ld  come out  to  be  the  cor rec t  conf igu ra t ion .   So,  yes .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Thank you,  Cha i r,  we have no fu r ther  

quest ions.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Thank you.   Mr  Burger,  the  answer  tha t  

you have g iven w i th  regard  –  when you sa id  you  do not  
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know where  …[ in tervenes]  

MR BURGER:    My apo logy,  Cha i r,  I  d id  no t  hear.   My  

answer…? 

CHAIRPERSON:    The answer  tha t  you gave to  Mr  Kennedy  

jus t  now wh ich  invo lved you say ing  you cou ld  no t  ge t  a  

quote  w i th in  a  day.   Remember  tha t  answer?  

MR BURGER:    Yes,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Was tha t  in  re la t ion  to  page 825 where  

Mr  Mlambo made the  handwr i t ten  no te  say ing  DVS and MLT 

(s ic )  must  submi t  p roo f  tha t  they cannot  meet  the  10 

requ i rements  pr i o r  to  the  cont rac t  be ing  awarded to  VR 

Laser  o r  tha t  i s  in  response to  someth ing  e l se?  

MR BURGER:    Yes,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Or  you a re  no t  sure?  

MR BURGER:    No,  Cha i r,  I  am very  su re ,  the 

…[ in tervenes]  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .   In  te rms o f  what  were  you –  was 

tha t  in  the  contex t  o f  tha t  because tha t  quest ion  arose 

because,  as  I  unders tood the  pos i t ion ,  i t  was sa id  tha t  

there  was urgency.  20 

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t ,  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    That  i s  why he –  what  he  requ i red  cou ld  

no t  be  g iven.   I s  tha t  what  you were  ta lk ing  about  because 

I  am not  sure  tha t  tha t  requ i red  quotes  i f  i t  was  in  the  

contex t  o f  th is  handwr i t ten  no te .   A l l  he  wanted was proof  
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tha t  they cannot  meet  the  requ i rements ,  they cannot  do  the  

job ,  I  guess is  what  he  meant ,  as  I  unders tand i t .  

MR BURGER:    Yes,  Cha i r,  when  I  read h is  comment ,  my  

deduct ion  was bo th  the  –  we l l ,  no t  DVS but  LMT fo r  su re ,  

wou ld  in  a l l  p robab i l i t y  want  to  do  the  work .   So they wou ld  

say –  they were  no t  supp ly  p roof ,  I  cannot  meet  the  

requ i rements ,  they wou ld  say le t  me work  ou t  a  quota t ion ,  

le t  me speak to  my eng ineers  how qu ick ly  we can  do tha t ,  

le t  us  see what  the  processes are ,  we w i l l  come back to  

you w i th  an  answer.   That  i s  what  I  read when I  read th is ,  I  10 

d id  no t  expect  LMT to  wr i te  back,  sor ry,  we cannot  make i t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.  

MR BURGER:    Not  –  in  my  mind,  th is  wou ld  have  

pro t rac ted  the  who le  th ing .   I  took  th is  to  Mr  Ntshepe and  

sa id  what  must  we do,  w i th  h i s  background in  market ing  he  

knew about  the  u rgency and . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    How long do you th ink  i t  wou ld  have  

taken f rom your  unders tand ing  o f  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR BURGER:    I  wou ld  guess . . . [ in te rvenes]   

CHAIRPERSON:    A week,  two days?  20 

MR BURGER:    A week I  wou ld  guess.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  a  week wou ldn ’ t  have made any –  a  

week ’s  de lay  wou ldn ’ t  have made a  b ig  d i f fe rence as  I  

unders tand the  pos i t ion .   As  I  unders tand the  pos i t ion  in  

the  scheme o f  tha t  cont rac t  i t  wou ld  –  a  day or  a  week  
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wou ldn ’ t  have made a  b ig  d i f fe rence as  I  unders tand the  

pos i t ion  there .  

MR BURGER:   Sor ry  Cha i r,  no  th i s  has go t  no th ing  to  do  

w i th  Badger  o r  the  Hoefys ter  Programme.   

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes.    

MR BURGER:    Th is  was –  the re  was a  dead l i ne  fo r  a  

demonst ra t ion  in  a  c l ien t ’s  count ry.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja .  

MR BURGER:    And we had to  p repare  a  gun to  –  and  

usua l ly  i n  a  c l ien t ’s  count ry  there  is  a  spec i f i c ,  a  ve ry,  ve ry  10 

spec i f i c  t ime s lo t  when demonst ra t ions or  eva lua t ions,  no t  

demonst ra t ions,  eva lua t ions are  he ld  and i t  i s  usua l l y  to  

summer  tempera ture  and ranges a re  ava i lab le  and the  t ime 

sca le  on  th is  invo ice  i t  i s  c lean to  we had to  s t i l l  bu i ld  the  

gun,  tes t  the  gun and sh ip  the  gun,  so  the re  was rea l l y  

huge d ivers ion  on  th is  spec i f i c  p rogramme.   I f  i t  was 

Hoefys ter  I  accep t  your  a rgument  bu t  th is  was not .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes ,  Mr  Kennedy you must  he lp  me,  

I  may have been misunders tand ing  a t  leas t  you and  I  have  

been there  w i th  a l l  the  w i tnesses.  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Was your  quest ion  in  the  contex t  o f  th is  

no te?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    I t  was.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Because now I  don ’ t  know whether  i t  
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was Mr  Burger  o r  another  p rev ious  w i tness,  my impress ion  

was tha t  rea l l y  i t  wou ldn ’ t  have made much d i f fe rence i f  

there  was a  de lay  o f  a  few days.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    That  i s  my  unders tand ing  Cha i r  and  

tha t  wou ld  have been Mr  Ntshepe.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  bu t  now Mr  Burger  i s  ta l k ing  about  

guns and so  on ,  does tha t  re la te  t o  guns? 

ADV KENNEDY SC:   The demo e lements  in  the  f i rs t  

parag raph do re la te  to  guns as  we unders tand  i t ,  o r  

someth ing  re la ted  to  guns.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  I  mean I  wou ld  have thought  tha t  Mr  

Ntshepe wou ld  have known i f  there  were  good reasons fo r  

u rgency?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes,  and he d iscounted tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Ja ,  he  d iscounted tha t .   D id  you  know,  

Mr  Burger  even w i th  the  -   w i th in  the  contex t  o f  guns tha t  

you are  ta lk ing  about ,  the  tes t ing  o f  guns or  whatever,  do  

you know what  the  dead l ine  was  as  a t  the  t ime o f  th is  

memo,  namely  29  October  2015?   Because i f  you don ’ t  

know the  dead l ine  you –  i f  you  don ’ t  know the  dead l ine  you 20 

might  no t  be  ab le  to  say tha t  the  dead l ine  wou ld  no t  have  

been matched i f  there  was a  de lay  o f  a  week,  bu t  i f  you  

know tha t  the  dead l ine  was w i th in  the  th ree  days a f te r  th is  

then you wou ld  know tha t  you cou ldn ’ t  a f fo rd  tha t  dead l ine  

bu t  do  you know what  the  dead l ine  was? 
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MR BURGER:    Cha i r  I  cannot  –  the  dead l ine  fo r  one th ing  

wasn ’ t  the  u rgency,  there  was say a  month  la te r  o r  I  cannot  

reca l l ,  bu t  there  was a  month  or  two months  la te r  the  gun  

had  to  be ,  we ac tua l l y  d idn ’ t  sh ip  i t  because o f  the  

. . . [ ind is t inc t ] ,  we f lew i t  to  the  count ry  because  o f  the 

urgency so  there  was an ove ra l l  t ime pressure  to  make th is  

happen.   On top  o f  tha t  I  can reca l l  tha t  a f te r  we rece ived  

the  components  and we tes ted  the  gun there  was a  prob lem 

in  the  ammuni t ion  feeder  fo r  th is  gun,  so  then we  had to  

rec t i f y  tha t  and there  were  ex t reme pressures.  10 

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  the  long and shor t  o f  your  ev idence  

in  th is  regard  is  –  I  must  jus t  check w i th  you –  tha t  you  

know tha t  there  were  some t ime pressures.  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t  Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Bu t  you don ’ t  know whethe r  those t ime 

pressures were  such tha t  a  de lay  o f  a  week wou ld  have  

made a  d i f fe rence or  no t ,  tha t  you  don ’ t  know,  o r  do  you? 

MR BURGER:    Cha i r  we a lmost  d idn ’ t  make i t  and the  

reason was not  because o f  the  la te  p lacement  o f  th is  

par t i cu la r  i tem,  what  happened was we rece ived  a l l  the 20 

i tems,  we assembled the  gun,  we  took i t  down to  the  ga te  

to  ge t  i t  tes ted  and i t  d idn ’ t  func t ion  proper ly,  and we had  

to  redo cer ta in  t h ings.   So there  was and i t  a lmos t  d idn ’ t  

work ,  and we a lmost  d idn ’ t  make  the  sh ip  or  the  f l igh t  fo r  

th is ,  bu t  a t  the  t ime you cou ld  have argued but  in  your  
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schedu le  maybe there  is  a  week to  sor t  th is  in  and I  wou ld  

have conceded to  you yes you a re  cor rec t  Cha i r  there  is  

tha t  week,  we cou ld  have done tha t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  yes .  

MR BURGER:    Bu t  in  h inds igh t  in  th is  case i t  d idn ’ t  a f fec t  

tha t  there  was a  funct ion ing  prob lem,  i t  was a  good th ing  

tha t  we d idn ’ t  waste  t ime,  so  –  bu t  I  cannot  say  a  week 

wou ld  have worked or  wou ldn ’ t  have worked,  I  jus t  

remember  very  s t rong ly  the  t ime pressure  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay no tha t ’s  f ine .  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Can I  jus t  ask  your  indu lgence  jus t  to  

ask  a  fo l low up quest ion  jus t  to  t ry  and get  some c la r i t y  on  

the  issue.    Ms  Malah le la  gave  ev idence as  I  reca l l  in  

exp la in ing  the  memorandum tha t  she wro te  a t  page A24,  do  

you have tha t?  

MR BURGER:  Yes.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    A24,  tha t  th is  was spec i f i ca l l y  ask ing  

fo r  approva l  re t rospect ive l y  fo r  the  MOA for  the  s ing le  

supp l ie r  cont rac t ,  and what  she was do ing  in  pa ragraph –  

in  the  f i rs t  paragraph tha t  re fe rs  to  the  T5 demo was  s imp ly  20 

remind ing  Mr  Mlambo tha t  p rev ious ly  he  had g iven 

approva l  fo r  the  T5 demo as she says in  g i v ing  the  

approva l  fo r  the  dev ia t ion  f rom the  normal  p rocurement  

p rocess and l i s t  o f  supp l ies  to  be  used fo r  the  T5 demo the  

Group Supp ly  Cha in  Execut ive ,  tha t  i s  Mr  Mlambo,  gave an  
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ins t ruc t ion  tha t  DLS must  f i rs t  exp lo re  how Dene l  Veh ic le  

Systems . . . [ ind is t inc t ]  ra t io  and LNT in te r -g roup companies  

w i l l  be  used in  the  pro jec t  on  cond i t ion  tha t  they meet  the  

qua l i t y,  then she reminds h im o f  what  appears  in  the  supp ly  

cha in  po l i cy  and then says hav ing  ident i f ied  a  need fo r  a  

s ing le  source  supp l ie r  fo r  the  supp ly  o f  s tee l  components  

in  May 2015 DLS s igned an MOA.  

 So the  f i rs t  paragraph was s imp ly  re fe r r ing  to  a  

h is to r i c  fac t  tha t   had a l ready occur red ,  namely  he  had 

approved prev ious ly  the  spec ia l  p rocurements  by  way o f  a  10 

dev ia t ion  fo r  the  T5 demo but  sub jec t  to  spec i f i c  

cond i t ions ,  t ry  and dea l  w i th  h im  them in -house,  so  she  

was jus t  remind ing  h im o f  h is  approach prev ious l y  wh ich 

sa id  don ’ t  go  ou ts ide  the  group i f  you can go ins ide  the  

group,  and now she is  say ing  a f te r  remind ing  h im  o f  what  

the  supp ly  cha in  po l i cy  says in  tha t  regard  requ i r ing  a  

sound bus iness case to  be  made out ,  she now says there  

has a l ready been an MOA recent ly,  in  May 2015,  f i ve  

months  ear l ie r,  w i th  VR Laser  fo r  the  s ing le  supp l ie r  and 

on the  bas is  o f  what  you have a l ready Mr  Mlambo ra ised in  20 

re la t ion  to  the  ear l ie r  approve fo r  T5  and in  re la t ion  to  

bear ing  in  m ind what  the  procurement  po l i cy  requ i res  may  

we now ask you fo r  approva l ,  we l l  she is  say ing  no t  herse l f  

bu t  Exco has sa id  may we now ask fo r  your  approva l ,  no t  

o f  the  T5 demo cont rac t ,  bu t  o f  p lac ing  orde rs  under  the  
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MOA for  s ing le  supp l ie r,  tha t  i s  my unders tand ing .   Am I  

cor rec t?   

MR BURGER:    Cha i r  I  never  saw i t  l i ke  tha t ,  I  cannot  

reca l l  any  re t rospect ive  request  fo r  approva l  o f  a  s ing le  

source  agreement ,  tha t  I  fac i l i ta ted .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Bu t  Mr  Burger  may I  take  you back to  

the  m inutes  i f  my co l leagues can  jus t  he lp  me w i th  the  

re ference.  

MR BURGER:    Sor ry  Cha i r,  I  remember  about  the  conf l i c t  

be tween the  s ing le  source  agreement  and . . . [ in te rvenes]  10 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.  

MR BURGER;    That  I  remember.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.  

MR BURGER;    And tha t  because o f  tha t  conf l i c t  bu t  my 

unders tand ing  was to  –  there  is  a  conf l i c t  so  p lac ing  an  

order  now there  is  a  conf l i c t ,  can we p lease get  approva l  to  

p lace  the  order.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes,  bu t  tha t  i s  a  conf l i c ted  –  tha t  

re la tes  to  the  MOA or  the  s ing le  source  . . . [ in te rvenes]   

MR BURGER:   Correc t .  20 

ADV KENNEDY SC:    And because how peop le  fo rmula ted  

i t  was the  f ramework  fo r  the  debate  was wh ich  takes 

precedence,  wh ich  t rumps the  o ther,  does the  MOA t rump 

the  procurement  po l i cy  o r  does  the  procurement  po l i cy  

t rump the  MOA,  no t  so?  
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MR BURGER:   Yes,  Cha i r  bu t  in  the  p lacement  o f  a  

spec i f i c  o rde r,  tha t  was my unders tand ing .  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    But  in  the  p lacement  o f  any order  

go ing  fo rward ,  no t  so?  

MR BURGER:   Ja,  I  do  no t  reca l l  th is  as  be ing  a  genera l  

paper  and I  haven ’ t  s tud ied  i t  enough,  I  see i t  now aga in ,  

bu t  yes  because  i t  was a  conf l i c t ,  I  remember  tha t  there  

was conf l i c t  be tween the  MOA and  the  procurement  po l i cy.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes,  i f  I  can  take  you back to  the  

m inutes ,  page 672 in  the  same  bund le .  10 

MR BURGER:   672?  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes.   Under  the  head ing  reso lu t ion ,  

commi t tee  took a  dec is ion  tha t  the  MOU takes precedence  

over  the  GSCE’s  cond i t ion  and the  Group Supp ly  Cha in  

po l i cy.    Now the  cond i t ion  re la ted  to  the  T5  demo 

prev ious l y  no t  so?  That  was h i s  cond i t ion  co r rec t?  

MR BURGER:    Cor rec t  Cha i r.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Yes and the  Group Supp ly  Cha in  

Po l i cy  and the  DLS Supp ly  Cha in  Procedure  and  tha t  i s  

why –  tha t  i s  why Mr  Mlambo was then approached a f te r  20 

th is  reso lu t ion  was taken in  Ms Malah le le ’s  memo so i t  

spec i f i ca l l y  re la ted  to  request ing  approva l  by  the  Group  

Supp ly  Cha in  Execut ive  Mr  Mlambo o f  o rde rs  be ing  p laced  

under  the  MOA s ing le  supp ly  cont ract ,  i s  tha t  r igh t?  

MR BURGER:   I t  i s  cor rec t  Cha i r  bu t  I  thought  th is  was  
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d r i ven by  a  spec i f i c  requ i rement  and not  a  genera l i s t i c  

d iscuss ion .    I  con f i rm to  a l l  o f  th is  bu t  I  jus t  –  I  was under  

the  impress ion  i t  was d r iven a  spec i f i c  requ i rement  wh ich  

is  no t  de f ined.  

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Okay,  thank you very  much,  thank 

you Cha i r,  no  fu r ther  quest ions.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Mr  Crous do you s t i l l  want  to  –  wou ld  

you l i ke  to  re -examine?  

MR CROUS:  Cha i rman I  have no re-examinat ion .  

CHAIRPERSON:   You have no re-examinat ion .  10 

MR CROUS:   No I  don ’ t .  

CHAIRPERSON:    Okay thank you  very  much.   Thank you  

very  much Mr  Burger  fo r  coming  to  g ive  ev idence,  i f  we 

need you to  come back we w i l l  ask  you and I  am sure  you  

w i l l  come back,  bu t  thank you  very  much fo r  ava i l ing  

yourse l f  and you are  now excused.  

MR BURGER:    Thank you Cha i r.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Thank you.     

ADV KENNEDY SC:    Chai r  tha t  i s  a l l  we have fo r  you in  

fo rmal  open sess ion  today,  may we then ask  fo r  the  mat te r  20 

to  s tand down and may I  approach you chambers  jus t  to  

conf i rm ar rangements  in  re la t ion  to  the  two remain ing  

w i tnesses in  the  Dene l  s t ream.  

CHAIRPERSON:    Yes,  okay no  tha t  i s  f ine .   We are  go ing  

to  ad journ  fo r  the  day and tomorrow I  w i l l  be  hear ing  –  th is  
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i s  fo r  the  benef i t  o f  the  pub l i c ,  I  w i l l  be  hear ing  ev idence 

re la t ing  to  OEH,  the  OEH Company,  tha t  ev idence s tar ted  

yesterday,  i t  w i l l  con t inue tomorrow and fo r  the  res t  o f  the 

week.  

 We ad journ .  

REGISTRAR:   Al l  r i se .  

INQUIRY ADJOURNS TO 25 NOVEMBER 2020  

 


